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annual report.

A GOOD RESULT FOR VEIDEKKE IN 2008

Veidekke achieved earnings before tax of 

MNOK 815.6 for 2008, with a profit margin 

of 4.2 per cent.

+The total turnover for the Group was
MNOK 19,395 in 2008, compared
with MNOK 19,336 in 2007. Earnings
before tax were MNOK 815.6 as
against MNOK 1,181.0 in 2007. 
Earnings after tax and minority inter-
ests amounted to MNOK 611.3
(MNOK 989.7 in 2007). Earnings per
share were NOK 4.5 (7.1). Orders-on-
hand for construction operations
totalled BNOK 10.6 at 31 December
2008, as against BNOK 13.3 at the
start of the year. 

GROUP DEVELOPMENTS 

A negative market development
prevailed throughout 2008, and this
was exacerbated by the financial
crisis, the full impact of which was felt
towards the end of the year. The
negative trend started in the second
half of 2007 in Denmark and Norway,
with falling housing sales. During
2008 the decline was further intensi -
fied, and towards the end of the year,
housing sales dropped in Sweden as
well. This delayed the start-up of new
housing projects, which in turn also
affected construc tion activities within
house-building.

In spite of this, Veidekke achieved a
good result for the year 2008. Con-
struction operations as a whole
showed progress throughout the year,
with particularly strong results in
Norway. Increased activity within
private, and especially public, non-
residential building, as well as a boost
in construction operations, did to
some extent compensate for the
slump in the housing market. Other
factors contributing to the growth
were good customer relations,
maintained focus on risk and
continuous work on improvement
processes. The Norwegian con-
struction division’s achievements
through a number of years, have given
us essential competence and
experience which have proved useful
for the Group’s total construction 
operations.

Within property operations, only
Sweden was able to present good
results in 2008. However, the Swedish
market also experienced a consider -
able decline in the sale of housing
units towards the end of the year. In
all three countries, the weak housing
market has caused the start-up of new
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housing projects to come to a near-
complete standstill. Until the market
improves, most of our resources will
be directed towards further develop-
ing Veidekke’s considerable portfolio
of sites, so that projects are ready to
be realised as soon as the market
recovers.

Veidekke’s industrial operations
returned disappointing figures for the
year, and this may primarily be attri b -
uted to negative results within the
area of road maintenance. This is a
relatively new business area in
Norway, which during the first years
of operation, has shown weak
profitability. In 2008, low profitability
in some contracts made it necessary
to make allocations for expected
future losses. 

Asphalt operations achieved a
somewhat higher result for 2008
than the year before. The production
volume was on a level with the
previous year, and the division
maintained its market share.
However, due to the effect of high oil
prices on public budgets, the season
ended at a considerably lower level
than expected. This resulted in a
lower than normal production within
asphalt operations.

MARKET AND COMPETITIVE

SITUATION

In 2008, the international economy
experienced a serious market
decline. The problems in the financial
market escalated throughout the
autumn, and led to high lending
rates, a lack of credit and falling
share prices. This contributed to a
deterioration of the situation in the
Scandinavian building and con-
struction market. In the housing
market, prices of used dwellings
have shown a downward trend
which was exacerbated during the
autumn. The total start-up of new
housing projects has fallen consider -
ably, and is now between 30 and 
40 per cent lower than in 2007.

The market for non-residential build-
ings remained at a satisfactory level
during most of 2008, due to a high
degree of activity within public build-

ing. However, this area also
experienced a marked slowdown in
the number of projects initiated in
the fourth quarter of 2008.
Nevertheless, activities within con-
struction operations have shown a
steady growth throughout all of
2008, especially in Norway and
Sweden. Increased priority on im-
proving roads and railway lines is a
significant reason for this. 

This change in the market is causing
stiffer competition for new projects.
We did not see an increase in the
share of foreign competitors in 2008,
but there is a tendency where more
players within the building segment
are showing an interest in con-
struction contracts.

BUSINESS AREAS

Norway 

Operations in Norway include
Veidekke Entreprenør (construction),
Veidekke Eiendom (property) and
Veidekke Industri (industry). 

2008 proved to be a good year for
Veidekke’s Norwegian operations.
The turnover totalled MNOK 13,997
(MNOK 13,369), giving earnings be-
fore tax of MNOK 726.1 (MNOK
1,204.5).

Construction operations

In 2008, Veidekke’s nation-wide
building and construction operations
had another year of highly satis-
factory financial results and sub-
stantial improvements in the area of
health, safety and the environment
(HSE). 

The division’s turnover for 2008 was
MNOK 10,660 (MNOK 9,855). Earn -
ings before tax were MNOK 707.9
(MNOK 643.0), and this gave an 
operating margin of 6.6 per cent 
(6.5 per cent).

The good results may primarily be
ascribed to a high level of activity
and a generally successful utilisation
of the production resources, as well
as the company’s ongoing improve -
ment process which focuses on
interaction with customers, greater
employee involvement and job satis-

faction, HSE and better project
margins. In this context, we would
particularly like to draw attention to
"We at Veidekke", an improvement
process enabling us to achieve better
project planning and implementation
through employee involvement. 

In the course of 2008, the building
and construction market in Norway
saw a general decline due, among
other things, to the financial crisis. At
the end of the year, the market re-
flected considerable uncertainty and
increasing variations in regions and
markets. The increase in public
demand which accompanies the
government’s fiscal and monetary
policy to combat the recession, is
positive, but will not fully compen -
sate for the deterioration of the
private market. 

Veidekke Entreprenør signed a
number of major contracts with
public and private customers in
2008, including building of the Løren
tunnel and a new junction for public
transport at Økern. Both projects are
located in Oslo and are carried out
for the Public Roads Administration
with a total contract price of approx.
MNOK 860. Other contracts include
the housing project Kanalveien at
Lillestrøm outside Oslo for the Olav
Thon Group, at a contract price of
approx. MNOK 280, building Statens
Hus in Stavanger for Brage
Stavanger AS at approx. MNOK 240,
and a new office building at Forus for
Subsea 7 Eiendom at approx. MNOK
200.

At the end of the year, orders-on-
hand amounted to MNOK 6,579. This
is a reduction of 27 per cent com -
pared with the order backlog the
previous year, which was MNOK
9,030. 

Property development 

The Property Division is engaged in
the development of dwellings for
Veidekke’s own account as well as
non-residential buildings for private
and public enterprises. These oper -
ations are concentrated in and
around the largest towns in Norway.
In 2008, the Property Division
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achieved a turnover of MNOK 632
(MNOK 1,389). Earnings before tax
were MNOK -49.9 (MNOK 431.4). 

The result reflects a difficult housing
market, with a low contribution from
housing sales and reduced margins.
Furthermore, the company’s
shareholding in Hansa Property
Group ASA has been devaluated by
MNOK 93. This write-down must be
seen in light of the sales gain of
MNOK 220 included in the result for
2007, from the sale of properties to
Hansa Property Group ASA. A gain of
MNOK 60 made from the sale of a
non-residential project at Skøyen in
Oslo, has been recorded as income. 

Following several years of high sales
rates in the housing sector, the
activity decreased in the autumn of
2007. Throughout all of 2008, the
demand for new dwellings has been
extremely low. This applies
particularly to flats in apartment
buildings, which is Veidekke’s most
important product in the housing
sector. The consequences of this
have affected the sale of completed
dwellings, the sale in ongoing
projects, and the start-up of new
housing projects. 

In 2008, Veidekke completed 542
(819) dwellings, and started building
28 (273) housing units in 2 (11)
projects. At the end of the year, the
division had 185 (699) dwellings
under construction in 6 (15) projects.
72 (166) dwellings under con-
struction remain unsold. In addition,
110 (96) completed dwellings
remained unsold at the end of the
year spread over 8 projects. Of
these, 69 dwellings are leased at
present. Debt exposure is regarded
as relatively low, and it is anticipated
that this will be reduced by sales in
the coming year. The value of each
site in the portfolio of development
sites was assessed in connection
with the year-end closing of
accounts, and it was not deemed
necessary to perform depreciations.

In the non-residential market, two
projects have been started up,
covering a total of 13 000 m2. These
projects are located in Skien and
Porsgrunn, and have mainly been
leased to public enterprises.

At the end of the year, MNOK 1,929
(MNOK 1,844) was tied up in
property development in Norway. In
Norway, the portfolio of develop -
ment sites constituted 3,300 (3,400)
dwelling units at the end of 2008.
Priority has been assigned to
continuing to develop this portfolio
so that the projects are ready for
sale and construction when demand
picks up in the future. Veidekke will
continue to require at least 50 per
cent advance sales before new
projects are initiated.

Industry

Veidekke’s Industry Division covers
the following business areas:
asphalt, crushed stone and gravel,
road maintenance, demolition/plant
contracting and recycling of 
industrial waste. 

The division’s turnover for 2008 was
MNOK 3,293 (MNOK 2,907). Earn -
ings before tax were MNOK 68.1
(MNOK 130.1). The drop in profit
experienced in 2008 is closely linked
with negative results within the area
of road maintenance, together with
corresponding allocations for future
loss on certain contracts.

In 2008, asphalt operations had a
turnover of MNOK 2,138 (MNOK
1,799), showing healthy growth
compared with the previous year.
The level of activity reflected an early
start to the season, and remained
high for large parts of the year, until
public demand diminished during the
last months of the year. 2008 has
been a year of improvement work in
all parts of the operations, focusing
on employee involvement, pro -
ductivity and HSE. The improvement
process will continue in 2009.

Due to high oil prices throughout all
of 2008, the total production volume
in the Norwegian asphalt market
was reduced by 3 per cent com -
pared with 2007. Kolo Veidekke is
Norway’s largest asphalt contractor,
and achieved a market share of 
approx. 32 per cent, which is at the
same level as the previous year.

Crushed stone and gravel operations
have shown a steady growth in
2008, as well as continued good
profitability. The turnover was MNOK
445 (MNOK 393). The growth may
be attributed to a generally high level
of activity within the building and
construction market, as well as
some minor acquisitions. 

Veidekke is Norway’s second largest
supplier of crushed stone and gravel.
Given the many tasks facing the
country in the road and railway
sectors, the prospects for crushed
stone and gravel operations are
good. However, demand in the
private market is expected to fall
slightly in 2009.

The area of road maintenance com-
prises operation and maintenance of
national and county roads. The turn-
over in 2008 was MNOK 302 (MNOK
308), with a significantly negative
result. This can be explained by poor
profitability in ongoing contracts and
allocations made for expected future
losses. Extensive measures have
been taken to improve results in this
area, focused on strengthening the
organisation, improving calculations
and building competence within 
operation and contract management.

In 2008, recycling operations had a
turnover of MNOK 493 (MNOK 379)
with profitability on par with 2007.
The increase in turnover is a result of
organic growth and some minor
acquisitions. Improvement work
related to customer interaction and
productivity together with new land-
fill requirements from the authori -
ties, provide a sound basis for further
development in the years ahead. 
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Despite an expected drop in demand
in the private building and con-
struction market, the fiscal and
monetary policy presented by the
authorities to combat the recession,
will create increased opportunities
for Veidekke’s industrial operations in
2009.

Sweden 

Veidekke’s activities in Sweden are
based in the three growth areas
around Stockholm, Gothenburg and
Malmö, and include construction
operations and property develop -
ment.

The total turnover for 2008 was
MNOK 3,177 (MNOK 3,165), and 
earnings before tax were MNOK
154.5 (MNOK 108.7). The Property
Division is still showing good
profitability, and all construction
entities achieved growth compared
with the previous year. However, the
level of incoming orders diminished
towards the end of the year due to
the decline in the market, and this
made it necessary to initiate a
capacity adjustment process.

Construction operations

In 2008, Swedish construction oper -
ations had a turnover of MNOK 2,801
(MNOK 2,756), and achieved earn -
ings before tax of MNOK 52.7
(MNOK -4.3). 

The building market experienced a
slowdown during the year, as a
result of the general market decline
and financial unrest. The market
decline impacted the production of
both residential and non-residential
buildings. On the other hand, the
construction market continued to
grow with major infrastructure
projects, especially in the Stockholm
area.

Following a year of loss in 2007, 
operations in the Gothenburg area
are now showing stable growth
within both building and construc t -
ion. However, the housing market
slowed down towards the end of the
year, and this also affected the level
of orders received.

Construction operations in Skåne are
also showing a steady growth and
positive results. Orders received are
at a slightly lower level, but steps
have been taken to adjust the
resources to a weaker market. 

Construction operations in the Stock-
holm area experienced a very
positive development in 2008. The
market improved, the order backlog
increased and the organisation was
strengthened in order to exploit the
opportunities which may emerge. In
2008, the division bought two stone-
crushing plants. This will be essential
for the company’s participation in the
large projects that are expected in
the near future.

Building operations in Stockholm are
also showing a positive development
with improved profit margins. A large
part of the turnover is generated
through ”partnering contracts”
(negotiated contracts) within non-
residential building, and the number
of such projects is expected to
increase. The number of housing
projects for own account and for
external customers has dropped
significantly. 

At the turn of the year, the total
order backlog of Sweden’s con-
struction operations amounted to
MNOK 2,479 (MNOK 2,222). This
increase can mainly be ascribed to
the contract for a large tunnel at
Norra Länken in Stockholm, which
was signed at the beginning of the
year. The Swedish Public Roads 
Administration is the client, and the
contract price is MNOK 994.

Property development

In 2008, the Swedish Property Di-
vision (Veidekke Bostad) had a turn-
over of MNOK 720 (MNOK 768), and
earnings before tax were MNOK
101.8 (MNOK 113.0).

Veidekke Bostad succeeded in mak-
ing several projects ready for con-
struction while the housing market
was at its peak in 2007 and the be-
ginning of 2008. This has resulted in
a large production of dwellings in
2008 and a good result. The newly

established property operations in
Skåne and Gothenburg are gradually
being built up.

In 2006, Veidekke Bostad entered
into a cooperation with the Dutch
property company Bouwfonds
Property Development. The first
major housing project has been
completed with a highly satisfactory
financial result, and more project 
opportunities have already arisen. 

A new entity was established in
2008, for developing projects within
non-residential building. This is a
long-term investment, which will
help strengthen the total Swedish
operations. 

In 2008, Veidekke Bostad completed
501 (307) dwellings, and started
building 32 (562) housing units in 2
(9) projects. At the end of the year,
the Swedish division had 453 (922)
dwellings under construction in 11
(21) projects. 29 (11) dwellings under
construction remain unsold. In
addition, 3 (0) completed dwellings
remained unsold at the end of the
year. 

At the turn of the year, MNOK 284
(MNOK 259) was tied up in property.
The site portfolio comprised a total
of approx. 3,600 housing units.
Building rights were acquired for 700
dwellings. A large number of these
are option-based, which reduces the
need for capital during the develop -
ment period.

Denmark 

Operations in Denmark comprise the
construction company Hoffmann AS
and the property development
company Hoffmann Ejendomme AS.
The turnover totalled MNOK 2,101
(MNOK 2,846), and earnings before
tax were MNOK -19.3 (MNOK -98.5). 

Denmark was the first country to
feel the impact of the market decline
in Scandinavia. House building
activities came to a halt as early as
the end of 2007, and in 2008, the
market for non-residential building
was also hit hard. The construction
market, on the other hand, remains
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at a stable level, and is expected to
rise during the next two years as a
consequence of investments in the
road and railway sectors.

Construction operations

Danish construction operations
succeeded in achieving their goal of
a balanced result in 2008. The turn-
over totalled MNOK 2,073 (MNOK
2,780). Earnings before tax were
MNOK 13.2, compared with MNOK 
-88.1 in 2007. 

Construction operations achieved
good results from all activities on
Funen and Jutland, and from
activities within construction,
renovation and technology on Zea-
land. Production in the projects
which yielded a loss in 2007, has
now been completed within the
expected financial frames. As a
consequence of these problem
projects, a comprehensive im-
provement process has been carried
out, inspired by similar processes in
Veidekke’s Norwegian Construction
Division, Veidekke Entreprenør. This
has led to significantly improved
results towards the end of 2008.

Hoffmann is the Danish industry-
leader in the area of health, safety
and the environment (HSE). In the
course of 2008, their injury rate
dropped from 15 to 9, and sickness
absence is down to 2.3 per cent (3.3
per cent).

Hoffmann signed several new
contracts in 2008, including the
renovation and modernisation of
Glostrup shopping centre for Steen
& Strøm Danmark A/S at MNOK 216,
and the development of the trans-
portation plant at the coal harbour of
the power plant Stigsnæsværket for
DONG Energy at MNOK 181.

At the end of the year, orders-on-
hand amounted to MNOK 1,298. This
is a reduction of 31 per cent as
against the order backlog of MNOK
1,881 for the previous year. 

Property development 

In 2008, Hoffmann Ejendomme AS
had a turnover of MNOK 50 (MNOK
163), and earnings before tax were
MNOK -32.5 (MNOK -10.4). The
result includes a write-down of
MNOK 8 on completed, unsold
dwellings, as well as an allocation of
MNOK 13 related to a possible loss
on a housing project with quality 
issues.

At the turn of the year, MNOK 291
(MNOK 243) was tied up in property.
The site portfolio comprised a total
of 600 housing units.

Hoffmann Ejendomme had no hous-
ing projects under construction at
the turn of the year, but 17 com -
pleted dwellings remained unsold. 

Other activities

Veidekke’s owner role in PPP in-
frastructure projects (Public Private
Partnerships) is entered in the
accounts under “Other activities”.
Veidekke owns 50 per cent of All-
farveg AS, the project company
which was in charge of the E39
Lyngdal-Flekkefjord road project, and
has operational responsibility for the
road until 2031. 

Other activities also comprise our
remaining operations outside
Scandinavia, including Veidekke’s
long-established involvement in East
Africa through Noremco.

MARKET CONDITIONS, RISK AND

UNCERTAINTY 

Market outlook

All three Scandinavian countries will
be largely affected by the real
economy consequences in the wake
of the financial crisis. There is a great
deal of uncertainty attached to the
future prospects of the building and
construction market. This not only
applies to the general financial
development and the effect of the
already implemented, extraordinary
fiscal measures – there is also
uncertainty as to when the credit
and financial market will recover. The
housing market in all the Scandi -
navian countries was weak at the
start of the year, with low demand

and falling prices. The decline in the
housing market is expected to
continue in the first half of 2009, but
there are indications of new growth
in the second half of the year.

In 2009, a decline of around 3 per
cent is expected in the Norwegian
building and construction market as
a whole, with a further decline in
2010. However, growth in the con-
struction and renovation market will,
to some extent, counteract this
effect through an increase of 13 per
cent. In Sweden, we expect a
decline in the building and con-
struction market of 7 per cent, and a
further small decline in 2010. Invest-
ments in residential and non-residen-
tial building reduce the growth, while
construction operations are increas-
ing by a good 10 per cent. The
market recession started earlier in
Denmark. Following a decline of 
5 per cent in 2008, we expect a
further decline of 6 per cent in 2009,
and a virtually unchanged level of
activity in 2010. The housing market
will see the biggest fall.

For Veidekke, prospects for the build-
ing market are negative for 2009 and
parts of 2010, whereas prospects for
construction and asphalt operations
are considerably brighter. 

Risks and opportunities

There was a significant change in the
risk situation in the Scandinavian
building, construction and property
markets during the second half of
2008, due to the general market
decline and growing financial unrest.
The increased risk applies mainly to
the private sectors of the markets,
for instance in terms of lack of
financing for new projects and delays
in the start-up of projects. Public
demand, on the other hand, has
increased due, among other things,
to the fiscal and monetary policy
presented by the authorities to
combat the recession. In 2008, 
approx. 64 per cent of Veidekke’s
turnover was generated by private
customers, and approx. 36 per cent
of the turnover was generated by
public customers.
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As regards Veidekke’s construction
operations, the tighter market
results in more stringent demands to
be selective in the choice of
projects, and to continue to maintain
a strong focus on profitability and
risk management. The Group is
monitoring the order backlog closely,
in order to be able to make any
necessary resource adjustments.

In 2008, property operations as a
whole were characterised by a
slowdown in the initiation of new
projects. Veidekke will uphold its
requirements for advance sales of
dwellings prior to the start-up of
projects. The Group has an extensive
site portfolio. In a period of few
ongoing projects, priority is directed
towards developing the existing site
portfolio by making projects ready
for sale in the event of an upswing in
the market. The value of the portfolio
of development sites was assessed
in connection with the year-end clos-
ing of accounts for 2008. The assess-
ment concluded that it was not
necessary to perform depreciations.
The future value-added development
of the site portfolio will depend on
the development of the property
markets.

The Industry Division is the part of
the Group which has the largest
share of and degree of dependency
on public demand. However, parts of
these operations will also be subject
to a further decrease in demand
from the private sector.

Veidekke has a strong focus on
following the market development,
handling the new risk situation, and
on implementing necessary
measures.

CHALLENGES AHEAD

In view of the uncertainty attached
to the duration of the market decline
and financial crisis, an important
challenge for Veidekke is to retain
focus on maintaining the best pos-
sible financial position and freedom
of action. This freedom of action is to
be used both for further developing
the operations, and for exploiting the
business opportunities which

previous recessions have shown
may emerge at this stage of the
business cycle.

The Board of Directors wishes to
underline the importance of
maintaining focus on margins rather
than volume. This requires thorough
prioritisation in the selection of
projects, and places even higher
demands on assessing the risk 
attached to each project.

Veidekke continues to maintain its
long-term ambitions of continuing to
be a leading player in Scandinavia,
and also be among the most
profitable contractors and property
developers in its markets.

CAPITAL SITUATION 

Investments in 2008 amounted to
MNOK 685 (MNOK 543). Tied-up
capital in property operations totalled
MNOK 2,504 (MNOK 2,346).

Sales of fixed assets amounted to
MNOK 122 (MNOK 73). Net cash
flow from operations was 
MNOK 1,211 (MNOK 1,606). Net 
interest-bearing liabilities stood at
MNOK -260 (MNOK 192). The
Group’s total assets were MNOK
8,966 (MNOK 8,699). Total share -
holder’s equity was MNOK 2,114
(MNOK 2,286), giving an equity ratio
of 23.6 per cent (26.3 per cent).

FINANCIAL RISK

It is Veidekke’s aim to have a strong
financial position. In order to achieve
this, it is important to have good
operational management, low risk
exposure, and a sound management
of the parameters influencing the
financial risk. Financial development
is an integral part of the Group’s
strategy process, and the Group’s
financial policy governs the manage -
ment of financial risk. 

Veidekke is primarily exposed to risk
through financial instruments such
as accounts receivable, liquidity and
interest-bearing liabilities. The risk is
related to credit, market and liquidity
matters. 

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is mainly 
attached to the settlement of the
Group’s accounts receivable. The
Group has a considerable share of
public customers (36 per cent), for
whom the credit risk is considered
very low. For our private customers
(64 per cent), we seek to minimise
the credit risk within the Group’s
various divisions through methods
adapted to the individual character 
of the different business areas.

For construction projects, import -
ance is attached to thorough 
assessments in the tender process,
settlement of work according to pro-
gress, contractual guarantees and
active follow-up of outstanding
claims. 

For the Industry Division, which has
a considerably larger number of 
customers, importance is placed on
procedures for credit rating, timely
invoicing, guarantees and active
follow-up of outstanding claims. 

Within property operations, we seek
to minimise risk through advance
payments and mortgages in
completed dwellings up to the time
of delivery.

Veidekke has historically had low
expenses related to loss on
receivables.

Interest risk 

Due to its low net interest-bearing
position, the interest risk for the
Group as a whole is low. However,
the various divisions are exposed to
interest risk based on their different
financial positions. In some partly-
owned companies, interest
derivatives are used to hedge
against considerable long-term 
interest risk.

When it comes to other financial 
assets, the shareholding in the un -
listed Norwegian property company
Hansa Property Group ASA is the
most significant. At 31 December
2008, this shareholding had a book
value of MNOK 16. The shareholding
is recorded at fair value, and there-
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fore the value depends on the share
price development in this and
comparable companies.

Fluctuations in currency rates have
little direct influence on Veidekke, as
its operations are largely national in
character and the project cash flows
are normally in the same currency.
Any substantial currency risks that
arise, are hedged. Equity invest-
ments in foreign subsidiaries are,
however, not hedged.

Liquidity risk

Veidekke has secured its long-term
financing through borrowing facilities
which expire in 2010, with a right of
renewal until 2012. At the end of
2008, unused committed borrowing
facilities amounted to MNOK 1,273
(MNOK 1,681). The level is well
adjusted to the Group’s strategy and
planned operations for the years
ahead.

The Group also has substantial
borrowing facilities available to it, to
meet its current performance
guarantees for construction projects. 

ORGANISATION 

At 31 December 2008, the Group
had 6,244 employees (6,475) in
Scandinavia. Of these, a total of
3,806 (4,073) were craftsmen and
production workers, and 2,438
(2,402) were officers and admini-
strative personnel.

In Norway, there were 4,623
employees, of which 2,936 were
craftsmen and production workers,
and 1,687 were project officers and
administrative personnel. Sweden
had 1,063 employees, of which 597
were craftsmen and 466 were
project officers and administrative
personnel. In Denmark, the number
of employees was 558, of which 273
were craftsmen and 285 were
project officers and administrative
personnel.

Labour market and attractiveness

There was sharp competition for
manpower in the labour market
during most of 2008. Veidekke has a
good reputation in the labour market
and is regarded as an attractive
employer. This is confirmed by
surveys among various groups of
workers. A total of 550 new
employees were hired during 2008;
295 in Norway, 207 in Sweden and
48 in Denmark.

Due to the market decline and
general economic downturn, it has
been necessary to make staff
reductions in Denmark and Sweden.
So far, lay-offs or dismissals have for
the most part been avoided in
Norway, as the market slowdown in
the first instance has been counter -
acted by reducing the use of sub-
contractors.

Manpower from the EU countries in
Eastern Europe has continued to
play an important role in the labour
markets in all the Scandinavian
countries in 2008, and has made it
possible to maintain a high level of
activity. Veidekke has signed
employment contracts with some
skilled workers, but has mainly made
use of this manpower through sub-
contractors and hire of manpower
from specially selected firms. We set
stringent standards for all our
partners as regards skills, quality and
compliance with our HSE objectives.

The building and construction
industry is traditionally male-
dominated, and the percentage of
women is still low. Therefore,
Veidekke is working actively together
with the trade organisations to at-
tract more women to the industry.

Only approx. 3 per cent of the skilled
workers in Veidekke are women,
whereas the percentage among
salaried employees is approx. 21 per
cent. In Norway, 316 of 1,687
salaried employees are women, i.e.
approx. 19 per cent. In Sweden, the
percentage of women among
salaried employees is approx. 26 per 

cent, and in Denmark approx. 24 per
cent. Among skilled workers, there
are approx. 4 per cent women in the
Norwegian operations, and approx. 
1 per cent in the Swedish oper -
ations, while there are no women
among the skilled workers in
Denmark. 

The Board of Directors emphasises
the active efforts that are being
made at Veidekke to increase
recruitment of women into the
company. This is done, for example,
through measures directed towards
upper secondary schools and
colleges in all three Scandinavian
countries. 

RECRUITMENT

Trainee scheme

In Norway, Veidekke has had its own
trainee scheme for many years, and
all newly qualified chartered
engineers, engineers and econo -
mists in Veidekke participate in this
scheme. The scheme had almost 80
participants in 2008, and our plan is
to maintain the recruitment of newly
qualified personnel to the trainee
scheme, in spite of the general
deterioration of the market situation.
The trainee scheme will most likely
have around 60 participants in 2009.
Similar schemes are also being
developed in Sweden and Denmark.

Apprenticeship scheme 

It is Veidekke’s policy to use its own
craftsmen on its production sites,
and to be a leading company when it
comes to offering apprenticeships.
The apprenticeship scheme is highly
prioritised, and efforts to maintain a
high number of apprentices
continued in 2008. At the end of the
year, Veidekke had 279 apprentices
under contract within building, heavy
construction and asphalt. There are
180 apprentices in Norway, 66 
apprentices in Sweden and 33 in
Denmark. 

On-site learning

Veidekke’s on-site learning project
helps to recruit skilled workers both
to Veidekke and to the industry in 
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general. Through this project,
Veidekke works hand in hand with
the building industry, labour market
authorities and schools to provide
vocational education in close
combination with practical training
on the building site.

Skills and management

development

In Veidekke, more and more
resources are being used to provide
good development programmes for
different groups of employees. A
great number of our skilled workers
have bettered their qualifications
with additional craft certificates. In
addition, considerable efforts are
made to provide all employees
throughout the Group with
continuous development oppor -
tunities and, in spite of the high level
of activity in the industry, 2008 also
saw a high level of course and
development activity. 

Through Veidekke’s in-house training
centre in Norway and corresponding
schemes in Sweden and Denmark,
the employees are offered a broad
range of courses in skills and
management development. These
courses are closely linked with the
company’s business and improve -
ment strategy. In this context, the
Board of Directors would like to
mention that Veidekke Entreprenør in
2008 initiated a new management
development programme for its top
managers.

At corporate level, the most im-
portant programme is Veidekke’s
Scandinavian management
development programme. A total of
155 of the company’s most senior
managers have so far taken part in
this programme, which focuses on
professional and management
development in addition to culture
and network building. Part of this
programme involves carrying out
project tasks that are directly linked
with the company’s strategy.

Veidekke carries out very little
research, but invests heavily in sys-
tematic improvement processes and
the development of operating
methods. Good results have been
achieved particularly within the areas
of concrete technology, production
management and asphalt tech-
nology.

Partnership agreements

Through the Confederation of
Norwegian Enterprise (NHO),
Veidekke is an active supporter of
Young Enterprise Norway. This
project is directed at the school
system, all the way from primary
school up to college and university
level, and aims to stimulate an inter-
est in innovation and science sub-
jects. This, in turn, will help
strengthen Veidekke’s subject areas
and secure the future of the industry
through the establishment of new
enterprises. Veidekke is also involved
in education through partnership
agreements with primary and
secondary schools, which help to
increase knowledge of the con-
struction industry.

Interaction with elected 

representatives

Veidekke ensures employee
participation by maintaining good
relations with elected represen -
tatives in line with the framework
and traditions that apply in the
Scandinavian countries. In Norway,
representatives for craftsmen are
elected in each district and for each
project. A similar scheme is 
established in Sweden, but there is
no corresponding arrangement in
Denmark. In Norway, staff associa-
tions have also been established
with elected representatives from
the entire operation. 

The Group’s EWC (European Works
Council), set up in line with EU
regulations, is a central liaison body
between the management and
employee representatives at
corporate level. In addition to ex-
changing information, the EWC 

discusses issues of strategic
significance for the company. At one
of the two meetings which were
held in 2008, the main topic was im-
provement processes, with special
emphasis on the results of such
processes. At the other meeting, the
discussion was centred on the
challenges we are facing in
connection with the changed market
situation. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In order to be able to look after its
customers’ needs and ensure
project performance and value
creation in the different projects,
Veidekke has a decentralised 
organisation with a large degree 
of local responsibility and authority.
At any one time, activities consist of
more than 1,000 ongoing projects,
normally of 3 to 18 months’ duration.
One of the main aims of the Group’s
management systems is to ensure
control and oversight of these
projects. This is achieved by sys-
tematic project reporting. Reports
are submitted ten times a year and
deal with both financial and non-
financial matters. The profitability and
risk associated with each individual
project are central control para -
meters. 

Veidekke is owned mainly by
financial investors, and indepen -
dence from shareholders is there-
fore not a significant problem. One
exception is OBOS, which holds 27.6
per cent of the company’s shares. To
ensure independence in relation to
OBOS, owner representation and
project cooperation are never
handled by the same persons.
Employees as a group hold 18.0 per
cent of the shares. However, since
no individual employee holds more
than 0.3 per cent of the shares,
there is no independence problem.

See also pages 78 to 81 in this
report.

the board of directors’ report 2008
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CORPORATE SOCIAL 

RESPONSIBILITY

Veidekke’s commitment to social 
responsibility is rooted in its basic
values of being professional, honest,
enthusiastic and ground-breaking.
Veidekke focuses on people as users
of its buildings and structures, and
its goal and driving force in every
process is the creation of value
through partnership. 

To render visible its corporate social
responsibility, a company must be
able to create profitability and, as a
minimum, comply with laws and
regulations. The company must also
have the best possible relationship
with its employees and managers,
hold basic values which are lived up
to and which mean something to its
employees, and be on the best of
terms with its customers, suppliers
and partners.

Corporate social responsibility also
means that Veidekke must be aware
of its duty towards its stakeholders,
and make sure that its actions
contribute towards socially re-
sponsible business operations.
Under its motto: “Creating value
through partnership”, Veidekke will
work continuously to achieve its
ambition of improving cooperation
both internally and externally.
Consideration for social responsi -
bility is incorporated in general
guidelines and in the entities’
management systems under specific
headings such as ethics, stopping
undeclared work, HSE and the
external environment. 

Ethical and social matters 

Great emphasis is placed on ethical
matters, in line with Veidekke’s basic
values. Ethical guidelines have been
drawn up and are implemented
throughout the organisation with the
help of discussions and dilemma
training in the company’s different
fora. In 2008, efforts have been
made to complete a web-based 
program for dilemma training, which
enables individual employees or
groups to practice on problems that
are relevant to the company. In the
course of 2009, the Internet portal

Veidekkehuset.no/se/dk will be 
launched in all divisions. Veidekke
also has a program which provides
employees with training in
compliance with competition law.

An important part of the company’s
ethical foundation is to ensure the
best possible working conditions
throughout the organisation.
Veidekke has developed rules and
measures to prevent the use of
illegal labour in its own workplaces.
To this end, registration is carried out
at project level, and identity cards
giving access to projects were
introduced in 2008. 

Veidekke has committed itself to
safeguarding its employees’ profes-
sional and social rights wherever it
has operations. The international
framework agreement between the
Norwegian United Federation of
Trade Unions, the Norwegian Union
of General Workers and the
International Federation of Building
and Wood Workers is based on the
rights laid down in the UN
Declaration on Human Rights, the
ILO Declaration on Fundamental
Principles and Rights at Work and
the OECD Guidelines for
Multinational Enterprises.

Health, safety and the environment

Injuries

In 2008, Veidekke achieved an injury
rate (number of lost-time injuries per
million hours worked) of 4.5 (7.0). 

Veidekke has a systematic approach
to HSE work, and we are pleased to
see a reduction in the injury rate in
all three countries. In Norwegian
operations, the injury rate was 2.9
(4.9), in Sweden it ended up at 7.8
(9.5), and in the Danish operations, 
it was 9.2 (15.3).

Work is being done continuously to
register all near-accidents and
undesirable incidents with a view to
stopping them before they con-
stitute a serious risk. Experience
shows that a strong focus on
reporting and handling undesirable
incidents will help to increase safety
in the workplace. 

Sickness absence

Prevention of sickness absence has
a high priority throughout the Group.
In 2008, sickness absence was
reduced in Sweden and Denmark,
whereas it remained at a relatively
stable level in Norway.

For skilled workers in Norwegian
operations, sickness absence was
6.8 per cent in 2008. In Sweden and
Denmark it was 3.9 per cent and 3.1
per cent, respectively. The corres-
ponding figures for 2007 were 6.4
per cent, 4.5 per cent and 5.1 per
cent. Sickness absence for all
employees in Norway ended up at
5.3 per cent, as against 5.2 per cent
in 2007. In Sweden, sickness
absence for all employees was 2.8
per cent, compared with 3.3 per
cent the previous year, and in the
Danish operations, the sickness
absence for all employees was 2.2
per cent as against 3.3 per cent at
the end of 2007. 

The environment 

It is Veidekke’s ambition to be a lead-
ing player in our industry when it
comes to reducing CO

2 emissions
and taking care of the environment.
Concern for the environment shall
form an integral part of all our ope-
rations, and consideration for the
environment is shown at all stages
of our projects – from planning,
designing and production through
management, operation and
maintenance to demolition,
segregation and recycling. Concern
for the environment is incorporated
in the entities’ management sys-
tems. 

Most of the impact on the
environment is related to energy
use, waste, noise, the use of health
and environmentally hazardous sub-
stances, materials and natural
resources, and to biological diversity.
Veidekke works continuously to
minimise the impact of its oper -
ations on the external environment.
This is done through teamwork and
transfer of experience within the
Group, and through interaction with
external players. 
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In Norway, Veidekke Entreprenør
works actively to reduce the use of
products which contain substances
that are listed as hazardous and have
certain properties such as being
carcinogenic, detrimental to fertility,
a cause of hereditary damage, foetal
damage or damage to the ozone
layer, or are a source of undesirable,
long-term effects on aquatic or-
ganisms. Environmental require-
ments have been included in
contracts with subcontractors, and
substitution seminars and several
dialogue meetings have been 
arranged. The dialogue meetings
have been carried out one-on-one, 
or with several contractors in a
group, as in the case of suppliers 
of building materials and concrete
manufacturers. 

Veidekke has been engaged in the
battle against climate change
through a partnership including 14
leading Norwegian companies. This
partnership, KlimaGevinst 2020, has
worked to enable the Norwegian
business sector to play a more
prominent role in national and
international efforts to create a low-
emission society. The cooperation
was formally ended in January 2009,
with a press seminar where the
results of these efforts where
presented in the KlimaGevinst
report. Veidekke has also become
involved in Klimaveien. This is a joint
campaign for organisations asso-
 ci ated with road transport and
environmental efforts in Norway,
who wish, in collaboration with the
Norwegian authorities, to mobilise 
a community effort to reduce CO2

emissions from road traffic by 
1 million tonnes or 10 per cent by
the end of 2009. Kolo Veidekke has
initiated a number of measures to
ensure compliance with this.

Veidekke reported to the Carbon
Disclosure Project (CDP) for the year
2007 (CDP6), and will do so for
2008. CDP is a non-profit organi-
sation which was established to give
investors a factual foundation on
which to base their assessment of
how the largest companies in the
world are handling the climate

challenge. The aim is to create a
constructive dialogue between in-
vestors and companies, supported
by high quality data.

SHAREHOLDERS AND STOCK

MARKET 

Veidekke’s shareholders numbered
6,571 at the end of 2008 (5,592).
Veidekke’s largest shareholders were
OBOS (27.6 per cent), IF Skade -
försäkring AB (8.6 per cent) and
Folketrygdfondet (8.1 per cent). 
Foreign investors hold 20.7 per cent
of the shares.

Trading of Veidekke shares on the
Oslo Stock Exchange was good in
2008, with 71.2 million shares traded
(50.8 per cent turnover rate) and
35,507 trades of shares in the
course of the year. The share price
varied between NOK 17.0 at the
lowest and NOK 53.8 at the highest.
Return including dividend was -52
per cent.

Share issues to employees

Another issue of shares to
employees was effected in 2008, in
line with Veidekke’s strategy to
strengthen ties with its employees
through shares in the company. In
May, 393 persons took advantage of
this offer, which was then presented
to key personnel, and purchased
shares at a price of NOK 35 and
NOK 30.50. These prices corres-
ponded to a discount on the market
price during the subscription period
of 20 per cent and 30 per cent, re-
spectively. The share purchases were
subject to a lock-in period of three
years. In November, all employees
were invited to purchase between
50 and 3,000 shares at a price of
NOK 13.95. This was a 20 per cent
discount (two-year lock-in period) on
the market price during the sub-
scription period. The share issue was
very popular, and a total of 2,118
employees subscribed for shares. 

At the end of the year, a total of
2,898 employees held 18 per cent of
the shares in the company. This
shows that the employees believe 
in the future development of the
company and in Veidekke shares.

Share buyback

The Board of Directors was
authorised by the company’s Annual
General Meeting on 7 May 2008 to
repurchase just under 10 per cent of
Veidekke’s own shares. This share
buyback programme is effective until
the next Annual General Meeting or
until 31 May at the latest. In the
course of 2008, the company made
periodic purchases of shares and by
the end of the year, 2.3 million
shares, or 1.7 per cent of outstand-
ing shares, had been repurchased.
The General Annual Meeting in May
2009 will propose to cancel these
shares.

Share buyback will be continuously
considered throughout 2009, as a
step in the process of ensuring an
optimal financial structure for the
Group.

The parent company Veidekke ASA

The primary task of the parent
company Veidekke ASA is to exercise
ownership over the operative entities
of the Group. The company has 38
employees, of whom 15 are women. 

Veidekke ASA performs a number of
Group functions for its Group
companies, including services such
as financial management, operation
and maintenance of IT systems,
handling of the Group’s insurance 
arrangements, performing HSE
functions and providing legal
expertise. Veidekke ASA invoices
each of the subsidiaries for these
services, and the payments are
included in the company’s operating
revenues.

Veidekke ASA’s accounts are
prepared in compliance with NGAAP
(Norwegian accounting rules). 

The company’s operating profit
amounted to MNOK -40.3, which is
somewhat lower than the previous
year, but still according to plan.
Dividends and group contributions
from subsidiaries totalled MNOK 893
(MNOK 777).

the board of directors’ report 2008
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Oslo, 2 April 2009
VEIDEKKE ASA

Board of Directors

Steinar Krogstad

Martin Mæland Hilde Merete Aasheim

Göte Dahlin
Chairman of the Board

Kari Gjesteby Jette Wigand Knudsen

Eiliv Staalesen

Peder Chr. Løvenskiold

Inge Ramsdal

Terje R. Venold
President and CEO

Dividend

For the financial year 2008, the
Board of Directors propose a
dividend of NOK 2.50 per share,
totalling MNOK 334. Veidekke’s
future dividend policy will not be
affected by any repurchases of
shares, and dividends will continue
to constitute at least 50 per cent of
earnings per share. For more infor-
mation, the Board of Directors refers
to the company’s dividend policy,
which is described under
Shareholder Information.

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT FOR

THE YEAR

The financial statements for the
parent company, Veidekke ASA,
show a profit of MNOK 654.4
(MNOK 719.5). The Board of
Directors will propose to the Annual
General Meeting on 7 May 2009,
that the profit be distributed as
follows:

MNOK
Allocated to dividend 334.3
Transferred to other equity 320.1
Profit for the year 654.4

The parent company’s distributable
reserves amount to 795 MNOK.

Continued operations

With reference to Section 3-3 in the
Accounting Act, the Board of
Directors confirms that the company
has a basis for continued operations.
The going concern assumption has
therefore been applied in preparing
the financial statements for 2008.
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profit and loss account Veidekke group.

(Figures in MNOK) Note 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 1, 2, 6, 32, 34 19 395.3 19 335.9 16 442.3 

Subcontractors -8 389.2 -8 350.2 -7 286.4 
Cost of materials -4 485.7 -4 971.3 -3 915.6 
Wages 3, 4, 21, 31 -4 124.7 -3 830.6 -3 306.5 
Other operating expenses -1 303.5 -1 067.7 -1 000.2 
Depreciation of goodwill 8 -4.2 - - 
Depreciation 10 -291.8 -233.6 -221.4 

Total operating expenses -18 599.1 -18 453.4 -15 730.1 

Operating profit 796.2 882.5 712.2 

Result from investment in associated  
companies and joint ventures 12, 34 123.3 325.8 206.9 

Financial income 5, 30 112.2 80.4 74.9 
Financial expenses 5, 30 -216.1 -107.7 -71.1 

Earnings before tax 815.6 1 181.0 922.9 

Income tax expense 22 -200.1 -179.9 -200.1 

Profit for the year 615.5 1 001.1 722.8 

Profit for the year attributable to

Majority interests’ share 611.3 989.7 708.3 
Minority interests’ share 4.2 11.4 14.5 

Total 615.5 1 001.1 722.8 

Earnings per share (NOK) (ordinary/diluted) 7 4.5 7.1 5.0 
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balance sheet Veidekke group.

(Figures in MNOK) Note 2008 2007 2006

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Goodwill 8, 11 556.6 504.2 510.4 
Other intangible assets 9 26.8 - - 
Property 10 576.4 495.2 423.4 
Machinery etc. 10 1 200.0 927.3 740.6 
Investments in associated companies and joint ventures  12 672.6 427.7 344.0 
Deferred tax assets 22 35.9 45.6 21.1 
Financial assets 14 303.2 405.4 240.7 
Total non-current assets 3 371.5 2 805.4 2 280.2 

Current assets

Non-residential projects 15 269.9 73.6 78.0 
Residential projects 16 1 481.4 1 297.0 912.8 
Stocks 17 322.5 273.1 272.0 
Accounts receivable 18 2 846.7 3 743.1 4 244.5 
Other receivables 319.6 234.7 193.2 
Liquid assets 19 354.0 272.4 330.6 
Total current assets 5 594.1 5 893.9 6 031.1 

Total assets 8 965.6 8 699.3 8 311.3 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 20 68.0 70.1 71.5 
Other equity 2 021.0 2 182.3 1 676.4 
Minority interests 11 24.9 33.5 29.8 
Total equity 2 113.9 2 285.9 1 777.7 

Long-term liabilities

Pension liability 21 252.8 259.8 256.7 
Deferred tax  22 87.7 214.9 128.3 
Long-term debts to credit institutions 23 884.4 457.9 716.9 
Other long-term liabilities 23 114.7 110.8 138.7 
Total long-term liabilities 1 339.6 1 043.4 1 240.6 

Short-term liabilities

Debts to credit institutions 24 0.4 163.2 331.2 
Creditors 25 2 535.5 3 030.6 2 866.7 
Unpaid government charges 425.6 422.7 335.4 
Guarantee funds etc. 26 964.3 620.8 563.4 
Payable tax 22 290.1 152.5 134.9 
Other short-term liabilities 25 1 296.2 980.2 1 061.4 
Total short-term liabilities 5 512.1 5 370.0 5 293.0 

Total equity and liabilities 8 965.6 8 699.3 8 311.3 

at 31 December
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statement of changes in equity Veidekke group.

Majority

Nom. Other Currency Other Fair value
Share value own fully paid conversion revenue adjust-

(Figures in MNOK) Note capital share shares* differences reserves ments** Total Minority Total

Equity at 1 January 2006 71.5 304.8 -38.7 1 147.0 -67.6 1 417.0 53.4 1 470.4

Profit for the year 708.3 708.3 14.5 722.8
Currency conversion differences 16.2 16.2 16.2
IFRS 39 - hedging PPP 30 14.8 14.8 14.8
IFRS 39 – hedging taken to profit/loss 30 -9.4 9.4 - -
Total transactions reported  
directly to equity 16.2 698.9 24.2 739.3 14.5 753.8

IFRS 2 – Share-based 
transactions employees 4 -26.0 -26.0 -26.0
Addition minority interests - 0.8 0.8
Redemption minority interests 11 - -35.5 -35.5
Purchases own shares -1.1 -95.2 -96.3 -96.3
Dividend 20 -286.1 -286.1 -3.4 -289.5
Equity at 31 December 2006 71.5 -1.1 304.8 -22.5 1 438.6 -43.4 1 747.9 29.8 1 777.7

Equity at 1 January 2007 71.5 -1.1 304.8 -22.5 1 438.6 -43.4 1 747.9 29.8 1 777.7

Profit for the year 989.7 989.7 11.4 1 001.1
Currency conversion differences -31.1 -31.1 -31.1
IFRS 39 - hedging PPP 30 29.2 29.2 29.2
IFRS 39 – hedging taken to profit/loss 30 -4.0 4.0 - -
Total transactions reported  
directly to equity -31.1 985.7 33.2 987.8 11.4 999.2

Cancellation of own shares 20 -1.4 1.4 - -
IFRS 2 – Share-based  
transactions employees 4 -27.6 -27.6 -27.6
Addition minority interests - 1.6 1.6
Purchases own shares 20 -0.9 -90.4 -91.3 -91.3
Dividend 20 -364.4 -364.4 -9.3 -373.7
Equity at 31 December 2007 70.1 -0.6 304.8 -53.6 1 941.9 -10.2 2 252.4 33.5 2 285.9

Equity at 1 January 2008 70.1 -0.6 304.8 -53.6 1 941.9 -10.2 2 252.4 33.5 2 285.9

Profit for the year 7 611.3 611.3 4.2 615.5
Currency conversion differences 75.6 75.6 75.6
IFRS 39 - hedging PPP 30 -39.8 -39.8 -39.8
IFRS 39 – hedging taken to profit/loss 30 0.7 -0.7 - -
Total transactions reported 
directly to equity 75.6 612 -40.5 647 4.2 651.3

Cancellation of own shares 20 -2.1 2.1 - -
IFRS 2 – Share-based 
transactions employees 4 -28.5 -28.5 -28.5
Change minority interests 1.5 1.5 -4.4 -2.9
Other changes previous acquisitions -5.3 -5.3 -5.3
Purchases own shares 20 -2.6 -231.8 -234.4 -234.4
Dividend 20 -543.8 -543.8 -8.4 -552.2
Equity at 31 December 2008 68.0 -1.1 304.8 22.0 1 746.0 -50.7 2 089.0 24.9 2 113.9

*    Fully paid capital over and above nominal value of shares.
**  Adjustment in value of shares available for sale and hedging instruments that are reported as hedging.
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cash flow statement Veidekke group.

(Figures in MNOK) Note 2008 2007 2006

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Earnings before tax 815.6 1 181.0 922.9 
Net interest items 5 7.2 36.8 17.1 
Tax paid 22 -176.5 -100.2 -77.0 
Depreciation and write-downs 8, 10 296.0 233.6 221.4 
Gains on sales of property, machinery etc. 2 -29.8 -25.1 -21.0 
Gains on sale of company 11 -27.3 - - 
Share-based transactions entered against equity 4, 22 -38.4 -43.9 -26.0 
Profit and loss items without cash flow effect 1 352.9 55.1 -99.5 
Generated from this year’s activities 1 199.7 1 337.3 937.9 

Change in non-residential and residential projects -574.1 -376.4 -296.6 
Change in accounts receivable 18 901.2 508.7 -1 122.9 
Change in other current assets -132.9 -39.2 -115.4 
Change in creditors etc. 25 -501.2 156.1 627.6 
Change in other operating debt 320.8 19.1 307.5 
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 1 213.5 1 605.6 338.1 

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Purchase of tangible non-current assets 8, 9,10 -713.7 -542.7 -394.5 
Sales of tangible non-current assets 10 122.4 72.5 152.1 
Purchase of subsidiaries 11 -48.8 -13.8 -42.3 
Purchase of other companies 11 -31.7 -149.5 - 
Sales of shares 11 45.6 - - 
Interest received 5 64.2 52.4 23.1 
Change in other investments 13.6 -64.3 -61.5 
Net cash flow from investment activities (B) -548.4 -645.4 -323.1 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New long-term borrowing 23 847.5 49.9 397.9 
Repayment long-term debts 23 -421.5 -336.8 -12.4 
New short-term borrowing 0.4 - 169.4 
Repayment short-term debts 24 -163.2 -168.0 -152.1 
Interest paid 5 -71.4 -89.2 -40.2 
Payment to minority interests -11.2 -7.8 -15.8 
Dividend paid 20 -543.8 -364.4 -286.1 
Buy-back own shares 20 -234.4 -91.2 -96.8 
Net cash flow from financing activities (C) -597.6 -1 007.5 -36.1 

TOTAL NET CHANGE IN LIQUID ASSETS (A+B+C) 67.5 -47.3 -21.1 

Liquid assets at 1 January 19 272.4 330.6 344.8 
Exchange rate adjustment foreign liquid reserves 14.1 -10.9 6.9 
Liquid assets at 31 December 354.0 272.4 330.6 

- - - 
Supplementary information:

Long-term borrowing facilities DnB NOR 29, 30 2 100.0 2 100.0 2 100.0 
Used committed borrowing facilities at 31 December 827.1 418.7 824.7 
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accounting policies for  Veidekke group.

INTRODUCTION

Veidekke

Veidekke is a Scandinavian contractor
and property developer, with
corporate headquarters in Oslo. We
are the leading company in our field in
Norway and among the largest in
Denmark, and we have extensive
operations in Sweden’s central
regions. Veidekke is listed on the Oslo
Stock Exchange. Further details
regarding Veidekke’s operations are
given in the annual report. The
consoli da ted accounts were approved
by the Board of Directors on 2 April
2009.

Statement of financial framework

The consolidated accounts have been
prepared in accordance with EU 
approved International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
appurtenant Interpretations as of 31
December 2008, together with the
additional informational requirements
following the Norwegian Accounting
Act, as of 31 December 2008. 
Only standards that have entered into
force for accounts closed on 31
December 2008 have been applied. 

Historical costs

The consolidated accounts have been
prepared on a historical cost basis,
with the exception of financial instru-
ments and investments available for
sale which are entered at fair value,
and loans, receivables and other
financial obligations which are
recorded at amortised cost. Pensions
are entered in accordance with 
IAS 19.  

Implementation of new financial

reporting standards and

interpretations

The applied standards are consistent
with the standards that have been
used in previous years.

In 2008, the Group applied a new
IFRIC interpretation. IFRIC 11 – Group
and Treasury Share Transactions. 

IFRIC 11 provides guidance on apply -
ing IFRS 2 to share-based payment
transactions in which the company’s
own equity instruments are to be
used. This interpretation has no effect
on the Group’s share programme, in
which the employees are invited to
purchase shares at a discount price.

The application of the interpretation
has had no effect on the consolidated
profit and loss account. 

Material accounting assessments,

estimates and assumptions

Veidekke’s operations consist mainly
of construction work for the client’s
account and building of residential
and non-residential buildings for sale
for its own account, i.e. execution of
projects. For its projects, Veidekke 
applies continuous income reporting
(percentage of completion method)
based on the anticipated final profit
(final prognosis) and degree of
completion. This means that income
is entered in step with the execution
of the work. 

Continuous income reporting entails
some uncertainty, since it is based on
estimates and assessments. For
projects under construction, the
uncertainty is attached to progress of
ongoing work, disputes, final
prognosis, etc. The final profit may
therefore differ from the anticipated
profit. For completed projects, the
uncertainty is linked with hidden
deficiencies, including guarantee
work, and the outcome of possible
disputes with the client. 

Other items that are affected by es-
timates are assumed service life of
operating equipment, depreciation
evaluation of goodwill, actuarial as-
sumptions of pensions and the use of
deferred tax assets. In addition, es-
timates are made for the evaluation
of the fair value of unsold dwellings
and sites.

Reference is made to the following
notes which describe areas
characterised by significant 
estimation uncertainty:

• Note 8 Goodwill 
• Note 14 Financial assets 
• Note 15 Non-residential projects
• Note 16 Residential projects 
• Note 18 Accounts receivable 
• Note 21 Pension commitments
• Note 25 Creditors 
• Note 26 Guarantee allocation 

CONSOLIDATION

Consolidated accounts

The consolidated accounts include
Veidekke ASA (parent company) and
all of its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are
defined as companies in which the
Group has a controlling interest. A
controlling interest is normally
achieved when the Group owns more
than 50 per cent of the shares in the
company, and is also in a position to
exercise control over the company.
Groups can be formed by establishing
new companies, by purchasing
companies or through mergers. Sub-
sidiaries are consolidated in the
accounts when a controlling interest
is achieved and until it ceases. This
also applies to joint ventures and 
associated companies.

The consolidated accounts show the
Group’s profit and financial position as
one legal entity and they are a collec -
tive statement of all the companies in
the Group. The companies’ accounts
are consolidated line by line. The
consolidated accounts are drawn up
in accordance with uniform accoun -
ting standards. Associated companies
and joint ventures are also incorpor -
ated in the consolidated accounts
using the equity method of account -
ing. Participation in working partner-
ships is entered in the accounts
according to the gross method, i.e.
proportional consolida tion.
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Partly-owned subsidiaries are
incorporated in the consolidated
accounts in their entirety. The
minority share of the subsidiary’s
equity constitutes part of the Group
equity. The minority share of the profit
is included in the consolidated profit
for the year. The minority share of the
profit and equity are specified as
separate items in the accounts. When
purchasing a subsidiary with minority
interests, 100 per cent of identifiable
assets and liabilities are entered in
the consolidated balance sheet, but
only the majority share of goodwill is
entered. When part of a subsidiary is
sold and more than 50 per cent of the
shares are retained, no gain is
entered in the profit and loss account. 

When Veidekke buys out the minority
interests in a subsidiary, goodwill
relating to the transaction is identified
and entered in the balance sheet. The
rest of the purchase price is entered
against equity. An amount corres-
ponding to book minority interests is
entered against this item, while the
excess value of identifiable assets is
entered against the majority’s equity. 

A subsidiary for which Veidekke has
an agreement entailing a right and
obligation to purchase the remaining
shares, is recognised in the accounts
as a wholly-owned subsidiary. The 
estimated purchase price is then
entered under long-term liabilities,
while 100 per cent of goodwill on pur-
chase is entered as an asset. No
minority interest is recognised for
these companies.

All intra-Group transactions and
balances are eliminated in the
consolidated accounts. This applies in
the first place to shares in sub-
sidiaries, which are eliminated against
equity and assets (excess values at
time of purchase). It also applies to
intra-Group trading, interest,
dividends as well as receivables and
liabilities. Furthermore, intra-Group
profit and unrealised gains and losses
are eliminated. Intra-Group transac -
tions are also eliminated when using
the gross method of account ing, but
a proportionate share is then
eliminated. 

All financial information in accounts
and notes are rounded to the nearest
thousand.

Business combinations

Business combinations are achieved
through purchases of company oper -
ations, purchases of companies and
mergers. They are entered in the
accounts according to the purchase
method. Under this method of
accounting, original cost is assigned
to identifiable assets and liabilities
and entered in the consolidated
balance sheet at fair value. This
means that the excess value at time
of purchase is assigned to the items
to which the excess value relates. The
excess value is equal to the original
cost less the equity in the company.
Identifiable assets also include
intangible assets, such as patents,
licences, trademarks, logos, cus-
tomer portfolios, order backlog, etc.  

Excess values over and above iden-
tifiable assets and liabilities constitute
goodwill. Goodwill includes syn-
ergies, organisation, know-how,
market position, etc. Only purchased
good will is entered in the balance
sheet. Negative goodwill at time of
purchase is entered in the profit and
loss account immediately. For iden-
tifiable excess values, provision is
made for deferred tax, while no pro-
vision is made for deferred tax in the
case of goodwill. Tangible excess
values are depreciated in the ordinary
way, while goodwill and intangible as-
sets with an indeterminable lifespan
are tested annually for impairment. 

When companies are purchased
within property operations, an as-
sessment is made to determine
whether this is purchase of oper -
ations or purchase of property (site).
For purchases of property no goodwill
or deferred tax is identified at the
time of purchase. Such purchases are
not regarded as an investment
activity, but rather as an ordinary ope-
rational activity, also in the context of
cash flow statements. 

For purchases of companies before 
1 January 2003, the recognised
goodwill consists of the amount
entered in the balance sheet at 
1 January 2004. 

Associated companies

Veidekke has investments in asso -
ciated companies. Associated
companies are companies in which
the investing company can exercise
significant influence over financial and
operating policies, but which are not
subsidiaries or joint ventures. Con -
siderable influence will normally
mean that the investing company
holds more than 20 per cent of the
shares in the company. Veidekke uses
the equity method of accounting for
associated companies. The accounts
of associated companies are adapted
to IFRS before they are incorporated
in Veidekke’s consolidated accounts.

Joint ventures

Veidekke is also engaged in oper -
ations with other enterprises, so-
called joint ventures. Some of these
operations are managed through
separate legal entities, which may be
limited companies or general
partnerships. Joint venture
companies are mostly used in
property development, and also for
investment in PPP companies and
construction operations. In joint
venture companies, joint control of
the company is governed by an
agreement. Joint control means
unanimity among the participants on
important decisions. Veidekke uses
the equity method of accounting for
joint venture companies.

The equity method of accounting

Under the equity method, invest-
ments are valued as the share of
equity in the enterprise, and the
share of the profit is entered as
income (earnings after tax). When
part of a company is purchased, the
investment is reported at original
cost, i.e. the share of the equity plus
excess value at the time of the pur-
chase, including goodwill. The share
of the profit and investment are
specified in the profit and loss
account and balance sheet, while the
subordinated loan is presented as
part of the investment. Profit less dis-
tributions is added to the investment
in the balance sheet. When calcul -
ating the share of the profit, depreci -
ation of tangible excess values at
time of purchase and internal gains
are taken into account. Negative
equity in the company is entered in
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the balance sheet only when there is
liability to cover the loss.

Working partnerships

Veidekke also runs operations along
with other enterprises through work-
ing partnerships. A working partner-
ship is a cooperation between two or
more participants who undertake a
construction project together, and
when they share the risk in the
project (profit and loss). Separate
accounts are kept for working
partnerships. Working partnerships
constitute part of Veidekke’s ordinary
activities, and the company takes an
active part in the management of
these entities. A working partnership
is a joint venture, and its activities are
regarded as joint venture operations.
This means that operations are
controlled jointly by the participants,
as laid down by agreement. This
requires unanimity on important
decisions. 

Veidekke uses the gross method of
accounting (proportional consolida -
tion) for working partnerships, since a
working partnership is not a separate
legal entity. With the gross method,
each participant includes its share of
the partnership’s accounts, and each
line in the profit and loss account and
balance sheet is incorporated. 

Conversion of foreign companies

The Group presents its financial state-
ments in Norwegian kroner. This is
also the functional currency of the
parent company and its Norwegian
subsidiaries. The accounts of foreign
companies with a different functional
currency are converted as follows:

• Assets and liabilities are converted 
at the exchange rate on the balance
sheet date.

• Profit and loss account items are 
converted at the transaction rate. 

• Conversion differences are entered 
against equity until disposal of the 
foreign entity.

Profit and loss accounts are
converted at the average rate of ex-
change for a period, normally a
month. Excess value at time of pur-

chase is regarded as part of the 
foreign entity and is treated as an
item in foreign currency. Conversion
differences are entered against equity
as they arise. In the case of whole or
partial disposal of a foreign entity, the
accumulated conversion differences
are entered in the profit and loss
account. Sale and liquidation of a
company, repayment of capital etc.
count as disposal. At the time of 
transition to IFRS on 1 January 2004,
all conversion differences were set at
zero. 

INCOME REPORTING

Projects

Veidekke operates mainly as
contractors on projects lasting from a
few months to three or four years.
This applies to all types of building
and construction work. Veidekke uses
continuous income reporting for
projects, based on the estimated final
profit. This means that income is
reported in line with the execution of
the work, based on the percentage of
completion. Follow-up of the projects
focuses on the estimated final profit
(final prognosis), and profit to date is
equal to estimated final profit
multiplied by the percentage of
completion.

Additional claims and disputed
amounts are normally not taken to
income until agreement has been
reached or a legally binding court rul-
ing has been given. In the case of
relatively certain claims, a prudent
part of the claim is taken to income.
Provision is made for guarantee work
based on historic experience and
identified risks. The guarantee period
is normally from three to five years. 

For projects that are expected to
show a loss, the whole loss is
entered in the profit and loss account
as soon as it has been identified.
Costs relating to tenders and other
preparations are entered as expenses
as they are incurred. The percentage
of completion is determined on the
basis of the work executed and is
normally calculated as the ratio of
accrued expenses to date to esti -
mated total expenses for the project.

Accrued expenses to date are equal
to book expenses plus accruals for
time lag in invoicing (Accrued but not
recorded). Income to date is equal to
total anticipated expenses plus
project contributions multiplied by the
percentage of completion.

Projects are normally invoiced
monthly with 30 days’ credit. The
projects have different payment
plans. Invoicing is done either in step
with the execution of the work or in
accordance with agreed payment
plans. 

Accrual accounting is used for both
income and expenses. Non-invoiced
earned income is booked under
accounts receivable (Executed, not
invoiced). Unearned invoiced income
(pre-agreed payment plans) is also
booked under accounts receivable
(Invoiced, not executed). Only one of
these items may be applied per
project. If the item “Invoiced, not
executed” is larger than book
accounts receivable for the project,
the surplus is entered as advance
payment from customers (Other
short-term liabilities). Each project
thus shows either a net receivable
from the customer or a net debt to
the customer. Cost accruals (Accrued,
not recorded) are entered under
creditors, while provision for
guarantee work on completed
projects is entered under guarantee
provisions etc. 

Reference is made to Note 6 Projects
in progress, Note 18 Accounts
receivable, Note 25 Creditors and
Note 26 Guarantee funds etc.

These accounting principles to a great
extent also apply to projects in
Veidekke’s asphalt operations,
although only to projects which
stretch over an accounting period.

Non-residential projects 

Non-residential projects involve the
development and construction of non-
residential buildings for sale for
Veidekke’s own account. Veidekke
acquires sites and properties for the
development and erection of non-
residential buildings. It also finds

accounting policies for  Veidekke group.
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long-term tenants. The acquired sites
and outlays on non-residential
projects are entered in the balance
sheet under Non-residential projects.
Non-residential buildings for
Veidekke’s own account are not
entered in the profit and loss account
until the project is completed and
sold. From the time when it is likely
that a non-residential project will be
initiated, all project-related costs
including interest are capitalised.
Loss-making projects are charged to
income immediately.

Residential projects

Residential projects involve the build-
ing of dwellings for sale for Veidekke’s
own account. A housing project
consists of many units and, normally,
a minimum of 50 per cent of the units
must be sold before project start-up. 

Projects under development or
advance sales: 
Development expenses are charged
to income until it is considered highly
likely that the project will be initiated.
Financial expenses are charged to
income as they occur. The site is
activated when control of the future
financial advantages linked with the
site, has been taken over.

Projects under construction:
No profit is reported until the sales
rate measured in value exceeds 60
per cent. The profit is accrued in
accordance with the projects esti -
mated final profit multiplied by the
sales rate multiplied by the percen -
tage of completion. 

Income to date is also calculated in
this way. When calculating the antici -
pated profit, only directly attributable
expenses are regarded as project
expenses. Financial expenses are
charged to income as they occur.
Loss-making projects are charged to
income immediately. For housing
projects for Veidekke’s own account,
payment takes place on handover.
Earned income that has not been
paid is booked under accounts
receivable (Executed, not invoiced).
Sites for development and outlays on
the part of the project that have not
been taken to income, as well as

unsold, completed dwellings, are
entered in the balance sheet under
Residential projects. The fair value of
sites and unsold dwellings are based
on specific, individual assessments. If
the fair value is assessed to be lower
than the book value, the sites and
dwellings are devaluated to fair value.

Long-term contracts for the 

operation and maintenance of

public roads

An operation and maintenance
contract usually has a duration of 5 
to 7 years. In general, the same
accounting principles are applied to
operation and maintenance contracts
as to ordinary construction projects.
One exception is that for operation
and maintenance contracts, status is
updated at the end of each year. If the
profit achieved on the contract at the
turn of the year is negative, the loss
is entered in the profit and loss
account. For projects with positive
results, the margin cannot be higher
than what has actually been
accomplished. 

For projects that are expected to
show a net loss in the remaining
contract period, the loss is entered in
the profit and loss account as soon as
it has been identified. The performed
assessment shall cover the remaining
term.

PPP project

Veidekke participates in a major PPP
project (public private partnership)
involving the construction of a road
between Lyngdal and Flekkefjord and
a subsequent 25-year operation and
maintenance period. The construction
work was completed in 2006. A PPP
project consists of several elements:
the PPP contract, the construction
contract and the operation and
maintenance contract. 

The PPP contract is entered in the
accounts according to the principles
suggested in IFRIC 12 Service
concession arrangements (”The
Financial Asset Model”), as a financial
asset at cost amortised over the
contract period. At the time of sub-
mission, the European Union had not
approved IFRIC 12 for use in the EU.

According to EFRAG (European
Financial Reporting Advisory Group)
the EU can be expected to approve
the use of this standard in the course
of 2009. It is our opinion that IFRIC 12
gives the most correct expression of
earnings from the contract and alter -
native accounting policies will not
give a correct view of the activity. 

The construction contract was
reported as an ordinary construction
project, and operation and mainte n -
ance of the road are entered in the
profit and loss account as the work is
executed.

The PPP contract was awarded to the
associated company Allfarveg AS, for
which Veidekke uses the equity
method of accounting. 

Other operations

Income from sales of products
(crushed stone, asphalt etc.) is
entered on delivery. Income from hire
operations is reported continuously
according to the agreed rental fee.
Income from services rendered,
consultancy assignments etc. is also
reported continuously. Sales of non-
current assets are recognised in the
profit and loss account when they are
handed over. Gains on sales of non-
current assets are entered under 
operating revenues.

Guarantee funds etc.

Provision is made in the accounts
when the Group has an obligation
(legal or self-imposed) as a result of a
previous incident, and it is probable
that a financial settlement will take
place as a result of that obligation,
and the size of the amount can be
measured reliably. Provision is made
for confirmed work under guarantee
and for probable concealed
deficiencies. Reference is made to
Note 26.

Restructuring

Provision is made for restructuring
when the Group has approved a
detailed and formal restructuring plan,
and the restructuring is either initiated
or has been announced to the
affected parties.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group classifies financial invest-
ments in the following categories:

1. Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified in this
category if it is acquired primarily with
the intention of selling it in the course
of a short time. Gains and losses on
investments held for sale are
recognised in the accounts as they
occur. Veidekke has currently no such
financial assets.

2. Held-to-maturity investments
Veidekke does not undertake such
investments, and this category is
therefore not described in detail.

3. Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Loans
and receivables are recognised in the
balance sheet at amortised cost using
the effective rate of interest method,
with a deduction for any write-downs.
Accounts receivable and other
receivables are included under Loans
and receivables in the balance sheet.
Gains and losses are taken/charged
to income when loans or receivables
are deducted or devalued.

4. Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are
financial investments which are either
designated in this category or cannot
be classified in the other categories.
After first-time recognition, invest-
ments available for sale are measured
at fair value where increases in value
are entered directly against equity as
a separate component, until the
investment is sold or it is determined
that the investment shall be written
down. At this point, the accumulated
values, which were previously recog -
nised in equity, are transferred to the
profit and loss account.

The fair value of investments that are
traded over the stock exchange, is
valued based on the market price on
the balance sheet date. The fair value

of investments that are not part of an
active market, is valued by applying
generally accepted valuation tech-
niques or by using valuations for
comparable investments in an active
market. In the abcence of an active
market with clear indications of
market price, the original cost will
normally be used.

Writing down financial assets

If there are indications of impairment
relating to loans and receivables that
are valued at amortised cost, the
need for a write-down shall be
considered. The write-down amount
is calculated as the difference 
between the asset’s balance sheet
value and present value of anticipated
future cash flows. The write-down
amount is charged to income. 

Veidekke has two types of financial
risks relating to the Group’s accounts
receivable: credit risk and project risk.
Credit risk relates to the customer’s
ability to pay. This risk has always
been low at Veidekke because
contracts normally require bank
guarantees, among other things. Pro-
vision for such losses is made using a
separate “Provision for bad debts”
account. Provisions are made based
on historic experience related to
various customer groups. Specific
debts are written down when the
company, based on a concrete as-
sessment, regard them as non-
recoverable. 

Project risk relates to the customer’s
willingness to pay a debt. The risk
that the customer is unwilling to pay
is treated as part of the individual
project’s valuation. In the accounts,
such impairment will be presented as
a reduction of accounts receivable. In
the Notes, this risk will be presented
as part of the item “Invoiced, not
executed”. For details, see Note 18.

If a financial asset that is classified as
available for sale based on objective
criteria has been the object of
impairment, the loss will be entered
in the profit and loss account as a
write-down. A reversal of the

impairment of available-for-sale
financial instruments is not entered in
the profit and loss account, but
entered directly against consolidated
equity. 

Derivatives and hedging

transactions

Upon first-time recognition,
derivatives are entered in the
accounts at fair value. Subsequently,
the item is revalued each time the
accounts are prepared. On entering
into a derivative agreement, the
Group defines whether this is fair
value hedging of an accounting item
or hedging of an obligation it has
entered into (hedging of cash flows).

Changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are both defined as
hedging and satisfy the requirements
for hedging of cash flows are entered
against equity. Equity items are
reversed and entered as income or
expenses during the period the
hedged obligation or transaction
affects the profit and loss account.

Changes in the fair value of
derivatives that do not qualify as
hedging are entered in the profit and
loss account as they occur. 

Financial obligations – Loans

Loans are reported in the accounts by
recognising the amount that is re-
ceiv ed less directly related trans-
ac tion costs. The loan is thereafter
entered at amortised cost by using
the effec tive rate of interest method.

Deduction of financial assets and

obligations

A financial asset is deducted if the
right to receive cash flows from the
asset no longer exists. Similarly, a
financial obligation is deducted if the
obligation has been honoured, can-
celled or has expired as agreed.

Financial income and expenses

Financial income includes interest
income on financial investments,
dividends and Group contributions,
currency gains, sales gains from
available-for-sale financial assets,

accounting policies for  Veidekke group.
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changes in the fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss, and gains from hedging instru-
ments recognised in the profit and
loss account. Interest income is
recognised in the profit and loss
account by using the effective rate of
interest method. 

Financial costs include interest
charges on loans, currency losses,
changes in the fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss, impairment of financial assets
and loss on hedging instruments that
have been entered in the profit and
loss account. All loan expenses are
recognised in the profit and loss
account by using the effective rate of
interest method.

OTHER POLICIES

Pensions

Veidekke has pension schemes for all
its employees in Scandinavia. These
include both defined-contribution and
defined-benefit plans. 

In the case of defined-contribution
plans, the enterprise makes a
contribution to the employee’s
pension savings. Here, the future
pension depends on the size of the
contribution and return on the
pension funds. The cost to the enter-
prise is equal to the contributions for
the year. The enterprise’s only
commitment is to make an annual
contribution, and no commitment is
entered in the balance sheet.
Veidekke’s subsidiaries in Denmark
and Sweden have defined-
contribution plans. 

In the case of defined-benefit plans,
the enterprise commits itself to
providing a pension of a specified
size. Veidekke’s pension schemes are
financed either by funds or by oper -
ations. The pension scheme for
employees in Norway normally
provides a pension amounting to 60
per cent of the salary on retirement,
including public pension benefits.
Here, the enterprise bears the risk for
the return on pension funds. 

An actuarial calculation is made each
year of pension costs and pension
commitments. Pension commitments
equal the present value of earned
pension rights. Employees’ pension
rights are entered as costs as they
are earned, and provision is made for
pension commitments in the balance
sheet. The pension calculation takes
into account estimated wage growth
and pension costs are distributed
linearly over the employment period.
Rights in connection with contractual
early retirement pension rights are
distributed in the same way. 

For defined-benefit plans, the net
value of pension commitments and
pension funds is entered in the
balance sheet under Long-term
liabilities or Receivables. Pension
funds consist of a premium fund and
a share of the life assurance
company’s funds (mathematical
reserve). Pension costs consist of the
present value of the year’s earning
plus interest on the commitments
less return on the pension funds. Es-
timate variances are recognised in
the profit and loss account.

In defined-benefit plans, an annual
difference arises between the esti -
mated and actual return on pension
funds and between estimated and
actual pension commitments, so-
called estimate variances. This is,
among other things, due to differ -
ences and changes in the assump -
tions. Veidekke has adopted the
“corridor” approach to estimate
variances, and they are thus entered
in the balance sheet. The corridor is
defined as the greater of 10 per cent
of pension funds or of pension
commitments. Estimate variances
which exceed the corridor are
amortised (reported in the profit and
loss account) over the average
remaining earning period. Changes in
plans are entered in the profit and
loss account immediately, unless the
change depends on the employees’
remaining in the enterprise, in which
case the change is amortised over
the remaining earning period.

Tax

Income taxes are tax on the
company’s profit. Tax is treated in the
accounts as an expense and is
accrued in the normal way. Tax for the
year consists of payable tax and
change in deferred tax. Payable tax is
fixed on the basis of the company’s
taxable profit for the year. Deferred
tax is a provision (accrual) for future
payable tax. 

Deferred tax/tax assets are calculated
on all timing differences between
accounts and tax. Timing differences
arise because some items are treated
in different ways in financial accounts
and tax accounts. Both tax-increasing
and tax-reducing timing differences
occur. Deferred tax is calculated on
net timing differences, i.e. by off-
setting tax-increasing against tax-
reducing timing differences. A nomi -
nal tax rate, based on tax rules
adopted at the balance sheet date, 
is used to calculate deferred tax.
Deferred tax assets relating to loss
carry-forward are entered in the
accounts when it is probable that the
company will have an adequate profit
in the next three years to make use
of the assets. 

Payable tax and deferred tax relating
to equity transactions are charged
directly to equity. Tax items relating to
unrealised intra-Group gains are
eliminated along with these.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises when a company pur-
chases operations. Goodwill corres-
ponds to the original purchase prise
at the time of takeover less the fair
value of the acquired company’s iden-
tified assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities. If the fair value of the net
identified assets exceed the original
purchase price (negative goodwill),
the amount is entered in the profit
and loss account. 
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Other intangible assets

The Group’s other intangible assets
with a determined useful life are
valued to original purchase price less
accumulated depreciation and
accumulated loss on impairment.
This applies, among other things, to
the right to extract crushed stone and
gravel, for which depreciations are
determined based on extractions.

Tangible non-current assets

Tangible non-current assets consist of
plant, buildings, machinery, equip -
ment, etc. Veidekke books tangible
non-current assets at historic cost.
This means that tangible non-current
assets are valued at original cost less
accumulated depreciation and write-
downs. Tangible non-current assets
are entered in the balance sheet
when it is probable that future
financial advantages linked with the
asset will accrue to the enterprise
and the original cost can be
measured in a reliable way. This 
applies both to first-time purchase 
of operating equipment and to later
changes, conversions, overhauls, etc.
Other repairs and maintenance are
entered as expenses as they arise.
Tangible non-current assets are
depreciated linearly over their esti -
mated useful life.

The estimated expected useful life for
the present period and comparable
periods is as follows:
• Vehicles: 4-5 years
• Machinery etc.: 5-7 years
• Asphalt plants: 10-15 years
• Bitumen tanks: 15 years
• Buildings: 20-50 years

The depreciation period and residual
value are assessed annually. Gains
and losses on disposals of non-
current assets are reported in the
profit and loss account and constitute
the difference between sales price
and book value. 

Write-down of non-current assets

On indication of impairment of value,
the recoverable amount is calculated.
Non-current assets are written down
to a recoverable amount if this is
lower than the book value. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of
net sales value and utility value. The
utility value is the present value of the
future cash flows that the asset is
expected to generate. If there is an
indication that the asset will fall in
value, the recoverable amount is used
and the asset is written down as
required. 

Intangible non-current assets with an
indeterminable life and goodwill are
tested for impairment in the fourth
quarter each year, and are written
down as required. The utility value is
calculated per cash generating unit
(CGU). If a CGU has to be written
down, goodwill is written down first.
Other assets are then written down
proportionately. If the value of
written-down intangible non-current
assets rises again later, the write-
down is reversed. The write-down of
the goodwill, however, is not
reversed.

The calculation of a CGU is based on
future estimated cash flows for the
unit, discounted at a suitable rate
(risk-free rate plus risk). The calcula -
tion is based on the CGU’s budgets
and prognoses, including scrap value.
Maintenance costs and replacement
investment are also taken into
account, but not expansion invest -
ment. Financing expenses and tax
are not included in the calculation.

Financial lease agreements

Financial lease agreements (leasing)
are agreements where most of the
financial risk and control relating to
the object has been transferred to the
lessee. Financial lease agreements
for operating equipment are entered
in the balance sheet and depreciated
in the normal way, while leasing
commitments are entered as debts
to credit institutions. The lease agree-
ment is entered in the balance sheet
at the lower of the present value of
the leasing payments and the fair
value. The year’s leasing payment
consists of interest, which is entered
under Interest charges, and an in-
st alment part, which is entered in
Repayment of debts. 

Operating lease agreements

Lease agreements where most of
the financial risk and control has not
passed to the lessee, are classified 
as operating lease agreements. For
operating lease agreements, leasing
payments are entered as expenses
linearly over the leasing period, and
commitments are not entered in the
balance sheet.

Currency transactions 

Transactions involving foreign
currency are converted at the 
exchange rate at the time of
transaction.

Monetary items in foreign currency
are assessed at the exchange rate on
the balance sheet date and related
currency gains/losses are entered in
the profit and loss account. Monetary
items are items that will be settled at
a fixed nominal amount. This applies
to liquid assets, receivables, debts,
etc. For non-monetary items, the ex-
change rate at the time of transaction
is taken as the basis for original cost,
i.e. is not converted later. This applies
to tangible non-current assets,
products, etc.

Classification

Assets and liabilities relating to the
circulation of goods (projects) are
classified as current assets and
current liabilities. Veidekke has debts
to credit institutions in the form of
withdrawal rights which are used to
finance both non-current assets
(investments) and working capital.
The agreed due date is 2010 with an
option for renewal until 2012. This is
classified as a long-term loan. Other
debts to credit institutions which are
taken up to finance non-current 
ass ets (investments) are classified as
long-term liabilities, while other loans
that are taken up to finance working
capital (current assets) are classified
as short-term liabilities. Other receiv -
ables and debts due for payment
more than a year hence are classified
as non-current assets and long-term
liabilities. The first year’s instalments
on long-term liabilities are classified
as short-term liabilities.

accounting policies for  Veidekke group.
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Stocks

Stocks consist of project stocks and
stocks for crushed stone and asphalt
operations. Project stocks are
included in project valuations. Stocks
for crushed stone and asphalt ope-
rations are entered in the accounts at
the lower of total production costs
and net sales price.

Share discounts

Veidekke buys back its own shares
and resells them to its employees at
a discount. These sales of shares are
reported in accordance with IFRS 2
on share-based payment. The dis-
count is entered as cost at the fair
value at the time of issue, taking into
account the lock-in period. This entails
that the discount is calculated accord-
ing to an option pricing model. The
fair value of the discount is charged to
wages. Reference is made to Note 4.

Development costs

Veidekke carries out very little
research and development of
products etc.

Proposed dividend

Proposed dividends are not entered
as liabilities in the accounts until they
have been approved by the Annual
General Meeting. This means that the
proposed dividends at 31 December
are part of the equity.

Uncertainties

Veidekke’s profits from projects are
affected to a great extent by esti -
mates which entail some uncertainty.
See details on page 26 under 
”Estimates”. Information on uncer- 
t ainties is provided in Note 33.

Loan expenses

Loan expenses are charged to the
profit and loss account as they are
paid, except loan expenses related to
non-residential projects.

Own shares

Repurchased shares are booked at
cost price including costs directly att-
ributable to equity. The company’s
own shares are presented as a
reduction in equity. Losses or gains
on transactions with own shares are

not recognised in the profit and loss
account.

Cash and cash equivalents

Liquid assets consist of cash and
bank deposits, including deposits
subject to certain conditions, and
short-term liquid investments with a
maximum term of three months,
which can be converted into cash
immediately. 

Earnings per share

The earnings per share are calculated
by dividing the period’s earnings att-
ributable to the owners of the parent
company, by the weighted average
number of outstanding shares in the
period.

Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement is drawn up
using the indirect method. 

In the property divisions, investments
are made continuously in new
development projects, including sites.
These are regarded as part of the
operating activities, and are
presented under operating activities
in the cash flow statement. Asso -
ciated companies and joint ventures
are also used as part of the operating
activities for the development of
property projects. Both purchases
and sales of associated companies
and joint ventures are regarded as
operating activities. In the other 
divisions of the Group, purchases and
sales of companies are classified as
investment activities. 

IFRS and IFRIC standards which

have not been applied

• IFRS 2 (Amendment) – Share-
based Payment – Vesting 
conditions and cancellations.

• IFRS 3 (Amendment) – Business 
Combinations – Accounting of step 
acquisitions, minority interests, 
contingent considerations and 
acquisition costs etc.

• IFRS 8 – Operating Segments – The
standard requires that the Group 
uses a management approach for 
identifying segments.

• IAS 1 (Amendment) – Presentation 
of Financial Statements – Revised 
presentation.

• IAS 23 (Amendment) – Borrowing 
Costs – Capitalisation of interest 
related to the production of 
qualifying assets.

• IAS 27 (Amendment) – 
Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements – Guidance 
on the accounting of changes in 
ownership share in subsidiaries.

• IAS 32 (Amendment) – Financial 
Instruments: Presentation and 
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial 
Statements  – Require put options 
to be classified as equity.

• IAS 39 (Amendment) – Financial 
Instruments – Recognition and 
Measurement.

• IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty 
Programmes.

• IFRIC 14 – Interpretation of IAS 19 
giving guidance on entering. 
pension commitments as an asset

• IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate.

• IFRIC 16 – Hedges of a Net 
Investment in a Foreign Operation.

• IFRIC 17 – Distributions of Non-
cash Assets to Owners.

• IFRIC 18 – Transfers of Assets from 
Customers – to suppliers of 
electricity, gas, water and 
telecommunications.

• IFRS 5 (Amendment) – Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Dis-
continued Operations  – Accounting
of planned sale of controlling inter-
est in subsidiary.

• IAS 16 (Amendment) – Property, 
Plant and Equipment  – Applicable 
to non-current assets held for 
letting.

• IAS 19 (Amendment) – Employee 
Benefits – Changes in definitions 
and rules regarding changes in 
pension plans which reduce the 
contributions linked with future 
earnings.

• IAS 20 – Accounting for 
Government Grants and Disclosure 
of Government Assistance. 

• IAS 28 (Amendment) – Invest-
ments in Associates  – Change in 
notes.

• IAS 36 (Amendment) – Impairment 
of Assets  – Change in notes.
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• IAS 38 (Amendment) – Intangible 
Assets – Accounting of expenses 
related to sales-promoting 
initiatives.

• IFRIC 12 – Service Concession 
Arrangements – Applies to arrange-
ments whereby a public body 
grants contracts for the supply of 
public services to private operators,
and determines which services are 
to be provided by the operator. 
The EU has not approved the inter-
pretation. Further details on this are
provided under PPP project in 
these accounting policies.

These standards will be implemented
from the date on which the EU
requires them to be followed. The
following standards will have a
significant impact on Veidekke’s
consolidated accounts:

The revised IAS 23 on borrowing
costs will be applied from 1 January
2009. The new rules require that inter-
est charges related to long-term build-
ing projects must be capitalised. For
Veidekke’s operations, this will
primarily apply to projects for own
account in Norway, as payment plans
are linked with progress in ordinary
building projects. For housing projects
in Sweden, properties are sold
according to a ”housing cooper ative
model”. As the customer, the housing
cooperative makes payments accord-
ing to progress. This means that there
is no interest of signific ance to
capitalise.

In accordance with the transition
rules, the revised IAS 23 will be 
applied to qualifying assets for which
loan expenses are entered in the
balance sheet starting as of 1 January
2009 or later. Thus, the amendment
will not entail a correction of account -
ing figures for previous accounting
periods in the Group’s consolidated
accounts for 2009. The Group only
has a few projects for own account in
Norway planned for start-up in 2009.
The change in the accounting rules is
therefore expected to have a limited
effect on the accounts for 2009.

IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the

Construction of Real Estate 

The IASB has adopted a new inter-
pretation of the rules for the sale of
flats built for own account. The new
interpretation clarifies what is
included by the rules regarding con-
struction contracts (IAS 11), and what
should be treated as ordinary sales of
goods (IAS 18). The interpretation
clarifies when turnover and profit may
be recognised in the accounts.
Today’s practice among listed
Swedish and Norwegian construction
companies is to recognise revenue as
it is earned in line with the sales rate
and percentage of completion in
compliance with IAS 11. IFRIC 15
implies that the sale of housing units
shall only be entered as income after
they have been delivered. This is be-
cause the sale of a flat shall be
treated in the accounts in the same
way as the sale of a product. 

The IASB has decided that the new
rules shall be applied from 1 January
2009. However, the EU has still not
approved the new rules, but has
indicated that the rules may be
expected to be approved during the
second quarter of 2009. The EU has
also signalled that it will decide to im-
plement the new rules by 1 January
2010, at the latest. 

Veidekke plans to implement the new
rules on 1 January 2010. We expect
the accounting effect in the form of
reduced equity at 1 January 2010 will
be in the range of MNOK 50. This is
based on an expected low number of
new projects being started up. 

Other changes

For Veidekke, IAS 1 will affect the
presentation of the consolidated
accounts. The revised standard
involves changes in the statement
presentations, especially in the
statement of equity changes, and
introduces a separate statement of
non-owner transactions, a
”statement of comprehensive
income”.

The revised IFRS 3 will also have an
impact on the accounts. Compared
with the current IFRS 3, the revised
standard entails certain changes and
specifications concerning the use of
the purchase method. Among the
specific issues affected, are goodwill
arising from step acquisitions,
minority interests, contingent
considerations and acquisition costs.
This will also have an effect on what
is defined as purchase of assets or
purchase of operations.

Other implementations are not
expected to have any significant
effect on Veidekke’s consolidated
accounts.

accounting policies for  Veidekke group.
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Note

1. Business segments

2. Gains on sales of non-current assets

3. Wage expenses

4. Share to employees

5. Financial income/financial expenses

6. Projects in progress

7. Earnings per share

8. Goodwill

9. Other intangible assets

10. Machinery and property

11. Purchases and sales of operations 2008 

12. Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

13. PPP project Allfarveg

14. Financial assets

15. Non-residential projects

16. Residential projects

17. Stocks

18. Accounts receivable

19. Liquid assets

Note

20. Number of shares, shareholders, etc.

21. Pensions

22. Income tax and deferred tax

23. Long-term liabilities

24. Short-term debts to credit institutions

25. Creditors and other short-term liabilities

26. Guarantee funds etc.

27. Mortgages, guarantees and joint and 

several liabilities

28. Capital management

29. Financial risk

30. Financial instruments

31. Compensation to senior executives

32. Lease commitments

33. Uncertainties

34. Transactions with related parties

35. Group structure

contents notes to account Veidekke group.
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notes to accounts Veidekke group.

figures in MNOK

Note 1 Business segments

Information on business segments is presented for each area of activity and geographical segment. Areas of activity are the Group’s 
primary reporting format and geographical segments are its secondary reporting format. Details on the areas of activity can be found in 
the annual  report.

A Aeras of activity

Construction Property                                      Industry

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 15 534.3 15 390.5 13 024.4 1 401.8 2 319.7 2 196.7 3 292.6 2 906.9 2 337.1 
Operating expenses -14 809.1 -14 835.5 -12 549.9 -1 272.4 -2 002.4 -1 933.1 -3 030.0 -2 637.6 -2 118.1 
Depreciation of goodwill - - - - - - -4.2 - - 
Depreciation -121.6 -98.4 -82.8 -7.0 -8.2 -24.8 -148.4 -118.7 -106.1 
Operating profit 603.6 456.6 391.7 122.4 309.1 238.8 110.0 150.6 112.9 

Share of profit, associated 
companies and joint ventures -2.9 -2.9 3.6 77.1 303.9 182.1 41.7 19.8 19.0 
Net financial items 173.1 96.9 56.9 -180.1 -79.0 -30.7 -83.6 -40.3 -19.3 
Earnings before tax 773.8 550.6 452.2 19.4 534.0 390.2 68.1 130.1 112.6 

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Non-current assets 1 106.6 959.9 890.4 781.7 539.4 347.1 1 150.5 957.0 815.3 
Current assets 2 134.1 2 534.0 2 492.2 2 469.3 2 524.0 2 744.6 665.1 612.1 499.0 
Liquid assets 2 828.2 2 130.2 1 546.7 108.7 173.3 - - - - 
Total assets 6 068.9 5 624.1 4 929.3 3 359.7 3 236.7 3 091.7 1 815.6 1 569.1 1 314.3 
Equity 1 470.1 997.4 810.2 869.6 1 301.0 889.7 253.3 221.9 255.0 
Long-term liabilities 332.4 435.2 620.5 1 629.2 954.3 888.9 1 087.2 901.8 643.6 
Short-term liabilities 4 266.4 4 191.5 3 498.6 860.9 981.4 1 313.1 475.1 445.4 415.7 
Total equity and liabilities 6 068.9 5 624.1 4 929.3 3 359.7 3 236.7 3 091.7 1 815.6 1 569.1 1 314.3 
Gross investment 248.8 225.5 274.3 122.2 81.7 33.9 351.6 245.1 194.0 
Invested capital * 2 634.7 2 346.1 2 483.9 1 259.8 1 047.2 815.4 
Investment in associated  
companies and joint ventures 10.5 11.7 17.4 488.4 244.4 239.5 142.3 120.2 69.9 

* Invested capital is only specified for the segments Property and Industry, as they are the two most capital intensive segments.

Other information at 31 December   

Construction Property                                      Industry

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

No. of employees 4 825 5 101 5 108 113 120 114 1 268 1 212 1 085 
Profit and loss items with no effect  
on cash flow (over and above 
write-downs and depreciation) * 329.6 68.3 26.6 34.9 13.6 -71.5 -3.9 -10.8 -39.2 
Backlog of orders 10 356 13 133 12 302 - - - - - - 
- due for completion within 12 months 8 064 10 380 9 564 - - - - - - 

* The year's changes with no effect on cash flow relating to guarantee provisions, impairment of financial assets, pension liabilities and 
investments in associated companies and joint ventures adjusted for dividends. Positive figures equals positive cash flow.
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Other operations/items Group

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues -833.4 -1 281.2 -1 115.9 19 395.3 19 335.9 16 442.3 
Operating expenses 808.4 1 255.7 1 092.4 -18 303.1 -18 219.8 -15 508.7 
Depreciation of goodwill - - - -4.2 - -  
Depreciation -14.8 -8.3 -7.7 -291.8 -233.6 -221.4  
Operating profit -39.8 -33.8 -31.2 796.2 882.5 712.2  
Share of profit, associated 
companies and joint ventures 7.4 5.0 2.2 123.3 325.8 206.9  
Net financial items -13.3 -4.9 -3.1 -103.9 -27.3 3.8  
Earnings before tax -45.7 -33.7 -32.1 815.6 1 181.0 922.9  

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Non-current assets 332.7 349.1 227.4 3 371.5 2 805.4 2 280.2  
Current assets -28.4 -48.6 -35.3 5 240.1 5 621.5 5 700.5  
Liquid assets -2 582.9 -2 031.1 -1 216.1 354.0 272.4 330.6 
Total assets -2 278.6 -1 730.6 -1 024.0 8 965.6 8 699.3 8 311.3  
Equity -479.1 -234.4 -177.2 2 113.9 2 285.9 1 777.7  
Long-term liabilities -1 709.2 -1 247.9 -912.4 1 339.6 1 043.4 1 240.6  
Short-term liabilities -90.3 -248.3 65.6 5 512.1 5 370.0 5 293.0  
Total equity and liabilities -2 278.6 -1 730.6 -1 024.0 8 965.6 8 699.3 8 311.3  
Gross investment 51.8 13.5 7.7 774.4 565.8 509.9  
Invested capital * 2 998.7 2 907.0 2 843.8 
Investment in associated 
companies and joint ventures 31.4 51.4 17.2 672.6 427.7 344.0 

Other operations/items Group

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

No. of employees 780 880 748 6 986 7 313 7 055 
Profit and loss items with no effect  
on cash flow (over and above 
write-downs and depreciation) * -7.7 -16.0 -15.4 352.9 55.1 -99.5 
Backlog of orders 208 130 79 10 564 13 263 12 381 
- due for completion within 12 months 173 130 70 8 237 10 510 9 634 
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notes to accounts  Veidekke group

Construction operations

Norway Sweden                                      Denmark

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 10 660.2 9 854.7 8 120.0 2 801.1 2 756.2 1 899.7 2 073.0 2 779.6 3 004.7 
Operating expenses -10 005.5 -9 201.0 -7 709.3 -2 737.3 -2 754.6 -1 886.3 -2 066.3 -2 879.9 -2 954.3 
Depreciation of goodwill - - - - - - - - - 
Depreciation -94.8 -79.4 -69.8 -17.1 -9.7 -4.2 -9.7 -9.3 -8.8 
Operating profit 559.9 574.3 340.9 46.7 -8.1 9.2 -3.0 -109.6 41.6 
Share of profit, associated 
companies and joint ventures -3.6 -3.5 3.2 - - - 0.7 0.6 0.4 
Net financial items 151.6 72.2 42.5 6.0 3.8 5.1 15.5 20.9 9.3 
Earnings before tax 707.9 643.0 386.6 52.7 -4.3 14.3 13.2 -88.1 51.3

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Non-current assets 689.5 625.4 564.5 190.0 150.4 135.6 227.1 184.1 190.3 
Current assets 1 539.9 1 866.4 1 673.4 350.2 298.1 330.1 244.0 369.5 488.7 
Liquid assets 2 627.9 2 123.9 1 506.2 30.3 -84.9 - 170.0 91.2 40.5 
Total assets 4 857.3 4 615.7 3 744.1 570.5 363.6 465.7 641.1 644.8 719.5
Equity 1 185.3 949.2 684.9 32.5 -94.5 -121.1 252.3 142.7 246.4 
Long-term liabilities 335.6 427.9 316.9 -3.2 7.3 284.3 - - 19.3 
Short-term liabilities 3 336.4 3 238.6 2 742.3 541.2 450.8 302.5 388.8 502.1 453.8 
Total equity and liabilities 4 857.3 4 615.7 3 744.1 570.5 363.6 465.7 641.1 644.8 719.5
Gross investment 156.8 155.2 183.4 77.8 58.5 84.1 14.2 11.8 6.8 
Investment in associated companies 
and joint ventures 6.8 8.9 14.9 - - - 3.7 2.8 2.5 

Norway Sweden                                       Denmark

Other information at 31 December 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

No. of employees 3 270 3 296 3 090 999 1 102 1 080 556 703 938 
Backlog of orders 6 579 9 030 7 580 2 479 2 222 1 972 1 298 1 881 2 750 
- due for completion within 12 months 5 288 7 047 5 701 1 624 1 824 1 689 1 152 1 509 2 174 
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Total

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 15 534.3 15 390.5 13 024.4 
Operating expenses -14 809.1 -14 835.5 -12 549.9 
Depreciation of goodwill - - - 
Depreciation -121.6 -98.4 -82.8 
Operating profit 603.6 456.6 391.7 
Share of profit, associated
companies and joint ventures -2.9 -2.9 3.6 
Net financial items 173.1 96.9 56.9 
Earnings before tax 773.8 550.6 452.2 

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Non-current assets 1 106.6 959.9 890.4 
Current assets 2 134.1 2 534.0 2 492.2 
Liquid assets 2 828.2 2 130.2 1 546.7 
Total assets 6 068.9 5 624.1 4 929.3 
Equity 1 470.1 997.4 810.2 
Long-term liabilities 332.4 435.2 620.5 
Short-term liabilities 4 266.4 4 191.5 3 498.6 
Total equity and liabilities 6 068.9 5 624.1 4 929.3 
Gross investment 248.8 225.5 274.3 
Investment in associated companies
and joint ventures 10.5 11.7 17.4 

Total

Other information at 31 December 2008 2007 2006

No. of employees 4 825 5 101 5 108  
Backlog of orders 10 356 13 133 12 302  
- due for completion within 12 months 8 064 10 380 9 564
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Property development

Norway Sweden                                       Denmark

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 631.7 1 389.1 1 193.1 719.7 767.8 730.1 50.4 162.8 273.5 
Operating expenses -570.2 -1 202.5 -1 040.9 -629.2 -638.5 -634.5 -73.0 -161.4 -257.7 
Depreciation of goodwill - - - - - - - - - 
Depreciation -6.5 -4.4 -3.9 -0.5 -3.8 -20.9 - - - 
Operating profit 55.0 182.2 148.3 90.0 125.5 74.7 -22.6 1.4 15.8 
Share of profit, associated 
companies and joint ventures 61.6 298.5 183.2 15.5 5.5 -1.1 - -0.1 - 
Net financial items -166.5 -49.3 -20.0 -3.7 -18.0 -5.8 -9.9 -11.7 -4.9 
Earnings before tax -49.9 431.4 311.5 101.8 113.0 67.8 -32.5 -10.4 10.9 

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Non-current assets 659.8 417.8 265.5 112.4 119.6 81.6 9.5 2.0 - 
Current assets 1 595.3 1 713.9 1 682.3 570.2 532.5 597.7 303.8 277.6 464.6 
Liquid assets - - - 108.7 173.3 - - - - 
Total assets 2 255.1 2 131.7 1 947.8 791.3 825.4 679.3 313.3 279.6 464.6 
Equity 395.5 822.3 516.9 415.0 422.2 306.6 59.1 56.5 66.2 
Long-term liabilities 1 546.7 887.0 879.3 82.5 66.4 - - 0.9 9.6 
Short-term liabilities 312.9 422.4 551.6 293.8 336.8 372.7 254.2 222.2 388.8 
Total equity and liabilities 2 255.1 2 131.7 1 947.8 791.3 825.4 679.3 313.3 279.6 464.6 
Gross investment 122.2 54.9 0.8 - 26.8 33.1 - - - 
Capital invested 1 929.1 1 843.9 1 536.5 415.0 259.0 536.9 290.6 243.2 410.5 
Investment in associated companies 
and joint ventures 419.1 195.5 197.0 66.8 46.9 42.5 2.5 2.0 - 

Other information at 31 December

No. of employees 47 53 47 64 58 59 2 9 8 
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Total

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 1 401.8 2 319.7 2 196.7 
Operating expenses -1 272.4 -2 002.4 -1 933.1 
Depreciation of goodwill - - - 
Depreciation -7.0 -8.2 -24.8 
Operating profit 122.4 309.1 238.8 
Share of profit, associated 
companies and joint ventures 77.1 303.9 182.1 
Net financial items -180.1 -79.0 -30.7 
Earnings before tax 19.4 534.0 390.2 

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Non-current assets 781.7 539.4 347.1 
Current assets 2 469.3 2 524.0 2 744.6 
Liquid assets 108.7 173.3 - 
Total assets 3 359.7 3 236.7 3 091.7 
Equity 869.6 1 301.0 889.7 
Long-term liabilities 1 629.2 954.3 888.9 
Short-term liabilities 860.9 981.4 1 313.1 
Total equity and liabilities 3 359.7 3 236.7 3 091.7 
Gross investment 122.2 81.7 33.9 
Capital invested 2 634.7 2 346.1 2 483.9 
Investment in associated companies
and joint ventures 488.4 244.4 239.5 

Other information at 31 December

No. of employees 113 120 114 
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B. Geographical segments

Norway Sweden                                        Denmark

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 13 897.0 13 368.9 10 887.2 3 177.3 3 165.2 2 363.1 2 101.1 2 845.8 3 112.6 
Operating profit 724.9 907.1 602.1 136.7 117.4 83.9 -25.6 -108.2 57.4 
Earnings before tax 726.1 1 204.5 810.7 154.5 108.7 82.1 -19.3 -98.5 62.2 

Balance Sheet

Total assets 8 928.0 8 316.5 7 006.2 1 361.8 1 189.0 1 145.0 954.4 924.4 1 184.1 
Capital invested 2 217.9 2 529.0 2 086.4 447.4 165.1 407.8 311.4 199.2 312.6 

No. of employees 4 623 4 607 4 263 1 063 1 160 1 139 558 710 912 
Backlog of orders 6 579 9 030 7 580 2 479 2 222 1 972 1 298 1 881 2 750 
- due for completion within 12 months 5 288 7 047 5 701 1 624 1 824 1 689 1 152 1 509 2 174 

notes to accounts  Veidekke group

Areas of activity
Criteria for division of areas of activity

The areas of activity are divided into business areas, each of which has individual risks and earnings. This conforms to the grouping Veidekke
uses for internal control and reporting purposes.

Presentation of areas of activity

The effect on profit of cash flow from projects constitutes for Veidekke a substantial part of net financial items. In addition, profits from 
associated companies and joint ventures constitute a substancial part of the areas of activity. For that reason, earnings before tax give a
more correct picture of the earnings of the areas of activity than the operating profit or loss does. Therefore, financial items and earnings 
before tax are presented in addition to the operating profit. Furthermore, complete balance sheets are presented for each area of activity.

Non-distributed items

Some Group costs are not allocated to the areas of activity. The same applies to a number of financial items. Non-distributed items are
shown under “Other operations/items”.

Inter-divisional transactions

There are relatively few sales between the divisions, but some contracts are carried out jointly by different entities. Intra-Group sales and
collaboration take place on commercial terms. Intra-Group sales between the different areas of activity is shown in the table below.

Intra-group sales

Norway Sweden Denmark

Resultatregnskap 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Construction Norway/Property Norway 601.6 640.3 623.9 
Industry Norway/Construction Norway 85.9 141.5 139.1 
Construction Sweden/Property Sweden 343.5 358.8 266.7 
Hoffmann/Hoffmann Property 22.3 96.6 165.6 
Total 687.5 781.8 763.0 343.5 358.8 266.7 22.3 96.6 165.6 

Geographical segments

The geographical distribution of the Group’s activities corresponds to the geographical location of the resources used for the respective
activities. This corresponds in the main to the geographical location of the customers. Turnover where the geographical location of the
resources differs from the geographical location of the customer, constitutes 0.1 per cent of the Group’s total turnover.
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Other operations/items Group

Profit and Loss Account 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 219.9 -44.0 79.4 19 395.3 19 335.9 16 442.3  
Operating profit -39.8 -33.8 -31.2 796.2 882.5 712.2 
Earnings before tax -45.7 -33.7 -32.1 815.6 1 181.0 922.9 

Balance Sheet

Total assets -2 278.6 -1 730.6 -1 024.0 8 965.6 8 699.3 8 311.3 
Capital invested 22.0 13.7 37.0 2 998.7 2 907.0 2 843.8  

No. of employees 742 836 741 6 986 7 313 7 055 
Backlog of orders 208 130 79 10 564 13 263 12 381 
- due for completion within 12 months 173 130 70 8 237 10 510 9 634 

Intra-group sales, total

2008 2007 2006

Construction Norway/Property Norway -601.6 -640.3 -623.9 
Industry Norway/Construction Norway -85.9 -141.5 -139.1 
Construction Sweden/Property Sweden -343.5 -358.8 -266.7 
Hoffmann/Hoffmann Property 22.3 96.6 165.6 
Total -1 053.3 -1 237.2 -1 195.3 
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Note 2  Gains on sales of non-current assets

2008 2007 2006

Property 12.3 12.0 7.2 
Machinery etc. 17.5 13.1 12.1 
Total gains on sales 29.8 25.1 19.3 

Gains on sales of non-current assets are included in the operating revenues.

Note 3  Wage expenses

2008 2007 2006

Wages 3 143.7 3 012.1 2 520.1 
Pension costs 225.5 188.8 181.5 
Social security 475.1 427.6 357.9 
Other wage expenses (social benefits etc.) 280.4 202.1 247.0 
Total 4 124.7 3 830.6 3 306.5 

Average number of employees
Scandinavia 6 431 6 451 6 227
Africa 1 006 608 782
Total 7 437 7 059 7 009

Employees at 31 December
Scandinavia 6 244 6 475 6 351
Africa 742 838 704
Total 6 986 7 313 7 055

Note 4  Shares to employees

Each year Veidekke sells shares to its employees at a discount on the current market price. The shares are subject to two and three-
year lock-in periods. 

These sales of shares are reported in accordance with IFRS 2 on share-based payment. The expensed discount is calculated as the
difference between market price and purchase price at the time of purchase, taking into account the agreed lock-in period for the
shares. The effect of the agreed lock-in period is calculated as the value of a put option during the lock-in period where the sales
price equals the purchase price of the share calculated according to the Black-Scholes model. 

The assumptions relating to volatility are based on the actual fluctuations in the price of Veidekke shares in 2008.

2008 2007 2006

Sales of shares to employees (no. of shares) 4 074 762 3 219 357 3 134 475
Expensed discount 0.9 - 0.5
Realisation own shares entered as reduction in equity 28.5 27.6 26.0

Loans to senior executives re purchases of Veidekke shares 262.1 255.4 186.6 
No. of senior executives 551 502 415
Loans in connection with share scheme for all employees  34.1 48.0 34.2
No. of employees 2 049 1 806 986

Loans to senior executives are currently interest-free. The term of the loans is ten years, and the loans are secured by mortgages 
in the shares. MNOK 5.3 of the total loans of MNOK 262.1 are interest-only loans. 

The loans to employees in connection with the share scheme for all employees are also interest-free and secured by mortgages in
the shares. The loan term is up to one year.
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Note 5  Financial income/financial expenses

2008 2007 2006

Interest income 35.8 27.9 15.4
Interest income non-financial institutions 34.9 24.5 7.7
Currency gains 20.4 6.5 9.4
Income from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 2.1 5.5 13.1
Gains on sales of financial assets/share dividend – Shares available for sale 2.2 1.4 7.6
Other financial income 16.9 14.6 21.7
Financial income 112.2 80.4 74.9
Interest charges -68.3 -87.4 -40.2
Currency losses -15.4 -9.6 -5.2
Losses on impairment of financial assets – Shares available for sale * -93.1 - -
Losses on sales of financial assets – Shares available for sale -11.1 - -
Interest charges non-financial institutions -4.6 -1.8 -
Other financial expenses -23.4 -8.9 -25.6
Financial expenses -216.1 -107.7 -71.0
Financial income/expenses -103.9 -27.3 3.9

* Refers to write-down of shares in Hansa Property Group ASA. For more information, see Note 14 Financial assets.

Note 6  Projects in progress

2008 2007 2006

Distribution of turnover:

Project turnover 18 669 18 594 15 790 
Sales of goods/services (aggregates/recycling) 726 742 652 

Total 19 395 19 336 16 442 

Income recognised from projects in progress *
Accumulated income  11 540 15 774 11 905 
Accumulated contributions 859 1 661 1 127 
Loss-bringing projects in progress – remaining turnover ** 715.3 541.0 498.0
Owing by customers 239.6 234.8 223.6
Earned, not invoiced income 962.7 1 470.3 1 601.2 
Advance payments from customers -493.4 -428.5 -685.9

*    Projects under construction, not handed over to the customer.
** Anticipated losses on these projects have been charged to income.

Note 7  Earnings per share

2008 2007 2006

Earnings per share (NOK) 4.5 7.1 5.0 
Profit for the year 615.5 1 001.1 722.8 
Majority interests’ share of profit for the year 611.3 989.7 708.3 
Average number of shares (million) * 135.2 140.0 142.9 
Number of shares at 1 January (million) * 139.0 140.9 143.0 
Number of shares at 31 December (million) * 133.7 139.0 140.9 

* Own shares have been deducted in the table.

Veidekke has no financial instruments that have a dilution effect.
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Note 8  Goodwill

2008 2007 2006

At 1 January  

Original cost 868.6 875.8 746.0 
Accumulated depreciation/write-downs  -364.4 -365.4 -365.4 
Book value at 1 January 504.2 510.4 380.6 

Accounting year 

Book value at 1 January 504.2 510.4 380.6 
Conversion differences 26.1 -10.6 6.0 
Additions 35.4 7.7 123.8 
Other changes 1) -4.8 -3.4 - 
Write-downs for the year -4.2 - - 
Book value at 31 December 556.6 504.2 510.4 

At 31 December  

Original cost 925.2 868.6 875.8 
Accumulated depreciation/write-downs -368.6 -364.4 -365.4 
Book value at 31 December 556.6 504.2 510.4 

1) Other changes are due to change in additional compensation in connection with the acquisition of companies.

Seven minor acquisitions have been made in 2008. For further details, see Note 11.

Goodwill in Ufo Entreprenør AS has been written down by MNOK 4.2 in 2008. Consequently, goodwill related to the company is
entered in the balance sheet as NOK 0.

The table below shows the Group’s largest goodwill items, plus the goodwill for each area of activity.

Book value at 

31 Dec. 2008

Purchases (cash-generating unit) in order of size

Hoffmann A/S 89.3 
Br. Reme AS 70.7 
Veidekke Entreprenad AB region Väst * 78.4 
Litra Grus AS 45.1 
Block Berge Bygg AS 36.9 
Total goodwill items > MNOK 25 320.4 

Goodwill items < MNOK 25 (40 enterprises) 236.2 
Total goodwill 556.6 

Total for each area of activity

Construction, Norway 153,5 
Construction, Denmark 99.6 
Construction, Sweden 96.7 
Property Development, Sweden 12.3 
Industry 194.5
Total goodwill 556.6 

* Veidekke Entreprenad AB region Väst consists of the former SBS Entreprenad AB and Veidekke Construction AB (merged as 
of 1 January 2008).

The Group has recognised goodwill arising from the acquisition of 45 enterprises. Each goodwill item is linked to a cash-generating
unit. When a purchased operation is upheld as an independent unit, this unit is the cash-generating unit. When a purchased enter-
prise is integrated with an existing Veidekke company, the amalgamated unit is the cash-generating unit. 

Goodwill is not written-down, but is tested for impairment in the fourth quarter each year. In the event of a particular indication of
possible impairment, the test is carried out on a quarterly basis. The test is carried out by comparing the estimated recoverable
amount with invested capital for the unit in question. When the recoverable amount exceeds invested capital, the book value of the
goodwill is upheld. When the recoverable amount is lower than invested capital, the book value is written down to the estimated
recoverable amount. Invested capital is the unit’s total capital less interest-free short-term liabilities and interest-free long-term
liabilities. 
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The recoverable amount is the estimated present value of future cash flows for the unit in question, and is based on the corporate
management’s approved budget and strategy figures for the coming three years. The amount is also based on the assumptions
described in the table below.

Turnover level and profit margin next three years

According to the management’s approved budget and strategy for the coming three years. Based on actual figures and the changes
that are expected at the time for the value assessment.    

Assumptions forming the basis for last year’s estimates

The assumptions on which estimates were based at the end of 2007, were to a great extent achieved by a good margin, with the
exception of the expectations for Hoffmann’s results (see separate comment.)

Turnover level and profit margin in the subsequent period

Assumed annual growth corresponds to anticipated general growth in the economy (nominal 2.5 per cent p.a.). Most estimates are
based on a time horizon of 15 years. Our investment decisions have a long-term perspective, and form the reason for the choice of
time horizon.  

Investment requirements/reinvestment

According to the management’s approved budget and strategy for the coming three years. Reinvestments normally correspond to
anticipated depreciation on the units’ non-current assets.

Discount rate 

The nominal discount rate before tax based on the Group’s estimated capital cost calculated as a weighted average of cost for the
Group’s equity and liabilities. Discount rates in the range of 12 – 14 per cent were used for the value tests in 2008. The discount
rate has shown a small increase in 2008 compared with 2007, due to a slightly elevated risk premium.

Goodwill in Hoffmann

Hoffmann’s result for 2008 was lower than anticipated in the estimation of goodwill for 2007. This will have no consequences for the
value entered in the balance sheet at 31 December 2008. The estimations performed for 2008 are based on a future profit margin of
1.2 per cent, and an expectation that the turnover will be somewhat lower than it was for 2008. In addition, it has been assumed
that the company will have the same capital structure as it had at the end of 2008. With the given capital structure, a 40 per cent
reduction in earnings or a 40 per cent increase in the discount rate will not make it necessary to write down the goodwill.

Sensitivity analysis

A normal adjustment of the criteria for the value tests gives no basis for write-downs. An adjustment of cash flows or discount
rates of 20 per cent would not necessitate write-downs for the five largest goodwill items.

Note 9  Other intangible assets

2008

At 1 January   

Original cost  - 
Accumulated depreciation - 
Book value at 1 January  - 

Accounting year  

Book value at 1 January  - 
Conversion differences  0.9 
Investment in current operations  14.4 
Investments from acquisition of companies  11.5
Depreciation  -
Book value at 31 December  26.8 

At 31 December  

Original cost  26.8 
Accumulated depreciation - 
Book value at 31 December  26.8 

Additions this year refer to rights to extract crushed stone and gravel. Depreciation will be entered in line with extractions of gravel.
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Note 10  Machinery and property

2008 2007 2006

Machinery etc Property Total Machinery etc Property Total Total

Book value opening balance  927.3 495.2 1 422.5 740.6 423.4 1 164.0 1 135.5 
Cost opening balance  2 364.1 698.1 3 062.2 2 080.8 611.3 2 692.1 2 569.5 
Investments in current operations  540.2 144.6 684.8 433.2 109.5 542.7 371.8 
Investments in purchases of company 
operations  28.1 0.2 28.3 3.2 - 3.0 1.6 
Disposals original cost -158.4 -103.4 -261.8 -148.7 -15.7 -164.4 -266.5 
Conversion difference original cost  16.6 28.8 45.4 -4.4 -7.0 -11.2 15.7 
Cost closing balance  2 790.6 768.3 3 558.9 2 364.1 698.1 3 062.2 2 692.1 

Accumulated depreciation/
write-downs opening balance -1 436.8 -202.9 -1 639.8 -1 340.2 -187.9 -1 528.1 -1 434.0 
Accumulated depreciation sold 
non-current assets 133.1 36.1 169.2 113.4 3.6 117.0 135.3 
Depreciation for the year -272.5 -19.3 -291.8 -212.8 -20.8 -233.6 -221.4 
Conversion difference depreciation  -14.4 -5.7 -20.1 2.8 2.2 5.0 -8.0 
Accumulated depreciation/

write-downs closing balance  -1 590.6 -191.9 -1 782.5 -1 436.8 -202.9 -1 639.7 -1 528.1 

Book value closing balance  1 200.0 576.4 1 776.4 927.3 495.2 1 422.5 1 164.0 

Depreciation method Straight-line Straight-line
Depreciation rate 10-25% 2-5%

Investments and sales (sales price)

2008 2007 2006

Investments Sales Investments Sales Investments Sales

Machinery etc.* 540.2 42.9 433.2 48.4 297.4 25.3 
Property 144.6 79.6 109.5 24.1 74.4 128.7 
Total 684.8 122.4 542.7 72.5 371.8 154.0 

* The Group has contractual obligations relating to purchases of tangible non-current assets for delivery in 2009 amounting to 
MNOK 6.6 (MNOK 68.0).

Note 11  Purchases and sales of operations 2008

In 2008, Veidekke has purchased several minor operations. 

Purchases of companies

All shares in Litra Containerservice AS were purchased as of 1 January 2008. The company is engaged in skip hire in the
Lillehammer region and has 10 employees. The purchase price was MNOK 24.0. An analysis of excess value has been performed,
showing excess values in the company’s means of transport amounting to MNOK 5.6 and goodwill totalling MNOK 13.3. The 
purchase price has been paid in cash. The company had a turnover of MNOK 16.2 in 2008, and earnings before tax of MNOK 2.8.

All shares in Olav Ødegård AS were purchased as of 1 May 2008. The company offers transportation services in the county of
Østfold. The purchase price was MNOK 26.0, of which MNOK 20.5 has been settled in cash, MNOK 2.5 has been settled in
Veidekke shares, and the remaining MNOK 3 shall be paid at later time based on future results. The shares were settled based on
the share price at the time of acquisition, and the shares were purchased at market price. Allocated goodwill is MNOK 5.8. There
are excess values in transport means and shares in associated companies amounting to MNOK 7.6. The company Olav Ødegård AS
was merged with the Group company Kai Arne Humleskjær AS as of 1 January 2009. In 2008, Olav Ødegård AS had a turnover of
MNOK 26.6, and earnings before tax of MNOK 4.4. In Veidekke’s ownership period in 2008, the company had a turnover of MNOK
15.3, and earnings before tax of MNOK 4.3. 
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All shares in the companies SL Grus AS and Mosand AS were purchased in August 2008, at a total purchase price of MNOK 10.8.
The purchase price has been paid in cash. SL Grus AS has gravel rights in the Lillehammer region, and Mosand AS owns rights to
extract gravel in the municipality of Modalen in the county of Hordaland. The excess value generated by the companies is primarily
related to extraction rights. The excess value of the extraction rights is estimated to MNOK 11.5 before the deferred tax obligation 
is recorded. In 2008, the companies had a total turnover MNOK 3.2, and achieved earnings before tax of MNOK -0.7. 

All company acquisitions in 2008 were made within the Industry Division.

Purchases of other operations

In the course of the year, enterprises have been purchased totalling a business value of MNOK 12.8 (company operations). 
This value has been entered in the balance sheet under goodwill. The purchase price has been settled in cash. The purchased 
enterprises have been integrated with existing Veidekke operations from the time of acquisition.

Individually, the purchases are small in relation to Veidekke’s consolidated accounts. Therefore, all the excess value analyses are
presented in one statement.

Purchases of operations Book value, balance sheet Excess value Purchases

Cash and bank deposits 8.9 - 8.9
Other intangible assets - 11.5 11.5
Machinery, property 18.6 9.7 28.3
Financial assets 2.5 3.4 5.9
Accounts receivable and other receivables 6.2 - 6.2
Pension liability -0.2 - -0.2
Deferred tax -0.1 -6.0 -6.1
Debt to credit institutions etc. -4.4 - -4.4
Creditors and other interest-free liabilities -10.3 - -10.3
Net identified assets and liabilities 21.2 18.6 39.8

Goodwill at time of acquisition - 33.7 33.7
Purchase price - - 73.5

Agreed purchase price 73.5
Cash received -8.9
Deferred payment -3.0
Net outgoing cash flow 61.6

– of which outgoing cash flow from purchase of companies 48.8

Goodwill is primarily linked with business value related to the companies' organisations, as well as expected synergy and potential
in connection with Veidekke’s other operations.

Acquisition of minority interests

Veidekke has bought into the company FF Resi AS, which subsequently has been merged with the Group company Veidekke Gjen-
vinning Rogaland AS. After the merger, Veidekke has an ownership share of 92 per cent in Veidekke Gjenvinning Rogaland. The
transaction entails a reduction of minority interests of MNOK 2.8, and an increase in goodwill of MNOK 1.8. The MNOK 1.8 increase
in goodwill has not been included in the statement for purchases of operations.

Purchases of subsidiaries in property operations

Veidekke has purchased 100 per cent of the shares in the companies Nøtterø Invest AS and Holmgata 2 AS. In addition, Veidekke
has bought the remaining 50 per cent of the shares in Kammerherreløkka Næring AS and Torggaten 18 AS, at a total purchase 
price of MNOK 25.5. These purchases are not presented in the excess value analyses above. The reason for this is that purchases 
of companies within property operations are, in effect, purchases of sites and buildings, and therefore not ordinary enterprise 
purchases. No goodwill is identified in connection with such purchases, and, in accordance with IAS 12, no deferred tax is allocated
for excess values either.
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Purchases of companies, property operations Book value, balance sheet Excess value Book value

Non-residential and residential projects 10.6 24.1 34.7
Deferred tax assets 0.3 - 0.3
Other assets 1.2 0.1 1.3
Debts to credit institutions -1.0 - -1.0
Creditors and other interest-free liabilities -9.8 - -9.8
Net identified assets and liabilities 1.3 24.2 25.5

Purchase price/Net outgoing cash flow 25.5

Purchases of joint ventures in property operations

The Norwegian Property Division has purchased 50 per cent of the shares in the companies Lilleby Eiendom AS and Lørenvangen
Utvikling AS. These companies have later purchased sites for development in Trondheim and Oslo, respectively. The total purchase
price for the shares was MNOK 17.7. In addition, the companies have been given subordinated loans totalling MNOK 165. The sub-
ordinated loans are included in the accounts under investment in associated companies and joint ventures.

For further details regarding which sites the companies have purchased, reference is made to Note 16 Residential projects.

Purchases of associated companies and joint ventures in other operations

On 1 January 2008, the Industry Division purchased 50 per cent of the shares in the company Lauvåsen Pukk AS at a purchase
price of MNOK 30. The company has rights to extract approx. 400,000 tonnes of crushed stone and gravel from plants in the
Stjørdalen area. The company also owns five mobile crushing plants. The ownership share in the company generates synergies in
terms of aggregates and staging areas for use in Veidekke’s asphalt operations in the Trondheim region. MNOK 3.3 has been
allocated in connection with excess value in machinery, and MNOK 14.3 is allocated to extraction rights, together with a corres-
ponding deferred tax amount of MNOK 5.0. MNOK 14.3 is allocated to goodwill in connection with the purchase. The goodwill is
mainly related to synergies with existing enterprises in the region.

Sales of companies

The Industry Division owned 30 per cent of the shares in the company Nordic Shelter Solutions Group Oy (NSS). These shares have
been sold, giving a gain of MNOK 27.5. The gain is included in the profit and loss account under profit from associated companies. 

The Norwegian Property Division owns 50 per cent of the company Sjølyststranda Eiendom AS. In 2008, this company sold the
company Sjølyststranda Næring AS. Veidekke’s share of the accounting gains on the sale amounts to MNOK 62, and is presented
under profit from associated companies.

Note 12  Investments in associated companies and joint venture

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

Veidekke has investments in associated companies and joint ventures in all areas of activity. Profit/loss and balance sheet values are
specified in the table below.

Earnings Book value

Country 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Property projects * Norway 61.5 298.5 183.2 419.1 195.5 197.0
Property projects Sweden 15.5 5.5 -1.1 66.8 46.9 42.5
Property projects Denmark - - - 2.8 - -
Total property development 77.0 304.0 182.1 488.7 242.4 239.5

Industry ** Norway 41.8 19.8 19.0 142.3 120.2 69.9
Construction Norway -3.6 -3.4 3.2 6.8 8.9 14.9
Construction Denmark 0.7 0.5 0.4 3.4 4.8 2.3
PPP Allfarveg Norway 7.4 4.9 2.2 31.4 51.4 17.4
Total*** 123.3 325.8 206.9 672.6 427.7 344.0

* Gains on sales of assets in property projects in Norway amounting to MNOK 62.0 (MNOK 258.1) are also included as profits 
from joint ventures. 

** Figures for 2008 include a gain of MNOK 27.5 resulting from the sale of ownership share in NSS. See Note 11.
*** There are no published share quotations (market prices) for any of Veidekke’s joint ventures or associated companies.
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The four largest investments in associated companies and joint ventures in order of book values at 31 December 2008

Company Division Ownership share Type of company Share of profit Book value

Sjølyststranda Eiendom AS Property Norway 50% FKS 65.8 124.8
Lørenvangen Utvikling AS * Property Norway 50% FKS -1.2 121.2
Lilleby Eiendom AS * Property Norway 50% FKS -0.1 60.4
Allfarveg AS (OPS) Other operations/items 50% FKS 7.4 31.4

* Purchased in 2008. See Note 11.

The Group’s total share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses relating to investments in associated companies and joint
ventures is shown in the table below. The information has been taken from the respective accounts.

2008

Construction Property Industry PPP Total 2007 2006

Profit and Loss Account

Income 23.7 145.5 250.9 10.3 430.4 751.4 996.3
Expenses -26.1 -127.1 -192.9 - -346.1 -660.5 -855.0
Earnings before tax (EBT) -2.4 18.4 58.0 10.3 84.3 90.9 141.3

Balance sheet

Assets

Current assets 22.0 799.1 63.8 57.6 942.5 1 076.7 1 232.5
Non-current assets 0.6 44.8 53.1 668.0 766.5 824.0 848.8
Liabilities

Short-term liabilities 9.2 435.8 42.3 21.6 508.9 757.0 822.2
Long-term liabilities 0.5 196.7 10.4 620.5 828.1 864.1 940.8
Net assets 12.9 211.4 64.2 83.5 372.0 279.6 318.3

Consolidation method:  Equity method

Reconciliation between profit in company accounts and reporting in Veidekke’s consolidated accounts

Earnings

2008 2007 2006

Earnings before tax, associated companies 84.3 90.9 141.3
Estimated tax on profit for the year -21.3 -25.4 -39.6
Earnings after tax, associated companies 63.0 65.5 101.7
Sales of shares in property projects 62.0 258.1 98.5
Other items -1.7 2.2 6.5
In Veidekke’s consolidated accounts 123.3 325.8 206.9

Working partnerships

In some cases Veidekke enters into working partnerships with other construction companies (joint ventures) in order to carry out
major construction contracts. The following table shows the values in the consolidated accounts from working partnerships
(proportional consolidation).

Working partnerships

2008 2007 2006

Profit and Loss Account

Income 291.4 294.1 539.0
Expenses -279.0 -295.1 -631.4
Earnings before tax (EBT) 12.4 -1.0 -92.4

Balance sheet

Assets

Current assets 188.7 124.5 148.5
Non-current assets - 0.1 1.1
Liabilities

Short-term liabilities 142.1 94.4 162.1
Long-term liabilities - - 19.6
Net assets/liabilities 46.6 30.2 -32.1

Consolidation method: Proportional consolidation
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Note 13  PPP-project Allfarveg

As a 50 per cent owner of Allfarveg AS, Veidekke participates in the E39 Lyngdal-Flekkefjord PPP project (PPP = public private
partnership). Allfarveg AS has built and will operate this road for the Public Roads Administration. The building project was
completed in summer 2006. The subsequent operation period is 25 years.

Allfarveg AS contracted out the construction of the road to a working partnership, in which Veidekke has a 70 per cent share. 

The operation and maintenance contract has been awarded to Veidekke through Kolo Veidekke AS. The cost of constructing the road
was approx. BNOK 1.2. To this must be added operation, maintenance and financing. Settlement by the Public Roads Administration
takes place monthly in equal instalments over the 25-year operation period.

Allfarveg AS treats the PPP contract as a financial asset, which is entered in the accounts in accordance with the principles of IFRIC
12 (the financial assets model). Accounting in accordance with the principles of IFRIC 12 is regarded as the most correct treatment
of such a project. The EU has not yet approved IFRIC 12, but in our opinion use of an alternative standard would not give a correct
view of earned profit. The financial asset is reported on the basis of amortised cost.

The working partnership applied continuous income reporting for the construction of the road (treating it like a project). The project
has been handed over and the profit from the construction of the road has been taken to income in the accounts.

The operation and maintenance contract is taken to income continuously over the operation period, in step with the execution of
the work.

Allfarveg AS is a joint venture and Veidekke uses the equity method of accounting for this investment. In 2008, Veidekke’s owner-
ship share in Allfarveg AS (50 per cent) gives Veidekke the right to a share of the profit of MNOK 7.4 (MNOK 4.9). Allfarveg AS is
financed by long-term loans, which are being repaid over the operation period. The interest-rate terms have been hedged with 
interest-rate swaps. As a result of hedge accounting of the interest-rate swaps, MNOK 39.9 (MNOK -29.2) was booked as a
reduction of consolidated equity in 2008. The amount corresponds to Veidekke’s share of the change in the fair value of the 
interest-rate swaps.

31 Dec. 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Fully paid equity shares  0.3 0.3
Conversion from subordinated loan to fully paid new equity performed 15 December 2008 65.9 -
Veidekke’s share of earned profit after tax, accumulated 17.4 9.9
Adjustment for fair value, long-term interest-rate swaps in Allfarveg AS -52.1 -12.2
Received distribution from Allfarveg AS - -
Subordinated loan  - 53.4
Book value in balance sheet at 31 December 31.4 51.4

On 15 December 2008, a subordinated loan of MNOK 65.9 was converted to new equity in Allfarveg AS. 
(The amount includes accrued interests.)

Movements of the year:

2008 2007

Book value in balance sheet at 1 January 51.4 17.3

Conversion from subordinated loan to fully paid new equity 65.9 -
Subordinated loan   -53.4 - 
Veidekke’s share of the profit 7.4 4.9
Adjustment for fair value, long-term interest-rate swaps in Allfarveg AS -39.9 29.2
Book value in balance sheet at 31 December 31.4 51.4
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Note 14  Financial assets

2008 2007 2006

Loans to employees  1) 271.0 271.1 200.7
Shares in Hansa Property Group ASA  2) 16.3 96.8 -
Other shares  * 7.0 17.9 13.9
Other receivables 9.0 19.6 26.0
Financial assets 303.2 405.4 240.6

* Other shares are financial instruments available for sale and recognised in the accounts at fair value.  The original cost prices are 
used as an estimate of fair value.

1) Loans to employees 

2008 2007 2006

Loans to employees at fair value 216.4 216.5 160.3
Long-term advance to employees 54.6 54.6 40.4
Book value 271.0 271.1 200.7

Loans to employees are entered in the balance sheet in accordance with the principles of IAS 39 at fair value. As of today, the loans
are interest-free. The fair value is found by discounting the expected future repayments by the assumed market interest rate. The
estimations are based on an assumed market interest rate of 4.8 per cent after tax and an assumed average remaining term of 5
years. The difference between the fair value and the nominal value of the loans shall be treated as advance payments to employees.
In the balance sheet, the advance payment is presented together with an estimated fair value of the loans. Satisfactory security has
been furnished for the loans. See Note 4.

2) Shares in Hansa Property Group ASA

Original cost 109.4
Loss on impairment recognised through profit or loss -93.1
Book value  16.3

Veidekke ASA owns 3,268,107 shares in Hansa Property Group ASA. This represents an ownership share of 8.7 per cent in the
company. For accounting purposes, the shares in Hansa Property ASA are regarded as available for sale. Increases in value are
entered directly against equity until the asset is sold. If there are objective indications that the value of the shareholding is lower
than the book value, the loss will be incorporated in the profit.

In 2008, the shareholding was written down by MNOK 93.1, and the write-down has been classified as a financial expense.
Following this devaluation, the shares are recorded at NOK 5.00 per share, equivalent to the last known market price in 2008.

Note 15  Non-residential projects

2008

Sites for Under Completed

development construction buildings Total 2007 2006

Projects Norway 40.9 171.9 - 212.8 60.0 64.0
Projects Denmark 16.7 - - 16.7 13.5 14.0
Projects Sweden - 40.4 - 40.4 - -
Balance sheet total 57.6 212.3 - 269.9 73.5 78.0

2008 2007 2006

Gain(+) / loss(-) on sales of 
non-residential projects -1.3 4.3 -
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Note 16  Residential projects

Residential projects involve building housing for sale for Veidekke’s own account. Costs incurred in respect of sites for development
and housing under construction are entered under this item in the balance sheet. Many of the projects have a duration of more than
12 months, and assets will therefore not be realised and settled until after 12 months have passed. Sites for development will
normally be realised after 12 months.

Residential projects 2008 2007 2006

Sites for development 953.8 845.4 417.8
Projects in progress/unsold completed 527.6 451.6 495.0
Balance sheet total 1 481.4 1 297.0 912.8

Residential projects at 31 December

2008

Sites for Under Unsold 2007 2006

development construction completed Total Total Total

Projects Norway 326.3 265.2 210.2 801.7 787.4 546.2
Projects Sweden 372.0 4.6 2.9 379.5 279.7 193.9
Projects Denmark 255.5 - 44.8 300.3 229.9 172.7
Balance sheet total 953.8 269.8 257.9 1481.4 1297.0 912.8

Specification of dwellings under construction and unsold completed dwellings at 31 December 2008

No. of   No. of dwellings No. of dwellings Average

dwellings  under unsold under unsold Average production

construction construction completed ** sales rate * rate *

Projects Norway – subsidiaries 142 56 102 61% 70%
Projects, Norway – assoc. companies 
(Veidekke’s share) *** 43 16 8 63% -
Projects, Sweden – subsidiaries 387 27 2 93% 78%
Projects, Sweden – assoc. companies 
(Veidekke’s share) *** 66 2 1 97% -
Projects, Denmark – subsidiaries - - 17 - -
Total number /total sales rate 638 101 130 84% -

* For units under construction.
** Also includes unsold dwellings that are temporarily let.
*** Shares in associated companies are reported in the balance sheet under investment in associated companies. See Note 12.

Market risk

The market risk within property development can mainly be ascribed to unsold dwellings and the site portfolio, the values of which
will be affected by changes in the market. The tables below present the situation at 31 December 2008 for Veidekke and per
country, and also accounts for the consequences resulting from various market changes.

Unsold dwellings

No. of Original

units under No. of sales value Market value Book value No. of

construction unsold MNOK MNOK MNOK* units let

Under construction 638 101 242 230 192 -
Completed - 130 325 292 264 72
Total 638 231 567 522 456 72

* For projects under construction, book value means expected full cost according to final prognosis.

At the end of 2008, Veidekke’s property development operations in Scandinavia had a total of 638 housing units under construction.
At the same time, the Group had 231 unsold dwellings. 101 of these are under construction, whereas the other 130 are completed.
Most of the unsold dwellings that are under construction, will be completed during the fist half of 2009. Unless the housing market
improves, the projects will be completed before all the units are sold.

The majority of the unsold dwellings are located in Norway, spread over 20 projects. 63 per cent of the completed unsold dwellings
are let. 
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Sensitivity analysis

The building of today’s unsold dwellings was started in 2006/2007, and the prices were set early in 2006. Reference is made to
column 3 in the table above,”Original sales value”, where the price list value totals MNOK 567.

In connection with the year-end closing of accounts, a concrete assessment was made of the value of each dwelling. Column 4 of
the table above shows the total market value, which amounts to MNOK 522. On average, the market value is 8 per cent lower than
the original sales value. The market price assessments are on a level with the sales prices obtained in transactions in January and
February 2009.

Column 5 in the table shows the total book value of the dwellings, amounting to MNOK 456. For the units that are under con-
struction, the book value is established in accordance with the final prognosis. The market value at 31 December is approx. 14 
per cent above the book value.

The table below shows the change in value for the Group if the prices should fall below today’s level (by 10 and 20 per cent, res-
pectively), based on the current portfolio. A large part of the unsold dwellings are let, and lease agreements provide a continuous
cash flow which supports the book values. These dwellings are therefore not included in the sensitivity analysis. For the remaining
part of the portfolio, a price fall of 10 per cent will not necessitate write-downs. Should the prices drop 20 per cent, the necessary
write-downs should be within a limit of MNOK 30.

Necessary Necessary

Market value Book value write-downs in write-downs in 

MNOK MNOK MNOK for 10% price fall MNOK for 20% price fall

All unsold 522 456
- of which let  154 134
Exposure 368 322 - 30

The site portfolio

At the end of 2008, Veidekke’s portfolio of sites in Scandinavia comprised altogether 143 sites, with a development potential for 
approx. 7,600 housing units. A substantial share of the portfolio consists of sites with options to purchase, especially in Sweden
where the municipalities own a large number of sites and offer property developers so-called land allocations. The sites are 
distributed as shown in the following table.

No. of housing units Direct purchases Options to purchase Total

Norway 2 800 500 3 300
Sweden 1 100 2 500 3 600
Denmark 600 - 600
Total 4 500 3 000 7 500

These are expected to be ready for sale according to the table below.

Ready for Ready for Ready for Ready for sale 

Housing units Total number sale in 2009 sale in 2010 sale in 2011 at a later time

Norway 3 300 1 100 800 1 300 100
Sweden 3 600 300 900 800 1 600
Denmark 600 300 300 - -
Total 7 500 1 700 2 000 2 100 1 700

Our share of the total cost price of the sites which Veidekke has a direct obligation to purchase is expected to amount to MNOK
1,766. MNOK 1,117 of this was paid at the end of 2008. The remaining payment related to our share, MNOK 649, is expected to fall
due within 2011. The above mentioned MNOK 649 payment has not been entered in the balance sheet, as transfer of control has
not yet taken place. This payment relates to 4,500 housing units.

The remaining share of the site portfolio consists of sites with options to purchase, meaning that we may, but are not obliged to,
purchase the sites. The largest of the 143 sites in the portfolio are located in Oslo, Stockholm and Trondheim. 

The following is an overview of sites with a purchase price (our share) exceeding MNOK 100:

Purchase price Rental income Price per No. of 

MNOK  2008 GFAS* housing units 

Ownership share  (our share) (MNOK) (NOK) (our share)

Oslo: Johan Throne Holst plass 100% 168 5 9 500 250
Oslo: Lørenvangen 50% 110 5 6 500 259
Oslo: Bertram Narvesens vei 100% 108 6 4 100 377
Trondheim: Ladeveien 100% 108 2 3 600 300
Stockholm: Östermalm 50% 165 - 4 800 205

* GFAS means the housing units’ expected gross floor area for sale.
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These are the sites which are the most sensitive to market changes. However, on several of the sites the already existing buildings
provide regular rental income. All the other sites in the portfolio have a purchase price of less than MNOK 50. The sites have been
purchased over a period of several years, and for the portfolio as a whole, the average price is approx. NOK 4,000 per GFAS. This
means that the site cost’s share of the project costs is in the range of 10 - 12 per cent.

Value assessment

In connection with the year-end closing of accounts, we assessed the value of all the large sites in the portfolio, using the present
value method. This means that all cash flows were discounted to the point in time at which the assessment was made, using a
chosen discounting factor which reflected the Group’s 15 per cent required rate of return. Where possible, we also made
comparisons with equivalent sites.

The assessments show that the present value exceeds the book value, thus write-downs are not necessary. The relatively low value
of the sites provides a sound basis for successful and profitable projects in times ahead. External value assessments have been
obtained for sites in Denmark, which represent MNOK 255.5. These too, concluded that write-downs are not necessary.

Sensitivity analysis

The best benchmarking method involves comparing one’s transactions with equivalent transactions in the same area. As very few
transactions have taken place in the last year, this has proved difficult. Most sellers have chosen to await developments. What we
do know, however, is that we have taken a cautious approach to site purchases, and that most of our sites were purchased at prices
well below the market peak.

In connection with the value assessment, we considered the parameters building start date, sales price and building costs. 
To render visible the effects of market changes is just as difficult as to quantify excess values in a development portfolio.
Nevertheless, the effect of a few scenarios may be described as follows:

1. Moderate fall in sales prices (10-15 per cent)

There is a correlation between variations in sales price and building costs, but it is not parallel. If the sales prices go down, the 
building costs will eventually follow, as both are dependent of activity. This means that it is possible to keep the profit margins
relatively stable even if prices fall. When the site cost’s share of the project costs is low, the effect on the project profit margin is
small, and the value of the site remains, to a large extent, intact.

2. Dramatic fall in sales prices (25-30 per cent)

Although there is a correlation between sales price and building costs, there is a limit to how low the building costs can go.
Furthermore, the site cost’s share of the project costs will increase with a dramatic price drop. The value of the sites will decrease,
and the total effect will most likely be within a limit of MNOK 100.

3. Delays in the start-up of building projects

With a required rate of return of 15 per cent, the value of a site will be affected by changes in the start date for building projects. 
In the estimations performed when purchasing sites, assumptions are made for planning time, and thus also for sales and building
start-up. Everything else being equal, a one year postponement of the building start date will reduce the value of the portfolio by 
15 per cent. Therefore, delays of two to three years have to be made probable before this issue has a significant impact on the
valuation. 
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Note 17  Stocks

Stocks include project stocks and stocks for industry operations. Project stocks consist of materials, spare parts, tools, etc., while
stocks for industry operations consist of aggregates and materials (crushed stone/gravel, bitumen and waste fractions).

2008 2007 2006

Stocks for industry operations 144.7 105.2 69.8
Other stocks 177.8 167.9 202.2
Total stocks 322.5 273.1 272.0

Note 18  Accounts receivable

2008 2007 2006

Invoiced accounts receivable 2 741.1 3 400.8 3 345.7
Provision for bad debts -52.8 -41.1 -53.2
Due from customers 239.6 234.8 223.6
Executed, not invoiced – own account Property 589.9 898.1 1 479.0
Executed, not invoiced – other operations 438.0 572.2 122.2
Invoiced, not executed -1 109.2 -1 321.8 -872.8
Accounts receivable entered in balance sheet 2 846.7 3 743.1 4 244.5

Projects for external clients are normally invoiced monthly with 30 days’ credit. Invoicing is usually done in step with the execution
of the work. For housing projects for Veidekke’s own account, payment takes place on handover, and earned but not invoiced
income is entered under accounts receivable, “Executed, not invoiced”.

Both income and costs are accrued for projects. Earned income which has not been invoiced is entered under "Executed, not
invoiced". Invoiced income which has not been earned is entered under "Invoiced, not executed". Only one of these items may be
applied per project.

If the item “Invoiced, not executed” is larger than book accounts receivable for the project, the surplus is entered as advance
payment from customers under “Other short-term liabilities”. Each project thus shows either a net receivable from the customer or
a net debt to the customer. 

Cost accruals (Accrued, not recorded) are entered under creditors, while provision for guarantee work on completed projects is
entered under guarantee provisions etc.

Parts of the outstanding receivables are secured by bank guarantees, mortgages or other forms of security. As security for housing
purchases, an advance payment is as a rule made on signing the contract. This is deposited in a blocked estate agent’s account, and
the dwelling is not handed over to the customer until it is fully paid.

Note 19  Liquid assets

The Group’s liquid assets consist of bank deposits, of which MNOK 47.5 was restricted at 31 December 2008. The Group has no
short-term investments.
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Note 20  Number of shares, shareholders etc.

Veidekke ASA’s largest shareholders at 31 December 2008

No. of shares Ownership share  

OBOS Forretningsbygg AS 37 469 440 27.6%
IF Skadeförsäkring AB 11 649 680 8.6%
Folketrygdfondet 10 947 750 8.1%
First Securities AS 6 780 000 5.0%
KB Gruppen Kongsvinger AS 6 316 440 4.6%
MP Pensjon 3 100 000 2.3%
Must Invest AS 2 560 250 1.9%
Veidekke ASA 2 254 400 1.7%
DnB NOR Norge (IV) 1 347 847 1.0%
State Street Bank and Trust Co. 1 292 380 1.0%
Bank of New York Mellon 1 020 242 0.8%
Vital Forsikring ASA 861 375 0.6%
JPMorgan Chase Bank 825 560 0.6%
UBS AG. London Branch 796 390 0.6%
JPMorgan Chase Bank 752 605 0.6%
Total, 15 largest 87 974 359 64.7%

Employees 24 516 787 18.0%
Others 23 468 196 17.3%
Total 135 959 342 100.0%

Changes in number of shares  

Issued shares at 1 January 2008 140 164 270 
Cancellation of shares at Annual General Meeting 7 May 2008 -4 204 928
Issued shares at 31 December 2008 135 959 342 

The nominal value of a Veidekke share is NOK 0.50.  

Shares held by senior executives of the company at 31 December 2008

Board of Directors No. of shares  

Göte Dahlin 1) 50 000
Peder Chr. Løvenskiold 2) 272 000
Kari Gjesteby 10 000
Jette Wigand Knudsen 5 000 
Hilde M. Aasheim -
Martin Mæland 3) -
Inge Ramsdal 1 050
Steinar Krogstad 13 465
Eiliv Staalesen 30 768 
Shares held by Board members 382 283

President and CEO Terje R. Venold 2) 339 515

Members of the corporate management team

Dag Andresen 202 625
Arne Giske 164 600
Kai Krüger Henriksen 148 460
Bente Lillestøl 40 660
Torben Bjørk-Nielsen 84 650
Per-Ingemar Persson 112 400
Jørgen Wiese Porsmyr 67 045
Vidar Aarvold 130 830
Shares held by members of the corporate management team 1 290 785

Total 1 673 068

1) Chairman of the Board.
2) Including shares held by closely related persons and companies.
3) President and CEO of OBOS.
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Own shares (Veidekke ASA) Total nominal value MNOK No. of shares Value at 31 December 2008

Shares held by Veidekke ASA 1.1 2 254 400 51.1 

Own shares have been deducted from consolidated equity at their cost price of MNOK 84.2. Veidekke initiated a share buy-back
programme in 2006. This programme was extended by the Annual General Meeting on 7 May 2008. 

The share buy-back programme runs until the next General Annual Meeting or until 31 May at the latest, and allows repurchases of
shares for a total amount of MNOK 6.5, representing approximately 10 per cent of Veidekke ASA’s share capital.

Development in holding of own shares  

No. of shares held at 1 January 2008  1 135 515
Purchases prior to AGM 7 May 2008 3 069 413
Cancelled by the AGM 7 May 2008 -4 204 928
Purchases after AGM 2 254 400 
Holding (no. of shares) at 31 December 2008 2 254 400

Dividends

Dividends for 2007 that were distributed in 2008, amount to MNOK 543.8 (NOK 4.00 per share). The proposed dividend for 2008
amounts to MNOK 334.3 (NOK 2.50 per share).

The distribution of dividends to the parent company’s shareholders affects neither the company’s payable tax or its deferred tax.

Note 21  Pensions

Pension schemes
Veidekke has pension schemes for all its employees in Scandinavia, but the schemes are different in Norway, Sweden and
Denmark.

Norway

In Norway, Veidekke has the following pension schemes:

• General pension scheme
• Contractual early retirement scheme (AFP)
• Early retirement scheme for managers
• Additional scheme for employees with salaries exceeding 12G

General pension scheme

Veidekke has a general pension scheme for all employees in Norway. This is a defined-benefit plan in which the company commits
itself to providing a pension of a specified size, and where the company bears the risk of the return on pension funds. The pension
scheme is provided as a supplement to public pension benefits (through the national insurance scheme), and is financed by funds
accumulated in a life insurance company, which manages the funds and administers the scheme. The scheme covers retirement
pension, disability pension and child’s pension. The earning period for full retirement pension is 30 years. Together with the national
insurance scheme, full earning through the pension scheme provides a retirement pension of around 60 per cent of the salary on
retirement. Pension credit is not earned on salary above 12G (the basic amount of the national insurance scheme), i.e. there is a
ceiling of 12G in the general pension scheme. The pensionable age in Norway is 67, and the pension will be paid for life. The
employer pays all contributions to the general pension scheme, and the cost of the scheme constitutes approx. 8 per cent of the
basic salary. A few smaller companies in Veidekke have defined-contribution plans instead of defined-benefit plans.

Contractual early retirement scheme (AFP)

Most Norwegian Veidekke companies offer a contractual early retirement scheme (AFP) to its employees. This covers the pension
between the ages of 62 and 67, and enables the employees to retire at the age of 62. The AFP scheme was jointly established by
the employers and the organised employees (The Confederation of Norwegian Enterprise, NHO/The Norwegian Confederation of
Trade Unions, LO). The employer pays an annual premium to the scheme based on the wage expenses. In addition, the employer
covers 25 per cent of the pension for employees who have taken early retirement through the AFP scheme. The State also finances
a part of the AFP scheme. The future withdrawal rate for the AFP scheme is expected to be 40 per cent from the age of 62.

Early retirement scheme for managers

Veidekke has a separate early retirement scheme for the top management team in Norway, covering pension for managers 
between the ages of 64 and 67 (a defined-benefit plan which comprises 25 persons). The scheme enables the employees to retire
at the age of 64. Full earning through this early retirement scheme provides a pension of around 60 per cent of the salary on
retirement. The earning period is 15 years from the day the employee is included in the scheme, and the early retirement pension 
is financed through operations. 

Pension above 12G

Veidekke also has an additional scheme for Norwegian employees with salaries exceeding 12G (a defined-benefit plan). The scheme
gives pension credit for salary above 12G, and covers retirement pension, disability pension and child’s pension. Full earning through
the scheme provides employees with salaries exceeding 12G with a retirement pension amounting to 60 per cent of the salary on
retirement, including public pension benefits and Veidekke’s general pension scheme. The earning period for full additional pension
is 15 years from the year the salary exceeds 12G. The pensionable age is 67, and the pension will be paid for life. The pension
scheme is financed through operations.
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2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Veidekke Veidekke Kolo Other Group Group Group Group Group

Entreprenør AS ASA Veidekke AS companies Total Total Total Total Total

Pension costs

Earnings during the year (present value) 56.0 5.3 11.7 22.1 95.1 79.4 77.2 88.3 57.7
Interest on liability 37.4 6.7 10.8 8.7 63.6 51.0 45.5 41.9 36.4
Return on funds -24.5 -5.5 -7.0 -5.0 -42.0 -34.6 -33.0 -34.9 -29.6
Estimate variances entered in profit 
and loss account 14.8 1.5 3.7 0.9 20.9 12.4 8.1 0.4 -
Costs defined-benefit plans 83.7 8.0 19.2 26.7 137.6 108.2 97.8 95.7 64.5
Costs defined-contribution plans 10.0 0.4 3.3 63.5 77.2 80.6 83.7 54.2 39.7
Pension costs 93.7 8.4 22.5 90.2 214.8 188.8 181.5 149.9 104.2

Entered in balance sheet at 31 December

Pension liability -992.5 -155.3 -270.8 -237.4 -1 656.0 -1 363.5 -1 169.0 -1 016.2 -754.0
Pension funds 459.5 94.3 146.5 105.5 805.8 707.7 646.1 563.7 498.7
Net pension liability -533.0 -61.0 -124.3 -131.9 -850.2 -655.8 -522.9 -452.5 -255.1
Estimate variances not entered in 
profit and loss account 385.3 39.6 84.8 87.7 597.4 396.0 266.2 194.9 2.9
Pension liability entered in 

balance sheet -147.7 -21.4 -39.5 -44.2 -252.8 -259.8 -256.7 -257.6 -252.2

Net pension liability

Net liability at 1 January -411.2 -50.8 -101.5 -92.3 -655.8 -522.9 -452.5 -255.1 - 
Pension costs -68.9 -6.5 -15.5 -25.8 -116.7 -95.8 -89.7 -95.3 - 
Estimate variances for the year -140.4 -11.9 -31.5 -38.5 -222.3 -142.2 -79.4 -192.4 - 
Social security contributions and 
employer’s contribution 87.5 8.2 24.2 24.7 144.6 105.1 98.7 90.3 - 
Net liability at 31 December -533.0 -61.0 -124.3 -131.9 -850.2 -655.8 -522.9 -452.5 -255.1

Pension liability

Liability at 1 January -801.2 -148.3 -230.3 -183.7 -1 363.5 -1 169.0 -1 016.2 -754.0 - 
Earnings during the year (present value) -56.0 -5.3 -11.7 -22.1 -95.1 -79.4 -77.2 -88.3 - 
Interest on liability -37.4 -6.7 -10.8 -8.7 -63.6 -51.0 -45.5 -41.9 - 
Estimate variances for the year -118.1 -7.0 -25.7 -27.5 -178.3 -100.0 -65.2 -166.3 - 
Employer’s contribution paid 10.2 0.7 2.4 2.6 15.9 11.5 11.3 10.4 - 
Pensions paid 10.0 11.3 5.3 2.0 28.6 24.4 23.8 23.9 - 
Liability at 31 December -992.5 -155.3 -270.8 -237.4 -1 656.0 -1 363.5 -1 169.0 -1 016.2 -754.0

Pension liability at 31 December  

Fund-based schemes -862.7 -102.3 -225.4 -183.1 -1 373.5 -1 126.0 -984.8 -856.2 - 
Non fund-based schemes -129.8 -53.0 -45.4 -54.3 -282.5 -237.5 -184.2 -160.0 - 
Liability at 31 December -992.5 -155.3 -270.8 -237.4 -1 656.0 -1 363.5 -1 169.0 -1 016.2 -754.0

Pension funds

Funds at 1 January 390.0 97.5 128.8 91.4 707.7 646.1 563.7 498.9 - 
Estimated return 24.5 5.5 7.0 5.0 42.0 34.6 33.0 34.9 - 
Contributions 77.3 7.5 21.8 22.1 128.7 93.6 87.4 79.9 - 
Estimate variances for the year -22.3 -4.9 -5.8 -11.0 -44.0 -42.2 -14.2 -26.1 - 
Pensions paid -10.0 -11.3 -5.3 -2.0 -28.6 -24.4 -23.8 -23.9 - 
Pension funds at 31 December 459.5 94.3 146.5 105.5 805.8 707.7 646.1 563.7 498.9

Denmark

In Denmark, Veidekke has a pension scheme covering all employees. This is a defined-contribution plan in which the company’s only
commitment is to make an annual contribution, while the employees bear the risk of the return on pension funds. The pension scheme is
provided as a supplement to public pension benefits. The pension funds are placed in a life insurance company, which manages the funds
and administers the scheme. The pension scheme covers retirement and disability pension, and the employer pays 2/3 of the contributions,
while the employee pays the remaining 1/3. The employer’s contribution constitutes 8 per cent of the salary, and the employee may choose
the risk profile. The pensionable age in Denmark is 65, but will gradually be raised to 67. The payment of the retirement pension is very
flexible. In the event of death, the pension is payable to surviving dependents.

Sweden

In Sweden, Veidekke has a pension scheme covering all employees. This is a defined-contribution plan in which the company’s only
commitment is to make an annual contribution, while the employees bear the risk of the return on pension funds. The pension scheme is
provided as a supplement to public pension benefits, and the pension funds are placed in life insurance companies, which manage the
funds and administer the scheme. The pension scheme covers retirement and disability pension. The company’s contribution to the scheme
constitutes 10 per cent of the salary, and the pensionable age in Sweden is 65. The payment of the retirement pension is very flexible. In
the event of death, the pension is payable to surviving dependents.
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Financial assumptions  2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Return on pension funds 6.3% 5.8% 5.5% 5.5% 6.5%
Discount rate 4.3% 4.8% 4.5% 4.5% 5.5%
Annual wage growth 4.5% 4.5% 4.2% 3.0% 3.0%
Annual basic pension rate adjustment 4.2% 4.2% 4.2% 3.0% 3.0%
Annual adjustment of pensions under payment 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.5% 2.5%

For contractual early retirement pensions (AFP), a 40% withdrawal rate is used from the age of 62. The anticipated premium for
defined-contribution plans for 2009 is approx. MNOK 150. Estimated mortality is based on the relevant mortality table for Norway
(K2005). Assumptions regarding disability are based on the relevant disability table used by Storebrand.

Veidekke’s financial assumptions are based on the Norwegian Accounting Standards’ guidelines as of 31 October 2008, as perform-
ing pension calculations for a Group the size of Veidekke, is a long and demanding task. However, the assumptions in the
Norwegian Accounting Standards’ guidelines changed from 31 October to 31 December, as the recommended discount rate and
wage growth both were reduced by 0.5 percentage points. A reduction of the discount rate of 0.5 percentage points gives an
increase in pension liability of approx. 13 per cent, while a reduction of the wage growth of 0.5 percentage points gives a reduction
in the pension liability of approx. 12 per cent (see sensitivity analysis). These two effects cancel each other, i.e. the pension costs
and pension liability would have been virtually the same using the assumptions as of 31 December. 

Sensitivity analysis for pension liability and pension costs

Change in pension costs

Discount rate Change in pension liability (Service Cost)

3.8% 12.8% 14.1%
4.3% - -
4.8% -11.0% -12.0%

Future wage growth

4.0% -11.7% -13.1%
4.5% - -
5.0% 13.3% 15.9%

Future pension adjustment

1.5% -6.3% -6.5%
2.0% - -
2.5% 6.9% 7.2%

Basic pension rate adjustment 

3.7% 7.1% 9.7%
4.2% - -
4.7% -7.1% -9.5%

Pension funds 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Investment
Property 17% 15% 10% 9% 10%
Long-term bonds 14% 29% 28% 29% 30%
Short-term bonds, etc. 60% 26% 35% 38% 38%
Shares 9% 30% 27% 24% 22%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Return on investment
Book value 2.0% 8.9% 7.1% 6.9% 6.4%
Value adjustment -0.5% 7.3% 8.3% 6.9% 7.0%
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Note 22  Income tax expense and deferred tax

Income tax expense 2008 2007 2006

Payable tax 320.4 119.6 160.5
Change in deferred tax -120.3 60.3 39.6
Total 200.1 179.9 200.1

Deviation in income tax expense 2008 2007 2006

28% of earnings before tax 228.4 28.0% 330.7 28.0% 258.4 28.0%
Actual income tax expense 200.1 24.5% 179.9 15.2% 200.1 21.7%
Deviation 28.3 3.5% 150.8 12.8% 58.3 6.3%

Deviation in income tax expense

Non-deductible expenses -16.3 -8.7 -12.5
Lower tax rate in Denmark (25%) -0.6 -3.0 - 
Profit associated companies/joint ventures 
(equity method)1) 27.3 17.1 29.2
Tax-related write-down - 24.1 11.4
Tax-free gains on shares  53.1 120.7 62.3
Use of deferred tax assets 2) -7.5 -15.7 -18.7
Write-down of shares available for sale -26.1 - - 
Change in tax rate in Denmark from 28 to 25% - 3.1 - 
Change in tax rate in Sweden from 28 to 26.3% -2.2 - - 
Corrections previous years - 9.2 - 
Other items  0.6 4.0 -13.4
Total 28.3 150.8 58.3

1) Profit from associated companies and joint ventures. For these companies the equity method of accounting is used, incorporating
the earnings after tax, and this gives a positive deviation in income tax expense.

2) This refers to reporting (use) of deferred tax assets in Sweden, i.e. loss carry-forward. Book tax assets were reduced by 
MNOK 7.5 in 2008.  

At 31 December 2008, Veidekke reported deferred tax assets in Sweden amounting to MNOK 26.0 in the balance sheet.
Anticipated taxable profit in Sweden indicate that the book deferred tax assets can be used in the course of three years. There is no
time limit for loss carry-forward in Sweden. In addition, Veidekke has deferred tax assets in Sweden of MNOK 34.5 which have not
been entered in the balance sheet.

Basis for deferred tax                                   Book value deferred tax  

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Projects in progress etc. (short-term items) 1 112.8 1 339.8 917.8 309.6 372.9 257.0
Loss carry-forward  -238.8 -257.4 -103.3 -61.0 -69.0 -28.9
Non-current assets – additional depreciation 35.7 36.5 9.2 9.3 9.7 2.6
Gain and loss account 43.0 53.7 65.1 12.0 15.0 18.2
Guarantee funds etc. -717.0 -425.5 -388.2 -200.7 -119.0 -108.7
Pension liability -215.6 -229.8 -232.5 -60.4 -64.3 -65.1
Other long-term items 154.7 85.5 114.6 43.0 23.9 32.1
Deferred tax (timing differences) 174.9 602.8 382.7 51.8 169.3 107.2

Balance sheet deferred tax – tax assets that cannot be offset against deferred tax -35.9 -45.6 -21.1
Balance sheet deferred tax 87.7 214.9 128.3
Net balance sheet deferred tax 51.8 169.3 107.2
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Effect of deferred tax on profit 2008 2007 2006

Projects in progress etc. (short-term items) -63.4 116.0 5.7
Loss carry-forward 8.0 -40.1 -
Additional depreciation -0.4 7.1 11.8
Gain and loss account -3.0 -3.2 -1.8
Guarantee funds -81.7 -10.3 7.8
Pension liability 4.0 0.8 2.3
Other long-term items 19.1 -8.1 20.1
Change in deferred tax  -117.4 62.1 45.9

Conversion differences 2.9 0.1 -
Deferred tax related to acquisitions -5.8 -1.9 -6.3
Effect of deferred tax on profit -120.3 60.3 39.6

Tax reported directly to equity

In 2008, MNOK 9.9 (MNOK 16.7) was entered as a reduction in payable tax and increase in equity relating to sales of own 
shares at a discount to employees of the Group. Reference is made to Note 4.  
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Note 23  Long-term liabilities

Long-term debts to credit institutions

Long-term liabilities 2008 2007 2006

Long-term drawings on committed borrowing facilities, DnB NOR 827.1 419.0 674.7
Other loans, credit institutions 57.3 38.9 42.2
Debts to credit institutions 884.4 457.9 716.9

Other long-term debts, not interest-bearing

Other long-term liabilities 2008 2007 2006

Deferred payment in connection with purchases of development sites 74.5 66.4 - 
Anticipated purchase sum shares Seby AS and Br. Reme AS* 28.0 43.0 44.0
Intra-Group gain relating to sale of associated company - - 71.6
Long-term commitments – financial instruments - - 3.4
Other long-term liabilities 12.2 1.4 19.7
Other long-term liabilities 114.7 110.8 138.7 

Instalment profile details can be found in Note 30.

* Veidekke has ownership shares in the subsidiaries Seby AS and Br. Reme AS of 70 per cent (70 per cent) and 94 per cent (91 per 
cent), respectively. Veidekke has a right and obligation to purchase the remaining shares in these companies, and for this reason 
these companies are regarded as wholly-owned subsidiaries. This means that the estimated purchase price is entered under 
long-term liabilities, while 100 per cent of goodwill on purchase is entered as an asset. The estimated remaining purchase sum is 
updated each year.

Note 24  Short-term debts to credit institutions etc.

Short-term liabilities 2008 2007 2006

Bank overdraft 0.4 - - 
Debt instruments and building loans linked with property development - 163.2 331.2
Debts to credit institutions 0.4 163.2 331.2

Note 25  Creditors and other short-term liabilities

Creditors 2008 2007 2006

Book creditors 1 471.2 1 955.1 1 799.5 
Expenses accrued, not booked 1 064.3 1 075.4 1 067.2 
Total creditors 2 535.5 3 030.5 2 866.7 

Other short-term liabilities

Advance payments from customers 493.4 428.5 685.9
Other liabilities 802.8 551.7 375.5
Total other short-term liabilities 1 296.2 980.2 1 061.4

Advance payments from customers refer to invoiced income from projects that has not been earned (Invoiced, not executed).
Unpaid holiday pay is included in Other liabilities. Reference is also made to Note 18 Accounts receivable.
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Note 26  Guarantee funds etc.

2008 2007 2006

Total guarantee funds etc. 1 January 620.8 563.4 564.0
Exchange rate difference  50.2 7.0 -5.1
+ new provisions for guarantees (additions)  537.4 333.5 278.7
-  reversed provisions for guarantees (disposals)  -97.2 -132.1 -121.3
-  accrued guarantee expenses (consumptions)  -146.8 -151.0 -161.5
Total guarantee funds etc. at 31 December 964.3 620.8 563.4

Accrued guarantee commitments etc. 36.3 45.4 30.9
Uncertain guarantee commitments  928.1 575.4 532.5
Total guarantee funds etc. at 31 December 964.3 620.8 563.4

Liability for non-conformity

A project must be handed over to the customer as specified in the contract. If projects do not conform with the contract when
handed over, it is the responsibility of the construction company to correct this non-conformity at no extra cost to the customer. 
The guarantee period is normally from three to five years. 

Complaints for any visible non-conformities must be submitted by the customer on takeover. During the complaint period, the
construction company is usually responsible for concealed non-conformities. After the expiry of the complaint period, the 
construction company is only responsible for concealed non-conformities that are due to gross or wilful negligence. The final
limitation period is 13 years.

There are mainly two types of contracts in the construction industry: execution contracts and turnkey contracts. In execution
contracts, the construction company is responsible for non-conformities relating to the execution of the work, while the customer is
responsible for non-conformities arising from the design. In turnkey contracts, the construction company also takes responsibility
for the design.

Guarantee funds etc.

Provision is made under ”Guarantee funds etc.” for work under guarantee, i.e. for correction of non-conformities in completed
projects. Guarantee funds etc. also cover other obligations, such as claims from subcontractors, claims from third parties, etc. 
A distinction is made between provisions for:

• Accrued guarantee commitments, etc.: Provision for actual incurred and relatively certain obligations, i.e. known repair work to 
be carried out within a short time and where the costs can be estimated with great certainty.

• Uncertain guarantee commitments, etc.: Provision for concealed non-conformities, i.e. defects that are not known. This also 
applies to known non-conformities where there is uncertainty attached to scope, liability, costs, etc. (e.g. disputes).

Note 27  Mortgages, guarantees and joint and several liabilities

Mortgages 2008 2007 2006

Book liabilities secured by mortgages etc. 55.7 197.1 209.7
Book value of mortgaged buildings, sites/machinery 55.8 328.5 261.4

Guarantees

Guarantees to associated companies - - 26.5 

The Group has issued negative mortgage declarations for loans and guarantees.

As a result of its participation in partnerships and joint ventures, Veidekke could become liable for other participants’ inability to fulfil
their obligations. However, Veidekke cannot be called to account until the company in question is unable to meet its obligations. 
The scope of such participation is limited.
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Note 28  Capital management

It is Veidekke’s aim to give its shareholders a high long-term return on their investment in the company, and to have a strong 
financial position. Good profitability throughout the Group is crucial to achieve this. 

The Group entities are managed in accordance with several financial and non-financial parameters, adapted to the different entities
according their individual character. 

• For construction operations, targets have been set for project and profit margins. The long-term target for construction operations 
is a profit margin of 5.0 per cent before tax. In 2008, the target was achieved, as the profit margin for construction operations as 

a whole reached 5.0 per cent (3.6 per cent).

• For property development operations, tied up capital in the form of invested capital and the return on this are important target 
figures. By invested capital we mean book equity and net interest-bearing liabilities. 

The total invested capital within property development at 31 December 2008 was MNOK 2,504 (MNOK 2,346). The return on 
invested capital for 2008 was 8.0 per cent (25.2 per cent), calculated as earnings before financial items divided by average 
invested capital. The Group’s long-term target is a return on invested capital of at least 15 per cent over an economic cycle.

In addition to this, risk exposure in the form of sales rate for dwellings under construction and number of unsold completed 
dwellings are important target figures. As of 31 December 2008, the sales rate for dwellings under construction was 84 per cent, 

and the Group had 130 (38) completed unsold dwellings. 

• The long-term target for industry operations is a profit margin of 6.5 per cent before tax. In 2008, the profit margin was 2.1 per 
cent (4.5 per cent). The target for return on invested capital is minimum 15 per cent. Industry operations achieved a return of 

11.3 per cent (16.1 per cent) in 2008. Because of the seasonal fluctuations in the activities within industry operations, the average 
invested capital for the year is used when calculating the return. 

Veidekke intends to have a strong financial position. Important instruments in steering the Group’s capital structure are the Group’s
dividend policy, share buy-back and net investment level. Net interest-bearing liabilities as a percentage of book equity (gearing) is a
target figure in following up capital structure. 

• Gearing as of 31 December 2008 was 12 per cent (-8 per cent).
• Group equity ratio at 31 December 2008 was 23.6 per cent (26.3 per cent). The target here is a year-end equity ratio of 25 per cent. 
• The dividend ratio for 2008 (proposed dividends/earnings per share) is 56 per cent (56 per cent). The Group’s dividend policy 

indicates a dividend of minimum 50 per cent of earnings per share.

In the case of non-financial parameters, Veidekke attaches importance to systematic measurement and follow-up adapted to the 
individual character of the different business areas. Areas that are followed up are injuries, absence, improvement processes with
employee involvement and customer orientation. 

Note 29  Financial risk

It is Veidekke’s aim to have a strong financial position. In order to achieve this, good operational management, low risk exposure,
and a sound management of the parameters influencing the financial risk, are important factors. Financial management and control
is an integral part of the Group’s strategy process, and the Group’s financial policy sets the guidelines for the management of
financial risk. 

The Group’s financial policy has been approved by the Board of Directors, and is maintained by the corporate staff in cooperation
with the individual business areas. The corporate staff is responsible for tasks relating to financing and management of interest rate
and currency risk, while the business areas manage the risks relating to ongoing operations, for example credit risk.

Veidekke makes use of financial instruments such as bank and certificate loans. The purpose of these financial instruments is to
procure capital for investment in the Group’s activities.

Veidekke is primarily exposed to risk through financial instruments such as accounts receivable, liquidity and interest-bearing
liabilities. The risk is related to credit, market and liquidity matters. 

(1) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss due to the inability of a customer or the counterpart of a financial instrument to fulfil their
contractual obligations. The Group’s credit risk is mainly attached to the settlement of receivables, including the largest risk which is
inherent in the Group’s accounts receivable. The credit risk attached to accounts receivable is related to the customer’s ability to
pay, and not to the customer’s willingness to pay, as this is a project risk. Further details regarding project risk is provided in a
separate section. 

The Group has a considerable share of public customers (36 per cent), for whom the credit risk is considered very low. For our
private customers (64 per cent), we seek to handle the credit risk within the Group’s various divisions through methods adapted to
the individual character of the different business areas.
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For construction projects, importance is attached to thorough assessments in the tender process, settlement of work according to
progress, contractual guarantees and active follow-up of outstanding claims. 

On signing contracts, the credit risk depends on the specific design of agreements with the client. As a part of Veidekke’s risk
management, the management systems contain clear procedures for the design of contracts, including specifications stating that
agreed payment plans shall be closely linked with planned progress. In addition, turnkey contracts are, to a large extent, based on
national standards (e.g. Standards Norway), which contain standard requirements for the client’s provision of security for the
contract price (Standards Norway require up to 17.5 per cent of the contract price during the building period). Together, these two
measures mean that exposure to credit risk within ordinary construction projects is regarded as low.

For the Industry Division, which has a considerably larger number of customers, importance is placed on procedures for credit
rating, timely invoicing, guarantees and active follow-up of outstanding claims. 

Within property operations, we seek to minimise risk through advance payments, and by ensuring that handover does not take
place until the dwellings are paid. 

The Group has no significant credit risk relating to any one party or to any parties that may be regarded as a group based on
similarities in credit risk. However, at 31 December 2008, the Group had receivables from public authorities (state and municipal
level) in Scandinavia totalling MNOK 806.

The Group has not acted as guarantor for any third party’s debts.

(2) Project risk

There is always a risk that the customer is not willing to settle its debts. This is regarded as an operating risk and not a financial risk,
and is handled as part of the ordinary project valuation. Accounting details can be found in Note 18 Accounts receivable.

(3) Interest rate risk

Due to its low net interest-bearing position, the interest rate risk for the Group as a whole is low. However, the various divisions are
exposed to interest rate risk based on their different financial positions. In some partly-owned companies, interest derivatives are
used to hedge against considerable long-term interest risk.

The Group, to some extent, uses interest rate derivatives to reduce fluctuations in profit figures arising from changes in interest rate
levels, i.e. interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of loans. In recent years, our financial position has strengthened, and the need
for interest rate derivatives has diminished. 

The Group does not use hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39 for this type of agreement. Such agreements are entered at
fair value, and change in value is charged/credited to the profit and loss account. MNOK 2.1 (MNOK 5.5) relating to these agree-
ments was taken to income in 2008. The agreements expire in January 2009.

Determination of fair value

The fair value of the Group’s interest rate swaps is set using the forward rate on the balance sheet date, and is confirmed by the
financial institution with which the agreement is signed.

The current interest rate level is expected to have a significant effect on the demand for the Group’s products, particularly among
private customers. Therefore, an indirect interest rate risk is inherent in the general market risk. Increasing interest rates normally
entail lower activity for the Group’s building and construction operations, and also reduce sales of dwellings from the Group’s
entities within property development.

(4) Liquidity risk

Veidekke has secured its long-term financing through borrowing facilities which, taking into account the right of renewal, is effective
until 2012. The level is well adjusted to the Group’s strategy and planned operations for the years ahead.

Veidekke has committed borrowing facilities totalling NOK 2,100 million in DnB NOR. These facilities expire on 2 November 2010,
but Veidekke has the right to extend them until 2 November 2012. At the end of 2008, unused committed borrowing facilities
amounted to MNOK 1,273 (MNOK 1,681). The borrowing facilities are based on a negative mortgage declaration and are conditional
on Veidekke’s financial key figures (covenants), as well as sales of significant assets without consent and own account risk in resi -
dential and non-residential projects. Veidekke meets all the conditions laid down in the loan agreement, and has satisfactory free-
dom of action.

The Group also has other substantial borrowing facilities available to it, to meet its current performance guarantees for construction
projects.

In order to handle liquidity risks in projects for own account within property operations, the Group has set a requirement stating
that projects shall not be started up until the sales rate exceeds 50 per cent. Projects for own account are often organised in
companies in which Veidekke has an ownership share of 50 per cent.

For more information, see Note 19 on liquid assets, Note 23 on long-term interest-bearing liabilities, Note 24 on short-term interest-
bearing liabilities and Note 27 on mortgages and guarantees.
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(5) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, e.g. currency exchange rates, interest rates and share prices, will influence the
revenues or values of financial instruments. The purpose of market risk management is to ensure that the risk exposure is well
within the defined limits, while at the same time, risk-adjusted yield is optimised. 

Currency risk

Fluctuations in currency rates have little direct influence on Veidekke, as its operations are largely national in character and the
project cash flows are normally in the same currency. Any substantial currency risks that arise, are hedged through forward ex-
change contracts or similar arrangements. Equity in foreign subsidiaries is not hedged and changes will affect consolidated equity. 

Net currency gains in 2008 were entered at MNOK 5.0 (MNOK -3.1). The Group had no financial derivatives for currency hedging at
31 December 2008.

Market price risk – shares

The Group is exposed to price risk related to equity instruments through investments classified as available for sale. This applies
primarily to shares. This type of investment is normally not a part of the Group’s investment strategy. Veidekke prioritises invest-
ments in companies and projects which allow the Group considerable influence on future operations and development. 

The Group has only one significant financial investment which may be classified as available for sale, and that is the shareholding in
Hansa Property Group ASA. The shares were mainly purchased as a part settlement of the sale of a property project in 2007, and at
31 December 2008, they had a book value of MNOK 16.3. 

(6) Derivatives and hedging of material derivatives

Raw materials/materials for use in production
Veidekke to a small extent hedges input factors for use in production. When hedging does occur, it is not performed until after the
order has been placed, and may include hedging of price and quantity in e.g. deliveries of steel.

The petroleum product bitumen is an important input factor in the asphalt operations within the Industry Division. The price
development for this product is closely linked with the development of the oil price. However, bitumen costs are rarely hedged. The
reason for this is that our largest customer, the Public Roads Administration, contractually bears the risk related to the price
development for bitumen. As regards deliveries to other customers, the time between order placement and execution is usually
short, thus reducing the risk related to price changes.

Veidekke has one hedging contract for bitumen in asphalt operations. The value of the agreement totals MNOK 3.5, and the agree-
ment is effective until 30 August 2009. As of 31 December 2008, the fair value is equal to the agreed future delivery price.

Note 30  Financial instruments

Exposure to credit risk   

The balance sheet value of financial assets basically represents the maximum credit exposure. There is a separate assessment for
the company’s accounts receivables. Maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group’s financial assets on the balance sheet date is
shown in the following table.

2008 2007 2006

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1.4 2.1 - 
Long-term receivables 280.2 290.8 226.8 
Accounts receivable  1) 2 846.7 3 743.1 4 244.5 
Short-term receivables 318.2 232.7 193.2 
Total credit risk financial assets 3 446.5 4 268.7 4 664.5 

1) Details regarding unhedged credit risk related to accounts receivable are provided below.

Overview of accounts receivable that are invoiced and entered in the balance sheet

2008 2007 2006

Invoiced accounts receivable 2 741.1 3 400.8 3 345.7
Accounts receivable entered in balance sheet 2 846.7 3 743.1 4 244.5 

Reference is made to Note 18 for details regarding accounts receivable that are invoiced and entered in the balance sheet.
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Age distribution of invoiced accounts receivable at 31 December

2008 2007 2006

Receivables not due for payment 1 397.4 2 020.5 1 803.2
Less than 30 days since due date 526.7 602.5 757.3
30-60 days since due date 167.2 111.3 324.0
60-90 days since due date 123.2 204.2 136.3
90-180 days since due date 289.1 67.1 49.0
More than 180 days since due date * 237.6 395.2 275.8
Invoiced accounts receivable 2 741.1 3 400.8 3 345.7

* Receivables that are overdue by more than 180 days involve large amounts of money. This may be ascribed to disputes which 
take time to resolve, and which, in some cases, must be resolved legally. Any impairment of a receivable based on project risk 
will normally be included in the individual evaluation of the project’s final prognosis.  

Credit risk is the risk that a customer becomes insolvent and is not able to settle its debts with Veidekke (bankruptcy risk).

Estimation of unhedged credit risk for accounts receivable

2008

Accounts receivable entered in balance sheet 2 846.7 
Received bank guarantees related to the accounts receivable 565.4 
Other guarantees  69.7 
Security in property 1) 527.8 
Receivables from public authorities (state and municipal level) 2) 805.8 
Unhedged credit risk in accounts receivable 878.1 

1) The value of security in property has been assessed at fair value.
2) It is assumed that the credit risk related to receivables from public authorities in Scandinavia is non-existent.

Changes in provision for impairment related to credit risk from accounts receivable

2008 2007

Provision at 1 January 41.1 53.2 
Conversion difference 0.6 0.2 
Provision made during the year 40.7 34.0 
Provision used during the year -5.8 -1.6
Provision reversed during the year -23.8 -44.7
Provision at 31 December 52.8 41.1 

Available-for-sale financial assets

2008 2007

Original cost at 1 January  114.7 13.9 
Additions available-for-sale financial assets 12.7 100.8 
Change in value entered in profit and loss account -93.1 - 
Change in value entered in balance sheet - - 
Sales/deduction from the class available-for-sale * -11.1 - 
Available-for-sale financial assets 23.2 114.7 

* Deduction from the class available-for-sale for 2008 refers to shares in a company that went bankrupt in 2008. The loss is 
presented under losses on sales of financial assets – shares available for sale. Veidekke only has share investments in the class 
available-for-sale financial assets. Change in value entered in the profit and loss account refers to the shareholding in Hansa 
Property Group ASA. For further details, see Note 14.
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Interest rate risk

Overview of agreements related to interest rate derivatives at 31 December 2008:
Interest rate Change in

Interest-rate agreements Nominal value Due date (incl. margin) Fair value   value 2008

5-year swap 100.0 Jan. 2009 5.22% 0.7 -0.3
5-year swap 100.0 Jan. 2009 5.03% 0.7 -
Expired contracts -0.3
Total 200.0 5.13% 1.4 -0.6

The Group does not use hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39 for these agreements. They are entered at fair value, and
change in value is charged/credited to the profit and loss account. MNOK 2.1 relating to these agreements was taken to income in
2008. This includes realised change in value.

Overview of effective interest rates for selected financial instruments in 2008: 

31 Dec. 2008**          2008* 2007*

Liquidity 4.1% 5.5% 4.6%
Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 4.5% 5.9% 5.0%
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 4.5% 5.9% 5.0%

* The average effective interest rate is calculated as the average of the rates applying to the respective holdings through the year.
** Actual interest rates at 31 December 2008.

Sensitivity analysis of cash flow for financial instruments

Taking into account the financial instruments, assets and interest-rate swap agreements existing at 31 December 2008, a general
rise in the interest rate of 1 per cent will reduce earnings before tax by approx. MNOK 8.5. An equivalent reduction of the interest
rate level will lead to a corresponding improvement of earnings before tax. The assessment does not include the investment in the
joint venture Allfarveg AS. It should be noted that the estimation is based on the financial instruments on the balance sheet date, 
31 December 2008. At this point in time, the Group has its most advantageous interest-bearing position. This means that a change
in the interest rate level in reality will have a stronger effect than indicated by the estimation.

Hedging - Allfarveg PPP project

As a 50 per cent owner of Allfarveg AS, Veidekke participates in the E39 Lyngdal-Flekkefjord PPP project (PPP = public private
partnership). Allfarveg AS has built and will operate this road for the Public Roads Administration. The project was completed in
summer 2006 at the end of a 3-year construction period. The operation period is 25 years. Allfarveg is financed by long-term loans
repayable over the life of the project. Future payments on this loan are hedged with an interest-rate swap. Veidekke’s share of profit
in Allfarveg is 59.3 per cent. The interest rate swap satisfies the requirements for hedge accounting. Key figures for loans and inter-
est rate swaps are shown in the table below.

Nominal value Due date Fair value

Financing
Loan 681.4 February 2030 681.4
Hedging
Interest-rate swaps 665.4 February 2030 717.5

Changes in the equity hedge fund:

Hedge fund at 31 December 2006 -41.5

Change 2007 29.3
Hedge fund at 31 December 2007 -12.2

Change 2008 -39.9
Hedge fund at 31 December 2008 -52.1

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate swaps in Allfarveg

A change in the interest rate of 100 basis points (bp) would have increased/reduced equity by the following amounts:

Earnings Equity

100 bp increase 100 bp reduction 100 bp increase 100 bp reduction

Interest rate instrument Allfarveg - - 44.8 -55.8
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Liquidity risk

Maturity structure for the Group’s long-term liabilities

Total

Book value, contractual 

Maturity/repayment structure balance sheet 2009 2010 2011 2012 After 2012 cash flows

Used committed borrowing facilities DnB NOR * 827.1 - 896.7 - - - 896.7
Other loans, credit institutions 57.3 29.3 12.9 9.5 7.8 4.7 64.2
Other long-term liabilities 114.7 4.1 6.7 76.9 2.8 28.0 118.4
Contractual site obligations not entered 
in balance sheet ** - 246.8 105.9 74.7 - - 427.4
Total 999.1 280.2 1 022.2 161.1 10.6 32.7 1 506.7 

* Total contractual cash flows include accumulated interest rates up until the borrowing facilities expire 2 November 2010. 
The statement is based on the assumption that no interest is paid before the agreement expires.

** Includes expected obligations in consolidated companies. Reference is made to the section describing the site portfolio in 
Note 16 Residential projects.

Long-term operating lease agreements are not taken into account in the table. Reference is made to Note 32 Lease commitments
for details regarding anticipated future cash flows.

Key figures 2008 2007 2006

Unused committed borrowing facilities 1 272.9 1 681.3 1 275.3 
Weighted effective interest rate 5.9% 5.0% 4.3%

Maturity structure short-term liabilities

Maturity/repayment structure 2008

Payable on   

Book value, demand, due 0-3 3-12 More than Anticipated 

balance sheet date not set months months 12 months cash flow

Short-term debts to credit institutions 0.4 - 0.4 - - 0.4
Creditors 1) 2 535.5 621.0 1 834.3 64.8 15.4 2 535.5 
Guarantee funds 2) 964.3 964.3 - - - 964.3 
Unpaid government charges 425.6 - 413.9 9.3 2.4 425.6 
Payable tax 290.1 - 44.1 246.1 - 290.1 
Short-term liabilities 1 296.3 417.8 596.2 282.3 - 1 296.3 
Total short-term liabilities 5 512.2 2 003.1 2 888.9 602.5 17.8 5 512.2 

Maturity/repayment structure 2007

Short-term debts to credit institutions 163.2 153.3 - 9.9 - 163.2
Creditors 1) 3 030.5 755.8 2 218.6 47.1 9.0 3 030.5 
Guarantee funds 2) 620.8 - - - - - 
Unpaid government charges 422.7 - 415.4 4.4 2.9 422.7 
Payable tax 152.5 - - - - - 
Short-term liabilities 980.2 314.8 298.2 367.2 - 980.2 
Total short-term liabilities 5 369.9 1 223.9 2 932.2 428.6 11.9 4 596.6 

1) When the due date is not set for creditors, this is largely related to project accrual due to invoice not being received.
2) In many cases it is difficult to estimate the time at which guarantee funds will be paid out, because project guarantee funds 

cover the whole complaint period. Therefore, we have not set up a profile for expected payment time.
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Fair value and balance sheet value for financial assets and obligations

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Book value, Book value,

balance sheet Fair value balance sheet Virkelig verdi

Available-for-sale financial assets 23.0 23.0 114.7 114.7 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1.4 1.4 2.1 2.1 
Long-term receivables 225.6 225.6 236.2 236.2 
Accounts receivable 2 846.7 2 846.7 3 743.1 3 743.1 
Short-term receivables 318.2 318.2 232.7 232.7 
Liquid assets 354.0 354.0 272.4 272.4 
Total assets 3 768.9 3 768.9 4 601.2 4 601.2 

Long-term debts to credit institutions 842.8 842.8 419.0 419.0 
Financial leasing obligations 41.6 41.6 38.9 38.9 
Other long-term liabilities 114.7 114.7 110.8 110.8 
Short-term debts to credit institutions 0.4 0.4 163.2 163.2 
Guarantee funds  964.3 964.3 620.8 620.8 
Creditors 2 535.5 2 535.5 3 030.5 3 030.5 
Unpaid government charges 425.6 425.6 422.7 422.7 
Payable tax 290.1 290.1 152.5 152.5 
Other short-term liabilities 1 296.2 1 296.2 980.2 980.2 
Total liabilities 6 511.2 6 511.2 5 938.6 5 938.6 

Methods used to determine the fair value of financial instruments

The following of the company’s financial instruments are not entered at fair value: liquid assets, accounts receivable, other short-
term receivables and long-term debts to credit institutions. The balance sheet values for liquid assets and long-term debts to credit
institutions are virtually the same as the fair value since these instruments have a short maturity term. Correspondingly, the balance
sheet values of accounts receivable and creditors are virtually the same as the fair value, as they are agreed upon under ”normal”
terms. This also applies to unpaid government charges and payable tax.

It is difficult to estimate the fair value of guarantee funds as it is not possible to establish a clear maturity profile. The book value is
regarded at the best estimate of fair value. Long-term debts have a variable interest rate and continuous interest rate adjustment,
and therefore, the balance sheet value is approximately the same as the fair value.



Veidekke financial report 2008 +++ 63+

Note 31  Compensation to senior executives

Declaration to the Annual General Meeting on principles for determining management salaries

The Board of Directors must give a report to the Annual General Meeting on the determination of salaries and other compensation
to senior executives, as laid down in § 6-16a of the Public Limited Companies Act. The declaration for 2009 will be enclosed with
the Notice of the Annual General Meeting.

Salaries for the company’s senior executives are founded on information obtained from wage statistics, based on the 
responsibilities and complexity of the positions, as well as comparisons with pay levels for other enterprises in and outside of 
the industry. Veidekke’s strategy is to offer competitive salaries. However, the company does not wish to be a wage leader. 
A bonus programme has been established under which the maximum payment is set at 30 per cent of annual salary. This is based
on budgets and target achievement in relation to agreed action plans. Veidekke’s managers also participate in the company’s general
programme for shares to senior executives at discount prices and with financial assistance. Veidekke has no share option schemes.

Implemented management compensation policy for 2008 and effects for the company and shareholders of agreements

entered into and changed

The salary adjustments that were made in 2008, and the bonus that was paid in 2008 based on the financial results in 2007,
complied with the declaration given to the Annual General Meeting on 7 May 2008. No significant changes have been made in the
salaries for the corporate management team. 

Compensation to the President and CEO and the corporate management team:

2008 2007

Car, phone, interest  Total Total

Salary Bonus rate advantage compensation compensation

President and CEO

Terje R. Venold 3.3 0.9 0.3 4.5 3.9 
Corporate management

Dag Andresen 2.2 0.7 0.3 3.2 2.7
Arne Giske 1.7 0.5 0.2 2.4 2.2
Kai Krüger Henriksen 1.5 0.4 0.2 2.1 2.0
Jørgen Wiese Porsmyr* 1.4 0.3 0.2 1.9 1.1
Bente Lillestøl* 1.1 0.2 0.2 1.5 0.5
Vidar Aarvold* 1.6 0.4 0.3 2.3 1.4 
Torben Bjørk-Nielsen 2.9 0.4 0.1 3.4 3.5
Per-Ingemar Persson 2.2 0.5 0.1 2.8 2.5
Total CEO and corporate management 17.9 4.3 1.9 24.1 19.8 

2008

Present value of Loan for 

Pension cost*** pension commitment share purchases Other loans

President and CEO

Terje R. Venold 1.8 22.6 2.8
Corporate management

Dag Andresen 0.6 9.2 1.6
Arne Giske 0.7 4.9 2.0 
Kai Krüger Henriksen 0.6 4.5 1.6 0.2
Jørgen Wiese Porsmyr 0.3 2.5 1.1 
Bente Lillestøl 0.4 2.9 0.9
Vidar Aarvold 0.5 5.3 1.7 0.3 
Torben Bjørk-Nielsen 0.6 1.5
Per-Ingemar Persson 0.6 0.6 
Total CEO and corporate management 13.8 51.9 13.8 0.5

* Jørgen Wiese Porsmyr, Bente Lillestøl and Vidar Aarvold joined the corporate management team at different times in 2007. The 
salary for 2007 is therefore not directly comparable with that of 2008.

** Premium for defined-contribution pension plan.
*** The pension costs consist of contributions earned during the year, included in the profit and loss account.

**

**
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President and CEO

In 2008, the President and CEO received a bonus in accordance with an established bonus programme, which implies a bonus payment of up
to 30 per cent of annual salary in any one year. The bonus is calculated on the basis of the company’s profits measured against budget and goal
achievement in relation to a personal action plan set up in consultation with the Compensation Committee and Board of Directors.

The President and CEO has a 12-month notice period. On termination of employment by the company he is guaranteed a further 12 months’
salary. A deduction will be made from this guaranteed salary for any salary or other remuneration the President and CEO may receive from a
new employer. The President and CEO has a right to resign from his position on reaching the age of 60. The Board of Directors has requested
that the President and CEO continues, and he has agreed to remain in his position until minimum the age of 62. His annual early retirement
pension until the age of 67 will be the equivalent of 60 per cent of his pension basis and will be adjusted in accordance with the consumer
price index. A retirement pension will be paid for life from the age of 67 and will be the equivalent of 60 per cent of the pension basis on
retirement. The pension basis will not be adjusted during the period from retirement to 67 years of age. Any national insurance payments and
collective insurances will be deducted from the guaranteed pension. 

The President and CEO takes part in Veidekke’s share programme for employees and purchased a total of 7,100 shares through the programme
in 2008. The share programme is described in more detail in Note 4. There are no share option schemes.

Veidekke has granted a loan to the President and CEO for the purchase of Veidekke shares amounting to MNOK 2.8 at 31 December 2008. The
loan is currently interest free and is secured by a mortgage in the shares. The interest-rate advantage has been reported to the tax authorities.

Corporate management

In 2008, members of the corporate management team received bonuses in accordance with an established bonus programme, which implies
a bonus payment of up to 30 per cent of annual salary in any one year. The bonuses are calculated on the basis of the company’s profits
measured against budget and goal achievement in relation to a personal action plan set up in consultation with the President and CEO.

The members of the corporate management team have, with one exception, employment contracts stipulating a 6-month notice period. On
termination of employment by the company they are guaranteed a further 12 months’ salary. A deduction will be made from this guaranteed
salary for any salary or other remuneration received from a new employer. The retirement age for members of the corporate management
team is 64. During the period from resignation to the age of 67, a pension will be paid equivalent to 60 per cent of salary on retirement from
the position of executive vice president. Any payments such as contractual early retirement pension, severance pay and collective insurance
will be deducted from the guaranteed salary. 

Per-Ingemar Persson, Managing Director of the Swedish operations, has an individual agreement. On termination of employment by the
company, he will receive resignation compensation for 18 months in addition to the 6-month notice period. Furthermore, he has a pension
agreement which applies from the age of 60.

The corporate management team participates in Veidekke’s share programme for employees and purchased a total of 55,900 shares through
the programme in 2008. The share programme is described in more detail in Note 4. There are no share option schemes.

Veidekke has granted loans to members of the corporate management team for the purchase of Veidekke shares amounting to MNOK 13.8 at
31 December 2008. A list of loans to members of the corporate management team is shown above.

The loans are currently interest free and they are secured by mortgages in the shares. 

Remuneration to Board members

Board member fee Total compensation

Göte Dahlin (chairman) 0.43 0.43 
Kari Gjesteby 0.22 0.22 
Jette Knudsen 0.22 0.22 
Peder Chr. Løvenskiold 0.26 0.26 
Martin Mæland (vice-chairman) 0.26 0.26 
Hilde M. Aasheim 0.22 0.22 
Inge Ramsdal* - -
Eiliv Staalesen* - -
Steinar Krogstad (elected by the employees) 0.18 0.18
Nils Solevåg (elected by the employees)** 0.18 0.18 
Birte Almeland (elected by the employees)** 0.18 0.18
Total compensation to Board members 2.15 2.15 

* New Board member elected by the employees, joined the Board after the Annual General Meeting 7 May 2008.
** Board member elected by the employees, until the Annual General Meeting 7 May 2008.

Veidekke has established auditing, compensation and property committees. Compensation for participation in the committees is included in
the Board members’ fees.
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Note 32  Lease commitments

Agreements where Veidekke is the lessee

Veidekke has interminable leases for the renting/hiring of property, sites, operating equipment, etc. Costs fall due on these leases
as set out in the table below:

Rent Non-current assets                  Other commitments

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Costs this year (2008)  62.5 56.9 55.6 31.6 20.8 19.3 0.9 10.1 10.4
Costs next year (2009) 50.5 46.4 37.2 21.4 20.3 19.4 0.2 10.1 10.7
Total costs next 2-5 years  
(2010-2013) 108.3 126.9 114.7 42.0 45.7 25.7 - 32.2 33.6
Total costs after 5 years (2014-) 36.5 43.2 56.7 0.5 0.5 0.4 - 23.8 28.9

Agreements where Veidekke is the lessor

Veidekke has leases for the letting/hiring out of property, sites, operating equipment, etc. Income is due from these leases as set
out in the table below.

Rent

2008 2007 2006

Income this year (2008) 22.4 16.0 9.5
Income next year (2009) 15.9 19.8 8.8
Total income next 2-5 years 
(2010-2013) 87.8 63.2 29.5
Total income after 5 years (2014-) 70.6 29.4 1.2

Note 33  Uncertainties

Veidekke is, from time to time, involved in disputes regarding projects, and a number of cases are settled by arbitration or in court.
This applies both to Veidekke’s claims on customers (additional claims) and to claims on Veidekke (repair of defects, compensation,
etc.). Thorough assessments have been made to ensure that reporting in the accounts is as correct as possible. Reference is made
to the Group’s accounting policies. Additional claims and disputed amounts are normally not taken to income until agreement has
been reached or a legally binding court ruling has been given. In the case of relatively certain claims, a prudent part of the claim is
taken to income. In the case of guarantee work, provision is made for confirmed and probable non-conformity. The anticipated final
profit from the projects is updated continuously.

As of 31 December 2008, Veidekke was not involved in any major disputes that may have a significant effect on future profits. 
There have been no events of significance for the Group’s financial situation since the balance sheet date.

Remuneration to the auditors (excluding VAT)

2008 2007

Statutory audit including audit-related assistance 11.0 10.0
Tax-related assistance 0.5 1.2
Other services in addition to auditing 0.3 1.8
Total remuneration to the auditors 11.8 13.0
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Note 34  Transactions with related parties

OBOS (27.6 per cent ownership share of Veidekke) and Veidekke have since 2002 been joint owners of a property development
project at Skøyen in Oslo. This is managed through Sjølyststranda Eiendom AS which is owned on a 50-50 basis by the participants.
Sjølyststranda Eiendom AS purchased the property from Norway Trade Fairs in 2002, and development started in 2003. The project
was completed in 2008, and a total of 570 dwellings have been built for sale for the owners’ own account. The total turnover of Sjø-
lyststranda Eiendom AS in 2008 was MNOK 56.3 (MNOK 113.7). As of December 2008, Veidekke Entreprenør AS had receivables
from the company amounting to MNOK 0.7 (MNOK 13.5), and Sjølyststranda Eiendom had a receivable from Veidekke Eiendom AS
of MNOK 35.2 (MNOK 0).

Together with OBOS, Veidekke Eiendom AS has purchased the shares in Lørenvangen Utvikling AS in Oslo (50/50). The objective of
the purchase is to jointly develop a property for housing purposes at Løren. Veidekke Eiendom AS has given the company a sub-
ordinated loan of MNOK 105.3.

Veidekke Bostad AB and Patentbygg Sverige AB (a company in the OBOS Group) have established the company BoVidSundet AB.
Each of the parties holds 50 per cent of the shares in this company, which is engaged in property development in southern
Sweden. As of December 2008, BoVidSundet had a project consisting of 54 flats under production and three projects with a total of
77 flats under planning for sale and start-up in the course of 2009 and 2010. Total invoicing to the company in 2008 was MNOK 11.4,
and as of December, the receivables from the company amounted to MNOK 1.5.

In 2008, Veidekke Entreprenad AB carried out a building contract for Open House Production AB, a subsidiary of OBOS. The
contract was entered into on competitive terms. The total turnover for 2008 was MNOK 35.9 (MNOK 59.5). As of December 2008,
the receivables from the company amounted to MNOK 1.3 (MNOK 12.9).

Veidekke Entreprenør AS has in 2008 carried out a project at Lahaugmoen in the county of Akershus for the companies Felt W2 AS,
Lahaugmoen AS and Lahaugmoen Infrastruktur AS, in which Veidekke ASA Board member, Peder Chr. Løvenskiold, is a Board
member. The contracts were won on competitive terms, and the turnover for 2008 totalled MNOK 67.3. As of December, the
receivables from the companies amounted to MNOK 24.7. 

Through its subsidiary Br. Reme AS, Veidekke carried out building work in 2008 for companies owned by Br. Reme AS’s minority
shareholders. The Reme AS contracts were entered into on competitive terms. The total turnover for 2008 was MNOK 96.1 (MNOK
230.5). At 31 December 2008, the receivables from the companies amounted to MNOK 24.5 (MNOK 45.0).

Veidekke Entreprenør AS has in 2008 carried out an assignment for President and CEO Terje R. Venold. The assignment was based
on market conditions, and amounted to NOK 90,000.

In addition to the above-mentioned contracts, Veidekke has a few minor lease agreements and contracts with closely related
persons and companies of little significance. 

Reference is made to Note 31 for details on compensation to senior executives.

Transactions with associated companies and joint ventures

2008 2007

Turnover

Construction operations 417.5 253.9
Industry operations 46.3 88.0
Other operations 2.9 4.6
Total 466.7 346.5

Balance sheet as at 31 December

Receivables 1 030.4 179.6
Liabilities 679.9 47.1
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Note 35  Group structure

Veidekke ASA has the following significant subsidiaries:

Company Location Ownership share

Veidekke Entreprenør AS Oslo 100%
Hoffmann A/S Copenhagen 100%
Kolo Veidekke AS Oslo 100%
Veidekke Sverige AB Lund 100%
Veidekke Eiendom AS Oslo 100%

The above table shows only the subsidiaries that are directly owned by Veidekke ASA. All in all, the Group consists of 
approx. 75 operational subsidiaries directly and indirectly owned by Veidekke ASA. 
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profit and loss account Veidekke ASA.

(Figures in MNOK) Note 2008 2007 2006

Operating revenues 90.9 81.6 76.7 

Wages 1 -55.9 -56.8 -56.2 
Other operating expenses 3 -73.3 -59.9 -63.5 
Depreciation 4 -2.0 -1.8 -2.1 

Total operating expenses -131.2 -118.5 -121.8 

Operating profit -40.3 -36.9 -45.1 

Dividends and Group contributions from subsidiaries 2 892.7 776.9 739.0 
Other financial income 2 74.6 22.0 81.6
Write-down of shares subsidiaries 5 -54.5 - - 
Financial expenses 2 -61.3 -43.3 -59.0 

Earnings before tax 811.1 718.7 716.5 

Income tax expense 10 -156.7 0.8 3.0 

Profit for the year 654.4 719.5 719.5 

Application of profit

Dividends 9 334.3 556.1 366.4 
Other equity 9 320.1 163.4 353.1 

Total 654.4 719.5 719.5 
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balance sheet Veidekke ASA.

(Figures in MNOK) Note 2008 2007 2006

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property 4 27.3 24.0 19.7 
Machinery etc. 4 0.7 0.2 0.9 
Shares in subsidiaries 5 1 315.2 1 282.0 1 189.4 
Shares in associated companies and joint ventures 6 66.2 13.4 13.4 
Long-term receivables, Group companies etc.  7 61.2 136.4 183.9 
Other long-term receivables 8 276.8 270.8 202.5 
Total non-current assets 1 747.4 1 726.8 1 609.8 

Current assets

Accounts receivable 0.4 1.2 2.5 
Short-term receivables, Group companies 896.4 884.4 633.5 
Other receivables 36.1 63.3 52.1 
Liquid assets - - - 
Total current assets 932.9 948.9 688.1 

Total assets 2 680.3 2 675.7 2 297.9 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 68.0 70.1 71.5 
Own shares -1.1 -0.6 -1.1 
Share premium reserve - - 304.8 
Other equity 1 092.1 991.5 591.4 
Total equity 9 1 159.0 1 061.0 966.6 

Long-term liabilities

Pension liability 11 21.4 21.6 16.9 
Deferred tax 10 2.3 3.7 7.7 
Debt to credit institutions etc. 12 954.1 939.4 824.3 
Total long-term liabilities 977.8 964.7 848.9 

Short-term liabilities

Creditors 36.6 32.2 33.4 
Unpaid government charges 1.9 5.7 6.9 
Payable tax  154.8 3.5 - 
Provision for dividends 9 334.3 556.1 366.4 
Short-term liabilities. Group companies 12.2 50.6 49.8 
Other short-term liabilities 3.7 1.9 25.9 
Total short-term liabilities 543.5 650.0 1 306.7 

Total equity and liabilities 2 680.3 2 675.7 2 297.9 

at 31 December
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cash flow statement Veidekke ASA.

(Figures in MNOK) 2008 2007 2006

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Earnings before tax less dividends and Group contributions -24.7 -58.2 -22.5
Dividends and Group contributions from subsidiaries 835.8 738.6 247.2
Tax paid -4.4 0.3 -3.3
Depreciation 2.0 1.8 2.1
Write-down of shares in subsidiaries 54.5 - -
Gains on sale of non-current assets -38.2 - -
Pensions, difference cost/paid -0.2 4.7 0.1
Generated from this year’s activities 824.8 687.2 223.6

Change in other current assets 16.0 -261.5 -375.4
Change in other accrued accounting items -36.0 11.4 525.8
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 804.8 437.1 374.0

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Purchase of tangible non-current assets -5.8 -5.4 -0.7
Sales of companies 56.3 - -
Fully paid equity in subsidiaries -85.5 -92.6 -64.6
Other investments -6.3 -20.9 -98.4
Net cash flow from investment activities (B -41.3 -118.9 -163.7

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New long-term borrowing 14.7 115.1 198.4
Share issue - - 0.2
Dividend paid -543.8 -364.3 -286.1
Share-based transactions entered against equity - 22.2 -26.5
Buy-back own shares -234.4 -91.2 -96.3
Net cash flow from financing activities (C) -763.5 -318.2 -210.3

TOTAL NET CHANGE IN LIQUID ASSETS (A+B+C) - - -

Liquid assets at 1 January - - -
Liquid assets at 31 December - - -

Supplementary information

Long-term borrowing facilities DnB NOR 2 100 2 100 2 100
Used committed borrowing facilities at 31 December 954.1 939.4 824.3
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notes Veidekke ASA.

Figures in MNOK

Accounting policies

The parent company, Veidekke ASA, is a holding company with no operations of its own. Its activities consist of investments in sub-
sidiaries and associated companies, and its income consists of dividends and Group contributions from these companies. In
addition, Veidekke ASA invoices its subsidiaries for services rendered. Veidekke ASA prepares its financial statements in accordance
with Norwegian accounting standards.

Investments in subsidiaries are reported using the cost method of accounting. This means that investments are assessed at cost
price, while only distributions from the companies are recognised in the profit and loss account. In the event of a decrease in value,
the necessary write-downs of investments are effected. The parent company applies the same accounting policies as the Group,
except for the point in time when dividends and Group contributions, and financial instruments (interest swaps), are recognised in
the accounts.

Group contributions are taken to income in the same year as they are paid by the subsidiary. Dividends from subsidiaries are taken
to income in the same year as they are set aside by the subsidiary (the year before distribution). The dividend proposed by Veidekke
ASA was entered in the accounts as a liability at 31 December 2008.

Interest swaps are not reported by Veidekke ASA at fair value as they are in the consolidated accounts. Reference is made to Note
30 to the consolidated accounts, under Interest-rate risk.

Note 1  Wage expenses

2008 2007 2006

Wages 42.1 40.6 35.5 
Pension costs 5.5 6.8 8.6 
Social security 6.0 6.6 6.0 
Other wage expenses (social benefits etc.) 2.3 2.8 6.1 
Total 55.9 56.8 56.2 

Average number of employees 39 44 45
Number of employees at 31 December 38 42 47

Note 2  Financial income/financial expenses

2008 2007 2006

Interest income 29.0 15.8 33.3
Currency gains 7.5 6.2 6.0
Dividends and group contributions from subsidiaries 892.7 776.9 739.0
Gain on sales of shares* 38.2 - 42.3
Financial income 967.3 798.9 820.6

Interest charges -54.5 -39.5 -55.2
Currency charges -6.6 -3.6 -2.7
Other financial expenses -0.2 -0.2 -1.1
Financial expenses -61.3 -43.3 -59.0

Financial income/expenses 906.0 755.6 761.6

* Gains on sales of shares in 2008 refer to sales of shares in NSS Group OY.

Note 3  Remuneration to the auditors

In 2008, remuneration to the auditors was MNOK 0.8 for auditing, MNOK 0.2 for audit-related assistance and MNOK 0.1 for 
tax-related assistance.
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Note 4 Property, machinery etc.

Property Machinery Total

At 1 January 

Original cost  63.6 28.9 92.5 
Accumulated depreciation  -39.7 -28.7 -68.4 
Book value at 1 January  24.0 0.2 24.2 

Accounting year 

Book value at 1 January 24.0 0.2 24.2 
Additions 4.8 0.9 5.7 
Disposals book value - - - 
Depreciation for the year -1.6 -0.4 -2.0 
Book value at 31 December  27.3 0.7 28.0 

At 31 December  

Original cost  68.5 9.8 78.3 
Accumulated depreciation  -41.3 -9.1 -50.4 
Book value at 31 December  27.3 0.7 28.0 

Depreciation method Straight-line Straight-line
Depreciation rate 2-5% 10-25%

Note 5  Shares in subsidiaries

Company Location Ownership share Book value*

Veidekke Entreprenør AS Oslo 100% 549.8 
Hoffmann A/S Copenhagen 100% 311.1 
Kolo Veidekke AS Oslo 100% 207.1 
Veidekke Sverige AB Lund 100% 194.5 
Veidekke Eiendom AS Oslo 100% 27.8 
AS Noremco Construction Oslo 100% 14.8 
Other companies 10.1 
Total 1 369.7 

* Book value in Veidekke ASA’s accounts at 31 December 2008 (cost method).

Book value of the shares in Hoffmann A/S has been written down by 54.5 MNOK in the 2008 accounts.

Note 6  Shares in associated companies and joint ventures

Company Location Ownership share Book value*

Allfarveg AS Oslo 50% 66.2 
Total 66.2 

* Book value in Veidekke ASA’s accounts at 31 December 2008 (cost method).
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Note 7  Long-term receivables, Group companies

Veidekke ASA has given the wholly owned Group company Noremco AB a long-term loan of MNOK 61.2 (MEUR 6.2), as of 
31 December 2008. Interest is payable on the loan.

Note 8  Long-term receivables

2008 2007 2006

Loans to employees 267.9 267.5 198.6
Other receivables 8.9 3.3 3.9
Total 276.8 270.8 202.5

Note 9  Reconciliation of equity

2008 2007 2006

Equity at 1 January 1 061.0 966.6 736.1 
Share issue - - 0.2 
Profit for the year 654.4 719.5 719.5 
Provision for dividends -334.3 -556.1 -366.4 
Purchases own shares* -234.4 -91.2 -96.3 
Share-based payment - IFRS 2 - 20.2 -26.5 
Dividend own shares 12.3 2.0 - 
Equity at 31 December 1 159.0 1 061.0 966.6 

* Purchase of own shares which have been sold to employees. 

Nom. value Other fully  Other Total

Share capital own shares paid shares equity equity

Equity at 31 December 2007 70.1 -0.6 304.2 687.2 1 061.0 

Equity at 1 January 2008 70.1 -0.6 304.2 687.2 1 061.0 
Share buy-backs before 7 May 2008 -1.5 -148.6 -150.1
Dividends on own shares purchased  
1 January - 7 May 2008 12.3 12.3
Cancellation of shares by
by Annual General Meeting, 7 May 2008 -2.1 2.1 - -
Share buy-backs after 7 May 2008 -1.1 -83.1 -84.2
Profit for the year 654.4 654.4
Provision for dividends -334.3 -334.3
Equity at 31 December 2008 68.0 -1.1 304.2 787.9 1 159.0 

Own shares (Veidekke ASA)

Veidekke had a share buy-back programme in 2008. Reference is made to Note 20 to the consolidated accounts.
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Note 10  Income tax expense and deferred tax

Income tax expense 2008 2007 2006

Payable tax -158.1 -3.2 1.2
Change in deferred tax 1.4 4.0 1.8
Total income tax expense -156.7 0.8 3.0 

Deviation in income tax expense

28% of earnings before tax 227.1 201.2 200.6
Actual income tax expense -156.7 0.8 3.0
Deviation 70.4 202.0 203.6

Deviation in income tax expense

Non-deductible expenses -2.6 -0.6 -1.4
Tax-free dividends* 77.8 200.7 193.2
Tax-free gains on shares*  10.7 - 11.8
Write-down of shares -15.3 - -
Correction previous years -0.2 -1.1 -
Other items - 3.0 -
Total 70.4 202.0 203.6

* In 2008, tax was imposed on dividends and gains on shares, at a rate of 0.84 per cent. However, the text "Tax-free dividends" and 
“Tax-free gains” are still used for presentation purposes.

Deferred tax 2008 2007 2006

Timing differences

Short-term items -5.0 -3.0 -4.7
Gain and loss account 36.4 45.5 56.8
Other long-term items -28.7 -29.1 -24.6
Basis for deferred tax 2.7 13.4 27.5

Deferred tax (28%) 0.8 3.7 7.7

Deferred tax on provision for dividends 1.5 - - 
Book deferred tax 2.3 3.7 7.7

Note 11  Pensions

The company is bound by provisions in the Act relating to Compulsory Occupational Pensions to have a company pension scheme.
The company’s pension schemes comply with these statutory requirements. Reference is made to Note 21 to the consolidated
accounts.

notes to accounts Veidekke ASA
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Note 12  Long-term liabilities

The Group has long-term committed borrowing facilities in DnB NOR of MNOK 2,100. These expire in November 2010, but may be
extended until November 2012. 

Book long-term liabilities consist only of withdrawals from the Group account. Further details are given in Note 23, 29 and 30 to the
consolidated accounts.

Note 13  Other notes

The following requirements are covered in Notes to the consolidated accounts: 
• Note 20: Number of shares, shareholders etc.
• Note 29: Financial risk 
• Note 30: Financial instruments
• Note 31: Compensation to senior executives

Oslo, 2 April 2009
VEIDEKKE ASA

Board of Directors

Steinar Krogstad

Martin Mæland Hilde Merete Aasheim

Göte Dahlin
Chairman of the Board

Kari Gjesteby Jette Wigand Knudsen

Eiliv Staalesen

Peder Chr. Løvenskiold

Inge Ramsdal

Terje R. Venold
President and CEO
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Oslo, 2 April 2009
VEIDEKKE ASA

Board of Directors

Steinar Krogstad

Martin Mæland Hilde Merete Aasheim

Göte Dahlin
Chairman of the Board

Kari Gjesteby Jette Wigand Knudsen

Eiliv Staalesen

Peder Chr. Løvenskiold

Inge Ramsdal

Terje R. Venold
President and CEO

Declaration in accordance with § 5-5 of the Securities Trading Act

We hereby confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Group and company financial statements for
2008 have been prepared in compliance with current accounting standards, and that the information in the accounts
gives a true and fair view of the Group and company assets, liabilities and financial position, as well as the results of
their operations in their entirety.

The Board of Directors’ Annual Report gives a true and fair view of the Group and company development, result and
position, as well as of the main risk and uncertainty factors the Group is faced with.
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corporate

governance.
Veidekke bases its reporting on the 

Norwegian Standard for Corporate 

Governance dated 4 December 2007.

+Veidekke ASA is a public limited com-
pany. Its registered office is in Oslo
and the Group has operations in Nor-
way, Denmark and Sweden. Its opera-
tions are managed by Veidekke
Entreprenør (construction), 
Veidekke Eiendom (property) and 
Veidekke Industri (industry), all in 
Norway, and Veidekke Sverige in 
Sweden and Hoffman in Denmark. 
Each division consists of regions, 
districts and departments. Veidekke
also has construction operations in
Africa through its subsidiary Noremco
Construction in Tanzania.

Veidekke’s operations in Norway, Den-
mark and Sweden include building and
construction projects, renovation, spe-
cialised heavy construction contracts
and development of residential and
non-residential properties for private
and public customers. In Norway, 
Veidekke is also engaged in asphalt
operations, production of crushed
stone and gravel, road maintenance,
demolition/plant contracting and 
recycling of industrial waste.

Veidekke aims to be professional, 
honest, enthusiastic and ground-
breaking. These are the company’s
core values which shall be characteris-
tic of all employees at Veidekke, and
be reflected in our behaviour in all 
relationships.

The Group has a decentralised respon-
sibility and authority structure, which
implies a high degree of responsibility

and authority for individual heads of
entities. This ensures closer proximity
to customers and suppliers, which 
has proved to be an advantage for 
Veidekke.

Veidekke’s Articles of Association can
be found on page 86.

Corporate management
The corporate management team con-
sists of the President and CEO, the
heads of the three business areas and
the heads of the central staff functions 
(finance/legal/corporate accounts/
strategy/IT, HR/HSE and communica-
tion). 

Capital, yield and dividend
At 31 December 2008, Veidekke had
an equity ratio of 23.6 per cent. This is
well within an acceptable range with
regard to capital strength, optimised
risk-adjusted yield and future invest-
ment requirements. In the event of
any capital increases, plans for the em-
ployment of the capital are put before
the company’s Annual General 
Meeting.

The company’s growth will primarily
be based on organic growth, but the
company is well positioned financially
if presented with good acquisition 
opportunities.

It is Veidekke’s aim to achieve a return
on equity capital of more than 20 per
cent over an economic cycle. In 2008,
return on equity was 28 per cent. 
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Veidekke is working on a number of
measures to ensure profitability
through greater competitive strength.
These include risk control and capital
rationalisation. 

Veidekke’s target is to distribute at
least 50 per cent of the profit for the
year to the shareholders in the form 
of dividends. A dividend of NOK 2.50
per share (56 per cent) is proposed for
the financial year 2008.

The Board of Directors has been 
authorised by the Annual General
Meeting to buy back Veidekke shares.
The reason for this authorisation is to
ensure the highest possible return for
the shareholders over time and, if the
share price appears favourable, pur-
chases of own shares will be a good
supplement to dividends. Share buy
back may also be relevant if the equity
and liquidity situation is good and
other attractive investment opportuni-
ties are limited at that time. It is the
company’s intention to cancel these
shares at the next Annual General
Meeting. Authorisation to repurchase
Veidekke shares is subject to the 
approval of the Annual General 
Meeting, and is valid until the next 
Annual General Meeting or until 31
May at the latest.

Employee ownership
Veidekke differs from other listed com-
panies in its high number of employee
owners. Veidekke regards the involve-
ment of its employees as share-
holders as an important and positive
element in the development of the
company. The company's aim is for at
least half of its employees to hold
shares in the company, totalling close
on 15 per cent of the shares. It wishes
each of its senior executives (about
500 persons) to hold a significant
number of shares in the company.

Veidekke works continuously to main-
tain the level of employee ownership,
and it endeavours each year to give all
employees the opportunity to pur-
chase shares in the company at a dis-
count on the market price. Veidekke
offers financial assistance to purchase
shares in the company. A lock-in 
period of two to three years applies to
these share purchases. A total of
2,898 employees held 18.0 per cent of
the shares in the company at the end
of 2008.

Equal treatment of shareholders
It is the company’s policy to treat all
shareholders equally.

Veidekke’s main shareholder is OBOS
Forretningsbygg AS, with an owner-
ship share of 27.6 per cent. There are
rules regarding competence which en-
sure that resolutions do not favour the
main shareholder in any contexts.
OBOS is a major property developer
and in recent years, Veidekke and
OBOS have worked together on the
development of a number of property
projects. In order to ensure that all
conditions and agreements are hand -
led on commercial terms, it has been
the practice of the two parties, 
Veidekke and OBOS, to set up a 
company of which they own 50 per
cent each. Development and sales are
carried out by this company. This also
helps ensure that the main share-
holder does not gain an unfair advan-
tage at the expense of other share- 
holders.

If significant transactions are carried
out with major shareholders over and
above ordinary commercial contracts,
independent consultants are engaged
to ensure a correct valuation.

The company has strict insider rules
and trading restrictions. For further 
information about insider rules for 
employees, see “Shareholder Informa-
tion”, page 85. 

Existing shareholders have pre-
emptive rights in the event of capital
increases. 

Share negotiability and liquidity 
Veidekke has one class of shares, and
there are no marketing restrictions for
trading. In 2008, 71.2 million shares
were traded on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange, and the turnover ratio was
50.8 per cent. The company works
continuously to maintain satisfactory
liquidity in Veidekke shares. This is
done primarily through ongoing, satis-
factory communication with investors
and the market. For further informa-
tion, see “Shareholder Information”,
pages 82 to 85.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is held in
April/May. Notice and documents are
sent out no later than two weeks in
advance and are published on the

company’s web site not later than
three weeks before the Annual 
General Meeting is held. The Board of
Directors, management and auditors
attend the meeting. 

Shareholders who are not able to 
attend in person may vote by proxy.
Proxy forms are distributed with the
notice of the meeting.

It is usually the Chairman of the Board
who opens the Annual General 
Meeting and asks the meeting to 
propose someone to chair the meet-
ing. If no proposals are made, it is 
normal practice for the chairman of 
the board to propose that he himself
chairs the meeting.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee submits
recommendations to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting on the election of mem-
bers for the Board of Directors and for
the Nomination Committee. 

The Nomination Committee shall have
at least three members. Nominated
candidates should be shareholders or
representatives of shareholders. The
majority of the new Nomination Com-
mittee must be independent of the
Board of Directors and the company’s
management. The Company’s chief 
executive officer or other senior 
executives may not be members of
the Nomination Committee. 

The Annual General Meeting elects
the Nomination Committee’s leader
and other members. Since it is the 
responsibility of the Nomination 
Committee to propose candidates 
for the Board of Directors, there is 
no deadline for the submission of 
such pro-posals to the Nomination
Committee.

In 2008, the members of the Nomina-
tion Committee were Helge B. 
Andresen (leader), Jan-Tore Berg-
Knutsen, Erik Must and Olaug Svarva. 

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is Veidekke’s
highest administrative body and is 
directly responsible to the Annual 
General Meeting. Six members are
elected by the shareholders, and three
are elected by and from among the
employees. Board members are
elected for one year at a time. 
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In 2003, Veidekke reached an agree-
ment with its employees that the
company would not have a corporate
assembly. In return, the employees’
representation on the Board of Direc-
tors was increased. Since the Group
does not have a corporate assembly,
the Board elects its own chairman as
laid down in the Public Companies
Act. The Board also elects its own
vice-chairman.

In determining the composition of the
Board, importance is attached to safe-
guarding the joint interests of the
shareholders and the skills, capacity
and diversity of the company. Veidekke
seeks to have at least one Norwegian,
one Danish and one Swedish Board
member. The composition of the
Board of Directors of Veidekke ASA
complies with the provisions of the
Public Companies Act, regarding the
percentage of women in listed compa-
nies.

The composition of the Board of Direc-
tors ensures that it is able to act inde-
pendently of the shareholders’
interests. The Board’s rules of proce-
dure also contain instructions for deal-
ing with issues in which a Board
member has a personal interest. The
rules in the Articles of Association gov-
erning the election of the nomination
committee help to ensure the Board
of Directors’ independence. 

All Board members who are elected
by the shareholders are independent
of the company’s management.
For further information about existing
authorisations, see “Shareholder Infor-
mation”, page 83. 

The work of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors sets objectives,
lays down strategy and budgets, and
makes an active contribution in the
form of expertise and experience. In
accordance with adopted plans, the
Board carries out an annual review of
the company’s business areas, and 
follows a systematic year plan for 
matters to be discussed at Board
meetings. 

Nine Board meetings are held each
year. One of the meetings is held in 
either Sweden or Denmark, and two
meetings are combined with a visit to
a district or branch office and one of its
projects in Scandinavia.

The work of the Board is laid down in
its rules of procedure. It carries out 
annual evaluations of its own work and
competence. 

Board of Directors’ Audit 
Committee
The task of the Audit Committee is to
develop cooperation between the
Board and the management, and 
between the Board and the external
auditors. It is composed of three
Board members elected by the share-
holders, and its work is governed by
terms of reference and instructions 
approved by the Board. The Commit-
tee shall, on behalf of the Board, make
itself familiar with and build up insight
into and knowledge of accounting and
financial matters as well as supervi-
sion and risk management. The 
Committee reports to the Board of 
Directors.

The members of the Audit Committee
are Kari Gjesteby (leader), Hilde M.
Aasheim and Peder Chr. Løvenskiold. 

Board of Directors’ Compensation
Committee
The Compensation Committee is com-
posed of three Board members
elected by the shareholders, and its
work is governed by terms of refer-
ence and instructions approved by the
Board. The Committee submits pro-
posals to the Board on salary and
compensation schemes for the Presi-
dent and CEO. The Committee also
gives advice to the President and CEO
on salary and compensation schemes
for the management. The Committee
reports to the Board of Directors. 

The members of the Compensation
Committee are Göte Dahlin (leader),
Martin Mæland and Jette Wigand
Knudsen. 

Board of Directors’ Property 
Committee
The Property Committee was estab-
lished in 2007. It is the task of the
Committee to review all investment
decisions above a certain level, in
order to ensure good internal control
as regards the start-up of any new
projects for Veidekke’s own account. 

The members of the Property Com-
mittee are Peder Chr. Løvenskiold
(leader), Göte Dahlin and Martin 
Mæland.

Risk management
The ability to plan, structure, imple-
ment and evaluate construction
processes is one of Veidekke’s core
competencies. Efficient governance is
a primary critical factor of success for
the company and an integrated part of
its business management. The com-
pany has, at all times, a large number
of ongoing projects in its three busi-
ness areas (construction, property and
industry), and therefore requires sys-
tematic reporting from each project to
each division, and from there to the
corporate management and Board of
Directors. Reports are submitted ten
times a year and cover both financial
and non-financial parameters. For
every project, the focus is on profit-
ability, risk, injuries, absence and 
environment.

Internal control
Veidekke’s management monitors the
overall portfolio of projects to ensure
an acceptable level of risk exposure
and a sound basis for profitability. The
management systems for the different
entities provide clear guidelines for
how projects are to be carried out with
reference to quality, progress, cost-
effectiveness, health, safety and envi-
ronment. These tools play an impor-
tant part in ensuring quality in
orders-on-hand and a uniformly high
standard in the execution of projects.
Status and profitability of orders-on-
hand is a fixed item on the agenda for
the divisional managements, corpo-
rate management and the Board of 
Directors.

Risk exposure in the Property Division,
through unsold units under production
and any completed units, is measured
continuously. The start-up of new 
property development projects will be
postponed if the risk for Veidekke’s
own account is deemed to be too
high. With a view to ensuring good in-
ternal control, the Board of Directors
established a Property Committee in
2007. 

Veidekke’s financial policy provides
guidelines for the different entities’ 
financial management and activities.
The object of the guidelines is to
avoid, limit, control and measure finan-
cial risk, promote capital rationalisation
and optimise the Group’s financial 
resources.

corporate governance.
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Planning
Veidekke’s planning wheel forms the
core of the company’s economic, 
financial and strategic planning. It de-
fines a fixed agenda throughout the
year for the preparation of framework
documents, strategic plans, budgets
and ongoing supervision of the divi-
sions. 

Financial management and control
The Group is governed by clear finan-
cial objectives, linked with operating
margins, capital yield and capital 
structure. These objectives are broken
down and operationalised to the differ-
ent companies, divisions and projects.
The projects have clear requirements
regarding profitability and cash flow. In
construction operations, requirements
are set for the projects’ operating 
margins, including financial items.
Property and Industry are capital-
intensive areas, and these projects are
also measured by return on employed 
capital.

Ethical guidelines
With reference to the company’s core
values – professional, honest, enthusi-
astic and ground-breaking – Veidekke
has, in collaboration with the Confeder-
ation of Norwegian Business and In-
dustry, drawn up ethical guidelines in
which the basic principle is employee
freedom with responsibility. The imple-
mentation of these guidelines relies to
a great extent on the active participa-
tion of the employee in the process,
the discussions and involvement
around the ethical issues that the
company’s activities raise. The com-
pany’s ethical guidelines are access-
ible on Veidekke’s intranet and web
site.

In 2008, efforts have been made to
complete a web-based program for
dilemma training, which enables 
individual employees or groups to
practice on problems that are relevant
to the company. In the course of 2009,
the Internet portal 
Veidekkehuset.no/se/dk will be 
launched in all divisions.

Reporting irregular activities
In-house rules have been drawn up for
reporting irregular activities in the
company, and an external ombudsman
has been appointed. These guidelines
are accessible on Veidekke’s intranet. 

Compliance with competition law
Veidekke has a comprehensive compli-
ance programme which gives relevant
employees an insight into the basic
rules of competition law that apply to
Veidekke’s activities. The purpose of
the programme is to increase under-
standing of and ensure compliance
with relevant laws and regulations. 

This compliance programme is 
accessible on Veidekke’s intranet and
web site.

Remuneration to Board members
Remuneration to Board members is
determined by the Annual General
Meeting based on the recommenda-
tions of the Nomination Committee.
The remuneration reflects the Board’s
responsibility, expertise and time con-
sumption, and is independent of the
company’s financial results. None of
the Board members elected by the
shareholders has special responsibili-
ties over and above what follows from
their office. Reference is made to
Note 31. 

Several of the Board members hold
shares in Veidekke. A list of these
members is given in Note 20.

Remuneration to senior executives
An account is given to the Annual
General Meeting each year, regarding
the company’s guidelines for remuner-
ation to senior executives. 

Salaries for the company’s executives
are based on information obtained
from comparative statistics showing
pay levels for other enterprises in the
industry and other relevant enter-
prises. The company’s strategy is to
offer competitive salaries. However,
the company does not wish to be a
wage leader. A bonus scheme has
been established in which the maxi-
mum payment to each individual is set
at 30 per cent of annual salary, based
on budgets, target achievement and a
pre-determined action plan.

Managers also participate in 
Veidekke’s general share programme
under which employees are invited
each year to purchase Veidekke 
shares at a discount price and with 
financial assistance. See “Shareholder
Information”, page 83.

Veidekke has no share option
schemes. Reference is also made to
Notes 4 and 31. 

Communication with the financial
market
Investor relations have a central place
in Veidekke. The company emphasises
the importance of information based
on quality, openness and punctuality,
thus ensuring that the share price re-
flects the assets of the company. 

The management meets investors and
the market both in Norway and abroad
several times a year, and makes active
use of the feedback from these meet-
ings. See “Shareholder Information”,
page 85.

Corporate takeover
If an offer is received to take over the
company’s shares, the company’s
Board of Directors will not utilise 
authorisations or pass other resolu-
tions that render the offer difficult 
unless this has been approved by the
Annual General Meeting after the offer
is known. 

Work of the auditors
The external auditor attends at least
two annual Board meetings, for ex-
ample meetings dealing with the 
annual accounts and audit summary.
The Board of Directors must be given
an opportunity to ask the auditor ques-
tions without the management being
present. 

The auditor attends all the meetings of
the Audit Committee. A plan for carry-
ing out the audit is presented to the
Audit Committee. At these meetings,
the auditor also presents a report from
the interim audit and a report for the
annual accounts, in which the auditor
gives his/her opinion on the quality of
internal control in all parts of the
Group, and discusses any accounting
problems revealed by the audit. 

Veidekke has guidelines for the scope
and type of additional services pro-
vided by the auditor. The auditor shall
each year give the Board of Directors 
a written confirmation that he/she
meets the stipulated requirements 
regarding independence.

In 2006, Veidekke invited tenders for
the provision of auditing services to
the Group. The conclusion was that
Ernst & Young were reengaged. 

For details of the scope of services
provided, reference is made to 
Note 31.
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shareholder

information.
+ We will create value for shareholders through good 

profitability in all parts of the Group

+ Our dividends will be equal to at least 50 per cent of

the profit for the year

+ Veidekke is and will continue to be a financially 

sound company

Shareholder values

There is a long-term correlation 
between return on shares (measured
in rising share prices and dividends)
and the company’s value creation.
Value creation can primarily be seen
in the company’s current financial 
results. The company’s profit margin
has shown a continuously positive
trend in recent years and in 2008, it
was 4.2 per cent. 

Return on investment

It is Veidekke’s aim to give its share-
holders a high and stable return on
their investment in the company.
Since Veidekke was first listed on the

stock exchange in 1986, its share-
holders have had an average annual
return of 14.8 per cent. Prices on the
Oslo Stock Exchange rose by an av-
erage of 7.6 per cent per year during
the same period. The return in 2008
was -52.4 per cent. In comparison,
the return on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange was -54.1 per cent in 
the same period. 

In 2008, 71.2 million Veidekke shares
were traded on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange, with a turnover rate of
50.8 per cent. There were a total of
35,507 trades of Veidekke shares
during the course of the year.

Share distribution at 31 December 2008

Shareholding Number of shareholders Number of shares %

From To 
1 100 692 27 216 0.02 

101 1 000 2 472 1 374 255 1.01 
1 001 10 000 2 578 8 908 274 6.55 

10 001 100 000 732 21 235 022 15.62 
100 001 96 104 414 575 76.80 

Total 6 571 135 959 342 100.00  
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Price of Veidekke shares including dividends

Largest shareholders at 31 December 2008

Name Ownership share % Navn Ownership share % 

Dividend

Veidekke’s dividend policy stipulates
a dividend amounting to at least 50
per cent of the profit for the year
(pay-out ratio). 

For the financial year 2008, the
Board of Directors proposes distrib-
uting a dividend of NOK 2.50 per
share. This indicates a pay-out ratio
of 56 per cent, thereby giving the
shareholders a direct return of 11.2
per cent based on the share price at
the end of the year. The dividend will
be paid on 20 May 2008 to all share-
holders who are registered as 
owners on the date of the Annual
General Meeting, 7 May 2009.

Ownership structure

At the turn of the year, Veidekke had
6,571 shareholders. Veidekke’s
largest owners are OBOS Forret-
ningsbygg (27.6 per cent), IF Skade-
försäkring AB (8.6 per cent) and
Folketrygdfondet (8.1 per cent). A
total of 2,898 employees hold 18.0
per cent of the shares in the com-
pany. During the year, the percent-
age of foreign investors has fallen
from 32.3 per cent to 20.7 per cent.

Veidekke’s share capital at 
31 December 2008 was NOK
67,979,671, divided into 135,959,342
shares of NOK 0.50 each. Veidekke
has always had one share class and
each share carries one vote.

The increase in the share capital
since the company was first listed
on the stock exchange, is shown in
the table on page 84. 

In May 2008, the company offered
shares to key personnel at a dis-
count of 20 per cent (with financial
assistance from Veidekke) and 30
per cent (with cash settlement) on
the market price. Consequently, 393
key employees subscribed for
1,570,000 shares at a price of NOK
35.00 and NOK 30.50, respectively.
In November 2008, shares were of-
fered to all employees at a discount
of 20 per cent on the market price.
This time, a total of 2,118 employees
subscribed for 3,448,265 shares at 
a price of NOK 13.95. A total of 
2,5 million shares were set aside 
for this sale, and it was therefore 
necessary to reduce some individual

orders, making the largest reduct -
ions in the largest orders. Sales of
shares to employees are subject to a
two or three year lock-in period.

Authorisation to issue shares and

purchase of own shares

The Annual General Meeting has 
authorised the Board of Directors to
issue up to 13 million shares. Since
1986, authorisation has been granted
for successive renewal. This authori-
sation has primarily been used in
connection with issues of shares to
employees and in connection with
minor mergers. The Board of Direc-
tors is also authorised to repurchase
the company's own shares for a total
nominal value of up to MNOK 6.5 or
just under 10 per cent of the share
capital. 

In accordance with the above autho-
risation, the Board of Directors has
resolved to buy back up to 3 per cent
of Veidekke’s own shares (4,078,780
shares) in the period between the
Annual General Meetings in 2008
and 2009. During the calendar year
2008, a total of 5,323,813 shares
were repurchased. This corresponds
to 3.9 per cent of the shares in the
company. At the Annual General
Meeting in May 2008, it was 
resolved that 4,204,928 of these

OBOS Forretningsbygg AS 27.6 
IF Skadeförsäkring AB 8.6 
Folketrygdfondet 8.1 
First Securities AS 5.0 
KB Gruppen Kongsvinger AS 4.6 

MP Pensjon 2.3 
Must Invest AS 1.9 
Veidekke ASA 1.7 
DnB NOR Norge (IV) 1.0 
State Street Bank and Trust Co. 1.0 

A list of Veidekke’s 20 largest shareholders is published on Veidekke’s web
site, and updated once a week. Nordea is the company’s account operator.
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shareholder information.

No. of Share
Amount shares capital
paid in after change change Adjustment

Form of issue MNOK (1,000) in MNOK factor

1986 Dispersion issue 25.3 3 053 30.5
1986 Issue employees 3.1 3 113 31.1
1988 Bonus issue 5:1 3 736 37.4 0.833
1989 Merger Hesselberg Vei 4 693 46.9
1989 Dividend shares 0.5 4 746 47.5 0.998
1990 Merger Folke A. Axelson A/S 4 802 48.0
1990 Dividend shares 0.6 4 861 48.6 0.999
1991 Merger Stoltz Røthing Haugesund A/S 4 912 49.1
1991 Merger Aker Entreprenør A/S 5 623 56.2
1995 Issue employees 8.0 5 698 57.0
1998 Share split 1:2 11 396 57.0
2000 Share split 1:2 22 791 57.0
2000 Rights issue 6:1 191.2 26 590 66.5 0.981
2001 Issue employees 19.0 27 039 67.6
2002 Issue employees 11.6 27 309 68.3
2003 Issue employees 13.2 27 609 69.0
2004 Issue employees 66.0 28 609 71.5
2007 Share split 1:5 143 045 71.5
2007 Cancellation of shares 140 164 70.1
2008 Cancellation of shares 135 959 68.0

VEIDEKKE SHARES 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Market price at 31 December 22.3 50.75 47.4 38.5 20.2
- high 53.8 74.40 55.8 38.5 20.2
- low 17.0 41.50 37.4 19.9 11.6
Earnings per share 1) 4.5 7.1 5.0 3.9 1.9
Market price/earnings (P/E) 5.0 7.1 9.6 9.9 10.6
Market price/book value per share P/B) 1.4 3.1 3.8 3.7 2.0
Dividend per share 2.5 4.0 2.6 2.0 1.2
Extraordinary dividend 2.4
Payout ratio (%) 2) 55.6 56.3 52.4 51.3 63.2
Turnover rate (%) 50.8 43.4 49.4 47.0 27.0
Earnings yield (%) 11.2 7.9 5.5 5.2 5.9
Outstanding shares (average ’000) 135.2 140.0 142.9 143.0 138.3
Market price at 31 December (MNOK) 3 032 7 113 6 780 5 507 2 890
Number of shareholders at 31 December 6 571 5 592 4 369 4 037 4 677

1) No dilution effect.
2) Based on ordinary dividend.
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shares should be cancelled. At 31
December 2008, Veidekke owned
2,254,400 of its own shares which
represent 1.7 per cent of all out-
standing shares. 

The share buyback programme is 
expected to have a positive effect on
the company’s earnings per share
and on the return on equity. It is the
intention of the Board of Directors 
to propose to the Annual General 
Meeting that the share capital be 
reduced by cancelling the repur-
chased shares. 

Inside information 

The company’s internal insider trad-
ing rules follow a stricter practice
than is required by the Securities
Trading Act. In addition to the wider
statutory duty to investigate, the
company observes the duty to clear
primary insiders, in order to ensure
more thorough compliance with the
duty to investigate. This is in keeping
with the recommendations of the
Oslo Stock Exchange. Veidekke has
also drawn up internal rules which
have been made known to all em-
ployees in key positions and to 
senior union representatives. These
rules mean, among other things, that
employees must exercise great care
at all times when buying and selling
shares.

Investor relations

Quarterly reports will be issued this
year on the dates given at the begin-
ning of this report. When annual and
interim reports are published, 
Veidekke holds presentations for
shareholders, brokers, analysts, the
press and employees. The company
also maintains regular contact with
investors and analysts.

The largest stock broking houses at
the Oslo Stock Exchange carry out
analyses of Veidekke shares. A list of
the analysts who follow Veidekke
shares can be found on Veidekke’s
web site. 
The company publishes information
in both Norwegian and English, and
qualifies for Oslo Stock Exchange’s
information symbol and English 
symbol.

Up-to-date information about the
company can be found on Veidekke’s
web site. Quarterly reports, analysts’
reports and other important press 
releases and presentations are 
accessible on Veidekke’s web site
and are also published through 
traditional channels. 

The quarterly presentations are avail-
able via Webcast in Norwegian and
English.

For information about Veidekke
shares, go to: www.veidekke.com/ir
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articles of association for Veidekke ASA

effective from 10 September 2008

Article 1 The name of the Company is Veidekke ASA. The Company is a public limited company.

The Company’s object is to engage in contracting activities, and other financial activities, including 
participation in other companies by investing in shares or in other manner.

Article 2 The Company’s registered office is in Oslo.

Article 3 The Company’s share capital is NOK 67,979,671 divided into 135,959,342 shares, each with a nominal 
value of NOK 0.50 fully paid and registered by name. The Company’s shares shall be registered in the 
Norwegian Central Securities Depository.

Article 4 Each share carries one vote at the general meeting of the Company.

Article 5 The Company’s Board of Directors shall have from seven to nine members. A maximum of six members 
and any alternates shall be elected by the Annual General Meeting. A maximum of three members and 
alternates for those members shall be elected by and from among the Company’s employees in 
accordance with regulations issued in pursuance of provisions in the Public Limited Companies Act 
[Norway] relating to employee representation on the board of directors of public limited companies. 
The period of office is one year.

The Board of Directors elects its chairperson.

The age limit for Board members is set at seventy. Any Board member attaining the age of seventy shall 
remain in office until the next Annual General Meeting.

Article 6 The Company shall have a nomination committee. The committee shall have at least three members. 
The Annual General Meeting shall elect the nomination committee’s chairperson and other members and 
determine the remuneration of the committee’s members. The term of office is one year.

The nomination committee shall submit a recommendation to the Annual General Meeting on the 
election of members to the nomination committee. Nominated candidates should be shareholders or 
representatives of shareholders. The proposal for a new nomination committee shall be such that the 
majority of the new nomination committee is independent of the Board of Directors and senior executives
of the Company. The nomination committee may not propose the Company’s chief executive officer or 
other senior executives as members of the nomination committee.

The Board of Directors shall submit a recommendation to the Annual General Meeting on the 
remuneration of the nomination committee’s members.

The nomination committee shall submit a recommendation to the Annual General Meeting on the election
of and fees to be paid to members of the Board of Directors. The nomination committee shall justify its 
recommendations.

Article 7 Two members of the Board jointly or one member of the Board and the President and CEO jointly shall 
have the right to sign on behalf of the Company.

Article 8 The Annual General Meeting is held each year no later than the end of May at a time and place 
determined by the Board of Directors. Notice shall be sent in writing at least two weeks in advance. 
The notice shall be accompanied by the agenda.

Shareholders or proxies for those shareholders who wish to attend and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting must give notification to this effect to the Company before the deadline stated in the notice. 
The deadline must not expire more than five days prior to the Annual General Meeting.

The Annual General Meeting shall:
• Adopt the annual accounts and annual report, including employment of profit or covering of loss, 

and approve the distribution of a dividend
• Elect members of the nomination committee
• Determine the number of Board members, elect the Board members who by law shall not be elected 

by the employees and any alternates for the Board members elected by the shareholders
• Consider the Board of Directors’ statement on remuneration to senior executives
• Deal with other business that is by law to be addressed by the General Meeting.

Article 9 Unless otherwise provided for in these Articles of Association, the provisions in the Public Limited 
Companies Act [Norway] shall apply.
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